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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007

or

0O  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Comumussion file number 1-5424

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

{Exact name of registrant as specified m Its charter)

Delaware 58-0218548
(State or other junsdiction of rncorporation or organization) {IR S Employer ldectificanon “o)

Post Office Box 20706

Atlanta, Georgia 30320-6001
{Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telepheone number, including area code (404) 715-2600
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act

Tritle of each class Name of cach exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0 0001 per share New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 1 2(g) of the Act None
[ndicate by check mark 1f the registrant 1s a well-known seasoned 1ssuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act  Yes No O
Indicate by check mark 1f the registrant 1s not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act Yes O No ©

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed alt reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 during

the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter peried that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2} has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90days Yes No O

Indicate by check mark 1f disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 1s not contained heretn, and will not be contatned, to the best of

registrant’s knowledge, in defimtive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference m Part 1l of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-
K O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a large accelerated filer an accelerated filer, 2 non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporung company See the
defimtions of ‘large accelerated filer," “accelerated filer' and “smaller reporiing company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (Check one)

Large accelerated filer

Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporung company 0
(Do not check 1f a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a shell company (as defined 10 Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) Yes O No &

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affilates of the registrant as of June 30, 2007 was approx:mately $4 7
billion

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Secunitres Exchange Act
of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of secunities under a plan confirmed by a court  Yes No O




On January 31, 2008, there were outstanding 292 217,061 shares of the registrant’s common stock
This document 15 also available on our website at hitp //mvestor delta com/edgar cfm
Documents Incorporated By Reference

Part [11 of this Form 10-K mcorporates by reference certamn mformation from the registrant’s defintuive Proxy Statemnent for 1ts Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be held on June 3, 2008 to be filed with the Secunties and Exchange Commussion
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Forward-Looking Informatton

Statements n this Form 10-K (or otherwise made by us or on our behaif) that are not historical facts, mcluding statements about our estimates, expectations, |
beliefs, mtentions, projections or strateges for the future, may be “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Secunities Lingation Reform Act of 1995
Forward-lookmg statements involve nsks and uncertainties that could cause actual results 1o differ matenally from historical expertence or our present expectations For
examples of such nisks and uncenamnties, please see the cautionary statements contained in ‘Risk Factors Relaung to Delta” and “Risk Factors Relating to the Awrline
Industry” n “Item 1A Rusk Factors” of this Form 10-K  All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made, and we undertake no obligation to pubhcly
update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that may anse afier the date of this report.

Other Information

On September 14, 2005 (the “Petstion Date ), we and substantially all of our subsidianies (collectively, the “Debtors’ ) filed voluntary petittons for reorganization
under Chapter 11 of the U S Bankruptey Code (the “Bankruptcy Code™) i the U S Bankruptcy Court for the Southemn District of New York (the “Bankruptcy Court™)
On Apnl 25, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors’ Jomnt Plan of Reorgamzation (the “Plan of Reerganization™) On Apnil 30, 2007 (the “Effective Date™),
the Debtors emerged from bankruptcy

On the Effective Date, we adopted fresh start reporting 1n accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Statetnent of Fnancial Posttion
90-7, “Fmanctal Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code™ (*“SOP 90-7") The adopuon of fresh start reporting resulted m our becommg a
new entity for financial reporting purposes Accordmgly, the Consohdated Frnancial Statements on or after May 1, 2007 are not comparable to the Consolidated
Financial Statements prior to that date

References mn this Form 10-K 10 “Successor” refer to Delta on or after May 1, 2007, after giving effect to (1} the cancellation of Delta common stock issued prior
to the Effective Date, (2) the issuance of new Delta common stock and certain debt securtties 1n accordance with the Plan of Reorganization, and (3) the application of
fresh start reporting References to “Predecessor” refer to Delta prior to May 1, 2007

For purposes of discussion on our results for the year ended December 31, 2007 n this Form 10-K, we combined the results of operatons for the four months
ended Apnl 30, 2007 of the Predecessor with the eight months ended December 31, 2007 of the Successor

Additronal mformation about our Chapter 11 proceedngs 1s available on the Internet at www delta com/restructure Bankruptey Court filings, claims information
and our Flan of Reorganizatton are available at www deltadocket com These websites are not incorporated mto this Form 10-K

Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Delta,” the “Company, ’ “we,’ “us, ' and “our’ refer to Delta Air Lines, Inc and its subsidianes
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PARTI

ITEM 1 BUSINESS

General Description

We are a major air carnier that provides scheduled air transportation for passengers and cargo throughout the I} § and around the world We offered customers
service to more destinations than any other global arrhine, with Delta and Detta Connection carner service to 321 destunations m 58 countries n January 2008 We have
added more international capacity than any other major U § awrline since January 2006 and are the leader across the Atlantic with flights to 36 trans-Atlantic markets
To Latm Amernica and the Carnibbean, we offered more than 500 weekly fhghts to 63 destinations mn January 2008 We are a founding member of SkyTeam, a global
arrhine alhance that provides customers with extenstve worldwide destinations, flights and services Including our SkyTeam and worldwide codeshare partners, we
offered flights to 485 worldwide destinations in 06 countnies mn January 2008

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, passenger revenue accounted for 88%, 88%, and 89% of cur consohdated operating revenue,
respecuvely, and cargo revenue and other sources accounted for 12%, 12% and 11% of our consclidated operating revenue, respectively in 2007, our operations m
North Amenca, the Atlantic, Latin America and the Pacific accounted for 72%, 20%, 7% and 1% respectively, of our consohdated operatng revenue In 2006, our
operations in North Amenica, the Atlanuc, Latin Amenca and the Pacific accounted for 75%, 18%. 6% and 1%, respectively, of our consolidated operating revenue [In
2005, our operattons i North America, the Atlantic, Latin America and the Pacific accounted for 78%, 16%, 5% and 1%, respectively, of our consolidated operating
revenue

We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware Cur principal executive offices are located at Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Aurport 1in
Atlanta, Georgia (the “Atlanta Asrport™) OQur telephone number 1s (404) 715-2600 and our Internet address 1s www delta com Informatien contamed on this website s
not part of, and 1s not mcorporated by reference in, this Form 10-K

Airline Operations

Our route network 1s centered around the hub system we operate at aurports m Atlanta, Cincinnati, New York-JFK and Salt [ake City Each of these hub
operations includes Delta flights that gather and distnbute traffic from markets o the geographre region surrounding the hub to domestic and international cities and to
other Delta hubs Qur hub system also provides passengers with access to our principal international gateways n Atlanta and New York-JFK

As briefly discussed below other key charactenistics of our route network mclude our alhances with foreign awrlmes, the Delia Connecuon program, the Delia
Shuttle, and our domestic marketing alhances, including with Continental Arrlines, Inc ( Continental’ ) and Northwest Airlines, Inc (“Northwest™)

International Alliances

We have formed bilateral and multilateral marketing alhances with foreign airlines to improve our access to international markets These arrangements can
include codesharing, reciprocal frequent flyer program benefits, shared or reciprocal access to passenger lounges, jont promotions, commeon use of airport gates and
ticket counters, ticket office co-location and other marketing agreements These alliances often present opportumities i other areas, such as airport ground handling
arrangements and awrcraft mamtenance mscurcing

COur international codesharing agreements enable us to market and seli seats to an expanded number of intemnational destinations Under internatienal
codesharing arrangements, we and a foreign carmer each publish our respective airline designator codes on a single flight operation, thereby allowing us and the foreign
carrer to
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offer joint service with one arrcraft, rather than operatng separate services with two arcraft These arrangements typreaily allow us to sell seats on a foreign carmer's
awrcraft that are marketed under our “DL” designator code and permut the forergn arhne to sell seats on our awrcraft that are marketed under the foreign carrier’s two-
letter designator code We have international codeshare arrangements in effect with Aeromexico, A France, Alitalia Awvianca, Chma Arrhnes, China Southern, CSA
Czech Awritnes, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, Korean Air and Royal Air Maroc (and some affiliated camers operatng in conjunction with these arlines)

In October 2007 we entered mto a jomt venture agreement with Atr France to share revenues and costs on transatlantic routes The mital implementation of the
Jomt venture m April 2008 will include flights operated by both carmers between Arr France's Pans-Charles de Gaulle, Pars-Orly and Lyon hubs and our Atlanta,
Cmecinnat, NewYork-JFK and Salt Lake City hubs, as well as all flights between London Heathrow Awrport and the U S By 2010, the jomnt venture 15 scheduled to be
extended to all transatlantic flights operated by Arr France and Delia between North America and Europe and the Mediterranean, as well as all flights between Los
Angeles and Tality

In additton to our agreements with mdividual foreign arhnes, we are 2 member of the SkyTeam mternational airline alliance The other full members of
SkyTeam are Aeroflot, Aeromexico, Awr France, Altalia, Continental, CSA Czech Awrlines, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, Korean Air and Northwest One goal of
SkyTeam s to link the route networks of the member arlmes, providing opportunities for mcreased connecting traffic while offering enhanced customer service
through mutual codesharing arrangements, reciprocal frequent flver and lounge programs and coordinated cargo operations

In 2002, we, Air France, Altalia, CSA Czech Arrlimes and Korean Arr received himited antitrust immunity from the US Department of Transportation (“DOT™)
that enables us and our immuntzed partners to offer a more integrated route network and develop common sales, marketng and discount programs for customers

In June 2007, we, Arwr France, Alitaha, CSA Czech Arrlines, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, and Northwest apphed with the DOT for antitrust :immumity for certam
trans-Atlanuc coerdmation Included 1in the application ts a tentative jomnt venture agreement among us, Awr France, KLM and Northwest that would, 1f implemented,
create a comprehensive and integrated partmership among the four SkyTeam members across the Atlantic A moere integrated SkyTeam alhance would offer sigmificant
advantages to consumers including more choice in flight schedules, travel times, services and fares This application was the first under the tandmark European Unton-
United States Open Skies treaty

Delta Connection Program

The Delta Connection program 1s our regional carrter service, which feeds traffic to our route system through contracis with regional air carners that operate
flights serving passengers primanly m small- and medium-sized cities The program enables us to increase the number of flights we have in certamn locations, to better
match capacity with demand and to preserve our presence i smaller markets

Through the Delta Connection program, we have contractual arrangements with nine regional camers to operale regional jet and, m certain cases, turbo-prop
arrcraft using our “DL” designator code Our wholly-owned subsichary, Comarr, Inc (“Coman™), operates all of its flights under our code Atlantic Southeast Arhines,
Inc , a subsidiary of SkyWest, Inc (“SkyWest™), operates all of sts fights under our code In addition, we have agreements with the followng regronal carriers that
operate some of ther flights using our code SkyWest Airlmes, Inc  a subsidiary of SkyWest, Chautauqua Airlines, Inc , 2 subsidiary of Republic Arways Holdings,
Inc {“Republic Heldmngs™), Shuttle America Corporation, a subsihary of Republic Holdings, Freedom Awrhnes Inc , a subsidiary of Mesa Air Group Inc Pmnacle
Aurlmes, [nc , ExpressJet Airhines, Inc , and Amencan Eagle Airlines, Inc (“Eagle ")
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We generally pay the regronal carriers, mcluding Comarr, amounts defined m their respective contract carmer agreements which are based on a determinatron of
the camers’ respective costs of operatmg ther Delta Connection fhights and other factors mtended to approximate market rates for those services These capacity
purchase agreements are long-tern agreements, usually wath initial terms of at least ten years, which grant us the option to extend the mnitial term and provide us the
right to terminate the entire agreement, or th some cases remove some of the arrcrafl from the scope of the agreement, for convemence at certamn future dates Qur
arrangements with Eagle, which 15 himited to certam fhights operated to and from the Los Angeles International Arport, as well as a portion of the flights operated by
SkyWest Arrhnes and Expresslet, are structured as revenue proration agreements These proration agreements establish a fixed dollzr or percentage division of revenues
for tickets sold to passengers traveling on connecting flight itmeraries

Delta Shurtie

We operate a hugh frequency service targeted to northeast busmness travelers known as the Delta Shuttle The Delta Shuttle provides nonstop, hourly service on
business days between New York—LaGuardia Awrport (“LaGuard1a’ } and both Boston—Logan International Awrport and Washington, D C —Ronald Reagan Natonal
Amrport (“Reagan™)
Domestic Alhances

We have entered into marketng alhances with {1} Continental and Northwest (includmng regional carners affihated with each) and (2) Alaska Arrhnes and
Horizon Arr Industries, both of which include mutual codesharing and reciprocal frequent flyer and awrport lounge access amangements These marketng relationships
are designed to permit the carmers to retamn their separate dentiies and route networks while increasing the number of domestic and mternational connecting passengers
using the carriers’ route networks

Fuel

Our results of operations are significantly impacted by changes tn the pnice and availability of atrcraft fuel The following table shows our aircraft fuel
consumption and costs for 2005 through 2007

Gallons Average
Consymed Prc per e
Year P {Milhions) G;}éon Expenses ™
2007 2,117 $ 4686 s 221 26%
2006 2,111 4,413 210 25%
2005 2492 4,466 179 24%

" Net of fuel hedge gans {losses) under our fuel hedging program of $51 mllon and ($108) million for 2007 and 2006, respecovely We had no fuel hedge contracts 1 2005

@ Excludes the operations under contract camer agreements with unaffiliated regional air camers

Qur awrcraft fuel purchase contracts do not provide matenal protection agamst price increases or assure the availability of our fuel supplies We purchase most of
our arrcraft fuel under contracts that establish the pnce based on vanous market indices We also purchase aircraft fuel on the spot market, from off-shore sources and
under contracts that permit the refiners o set the pnice

We use derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, which are compnsed of crude oil, heating o1l and jet firel swap, collar and call option contracts, to
manage our exposure to changes in awrcraft fuel prices

We are currently able to obtain adequate supples of arrcraft fuel, but st 15 umpossible to predict the future availability or price of awrcrafi fuel Weather-related
events, natural disasters, political disruptions or wars involving oil-producing countries, changes n government policy concerning arcraft fuel production,
transportauon or marketing, changes n awrcraft fuel producuon capacity, environmental concerns, and other unpredictable events may result i fuel supply shortages
and fuel pnice mcreases m the future
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Competttion

We face significant competition wrth respect to routes, services and fares Qur domesuc routes are subject 10 competition from both new and existing carners,
some of which have lower costs than we do and provide service at low fares 1o destinations served by us In particular, we face sigmficant competuon at our hub
arports mn Atlanta and New York-JFK from other carmers In addiion, our operations at our hub amrports also compete with operations at the hubs of other arrlines that
are located m close proxamuty to our hubs We also face mcreasmg competition tn smaller 10 medum-si1zed markets from rapidly expanding regional jet operators Qur
abilhity to compete effectively depends, in sigmficant part, on our abihty to mamntamn a cost structure that 15 competitive with other carmers

In additton, we compete with foreign carners, both on intertor U S routes, due to marketing and codeshanng arrangements, and 1 international markets
International markeung alhances formed by domestic and foreign camiers, mcluding the Star Alhance (among United Awrlmnes, Lufthansa German Awrlines znd others)
and the cneworld Alhance (among American Atrlines, British Airways and others) have sigmficantly increased competiton m international markets The adoption of
liberalized Open Skies Aviation Agreements with an mcreasmg number of countries around the world, including m particutar the Open Skies agreement with the
Member States of the European Union, has accelerated this trend Through markeung and codeshanng arrangements with U S carmers, foreign camiers have obtamned
access to mterior U S passenger waffic Sumlarly, US camers have increased therr ahility te sell nternational transportation, such as transatlanc services to and
beyond European cities, through alliances with miernattonal carriers

Frequent Flyer Program

We have a frequent flyer program, the SkyMales® program which offers incentives 1o customers to mcrease travel on Delta This program allows program
members to earn mileage for travel awards by flying on Delta, Delta Connection carners and participatmg airlines Mileage credit may also be earned by ustng certain
services offered by program participants, such as credit card companies, hotels, car rental agencies, telecommunication services and internet services [n addition,
mdividuals and compantes may purchase rmleage credis We reserve the night to termmnate the program with six months” advance notice, and to change the program’s
terms and cond:tions at any time without notice

Mileage credits can be redeemed for free or upgraded air travel on Delta and parucipatng airlines, for membership i our Crown Room Club and for other
program participant awards Travel awards are subject to certain transter restrictions and capacity-controlled seaung In some cases blackout dates may apply Program
accounts with no activity for 12 consecutive months after enroliment are deleted Miles will not expire so long as, at least once every two years, the participant (1) takes
a qualifymg fhight on Delta or a Delta Connection carrer, {2) eamns rmies through one of our program participants, (3) buys mules from Delta or (4) redeems mles for
any program award

Regulatory Matters

The DOT and the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA™) exercise regulatory authority over air transportation in the U S The DOT has authonty to 1ssue
ceruficates of public convenience and necessity required for airhines to provide domestic air transportation  An air camner that the DOT finds fit to operate 15 grven
unrestricted authority to operate domestic air transportation {inclidmg the carnage of passengers and cargo) Except for constramts imposed by regulatiens regarding
“Essential Awr Services, which are apphcable to certamn small communities, airlines may terrminate service o a city without restriction

The DOT has jurisdiction over certam ¢cononuc and consumer protection matters, such as unfarr or deceptive practices and methods of competition, advertising,
denied boarding compensation, baggage iability and disabled passenger transportaton The DOT alsc has authonty to review certain joint venture agreements between
major carmiers The FAA has pnimary responsibihty for matters relating to arr carnier flight operations, including arrline operating certificates, control of navigable air
space, flight personnel, awrcrafi certification and mamtenance and other matters affecting awr safety

5
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Authonty to operate internattonal routes and mtemational codesharing arrangements 1s regulated by the DOT and by the governments of the foreign countries
mvelved International route awards are also subject to the approval of the President of the U S for conformance with national defense and foreign policy obyjecuves

The Transportation Security Admm:stration and the U S Customs and Border Protection, each a division of the Departrment of Homeland Security, are
responsible for certamn civil aviation security matters, including passenger and baggage screening at U S awrports and international passenger prescreening pnor to entry
mto or departure from the U §

Airhnes are also subject to various other federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations For example, the U S Department of Justice has jurisdiction over
arrline competition matters The U S Postal Service has authority over certan aspects of the transportaton of mail Labor relations m the arrline industry, as discussed
below, are generally governed by the Raitway Labor Act Environmental matters are regulated by vanous federal, state, local and foreign governmental entsties Privacy
of passenger and employee data 1s regulated by domestic and foreign laws and regulations

Fares and Rates

Atrlines set ucket pnices in most domestuc and ntemational city patrs without governmental regulation, and the industry 1s characterized by sigmficant price
competition Certain mternational fares and rates are subject to the junsdicton of the DOT and the governments of the foreign countries involved Many of our tickets
are sold by travel agents, and fares are subject to commussions, overndes and discounts paid to travel agents, brokers and wholesalers

Route Authority

Qur flight operations are authonzed by certificates of public convenience and necessity and to a hmited extent, by exemptions 1ssued by the DOT The requisite !
approvals of other governments for intemational operations are controlled by bilateral agreements with, or permits or approvals tssued by, foreign countries Because
mntematonal arr transportation 1s govermed by bilateral or other agreements between the U S and the foreign country or countries involved, changes in U S or foreign
government aviatzon policies could result tmn the alteration or termmation of such agreements, diminish the value of our tnternational route authorities or otherwise affect
our mternauonal operattons Bilateral agreements between the U S and vartous foreign countries served by us are subject to renegotiation from tume to tume

Certam of our mternational route and codeshanng authonties are subject to periodic renewal requirements We request extension of these authorities when and
as appropriate While the DOT usually renews temporary authortiies on routes where the authorized camer 15 providing a reasonable level of service, there 1s no
assurance this practice will continue 1 general or with respect to a specific renewal Dormant route authority may not be renewed in some cases, especially where
another U S carrer indicates a wilhngness to provide service

Arrport Access

Operations at four major domesuc airports and certain foreign airports served by us are regulated by governmental entities through allocations of “slots™ or
sumilar regulatory mechanisms which limat the nights of carriers to conduct operations at those awrperts  Each slot represents the authonization to land at or take off from
the particular awrport dunng a specified ime pertod

Inthe US , the FAA currently regulates the allocation of slots, slot exemptions, operating authonzattons, or similar capacity allocation mechanisms at Reagan in
Washington, D C, O’Hare International Airport m Chicago, and LaGuardia and JFK m New York Qur operations at these airports generally require the allocaton of
slots or analogous regulatory authoniues Simularly, our operations at Tokyo s Namta Awport, London's Gatwick Awrport, London’s Heathrow Aurport (beginning i late
March 2008) and other internauonal airports are regulated by local slot coordmators pursuant to the [nternational At Transport Association s Worldwrde Scheduhng
Guidelines and applicable local law We currently have sufficient slots or analogous authornizations to operate our
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exisung flights, and we have generally been able to obtain the nights to expand our operatons and to change our schedules There 15 no assurance, however, that we will
be able to do so mn the fiture because, among other reasons, such allocations are subject to changes in govermmental policies

Environmental Matters

The Awrport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990 recognizes the nghts of operators of airports with noise problems to implement local noise abatement programs so
long as such programs do not mterfere unreasonably with interstate or foreign commerce or the national air transportation systern This statute generally provides that
local noise restnctions on Stage 3 arrcraft first effective after October 1, 1990 require FAA approval While we have had sufficient scheduling flexibility to
accommodate local noise restnctions tn the past, our operations could be adversely impacted 1f locally-imposed regulations become meore restrictive or widespread

The US Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) 15 authorzed to regulate awrcrafi ermssions and has historically implemented emissions control
standards previously adopted by the Intemational Civil Aviation Organization (“ICAO ") Our awrcraft comply with the existing EPA standards as applicable by engine
design date ICAO has adopted additional awrcraft engine emissions standards applicable to engtnes cerified after December 31, 2007 but the EPA has not yet proposed
a rule that incorporates these new ICAQ standards

We are also subject to vanous other federal, state and local laws governing environmental matters, inchuding the management and disposal of chemecals, waste
and hazardous matenals, protection of surface and subsurface waters, and regulation of awr ermissions and drmkmg water Concern about chimate change and greenhouse
gases may result in addittonal regulation of aircraft emusstons in the U S and abroad We are carefully monitoning and evaluating the potential impact of such regulatory
developments Regulation of greenhouse gases could result i significant costs for us and the airlme industry

We have been identified by the EPA as a potentally responsible party (a “PRP") with respect to certam Superfund Sites, and have entered into consent decrees
regarding some of these sites Our alleged disposal volume at each of these sites 1s small when compared to the total contributions of all PRPs at each site and habiliry
at many of these sites have been or will be resolved through our Chapter 11 proceedings We are aware of sotl and/or ground water contammation present on our current
or former leaseholds at several domestic aiwrports To address this contamunation, we have a program in place to investigate and, if appropriate, remediate these sites
Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the resolution of these matters will not have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements

Civil Reserve Aiwr Fleet Program

We participate o the Civil Reserve Aur Fleet program (the “CRAF Program™) which permuts the US mulitary to use the arcraft and crew resources of
participaung U S arrhnes durmg arrhft emergencies, national emergencies or tmes of war We have agreed to make available under the CRAF Program z portion of our
mnternattonal range aircrafl from October 1, 2007 untt] September 30, 2008 As of October 1, 2007, the followmg numbers of our mternational range awcraft are
available for CRAF activation

Mumber of
Description of International Aeromedical Total
Event Lezding to Passenger Awrcraft Alrcraft by
Stage Activation Aircraft Allocated Allocated Stage
1 Munor Cnsis 3 N/A 3
1l Major Theater Conflict 16 25 41
i Total Natronal Mobilization 55 105 160

The CRAF Program has only been activated twice, both times at the Stage I level since it was created m 1951
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Regulatory and Legislative Proposals

A number of Congressional bills and proposed DOT regulations have been considered m recent years to address airline competition and other 1ssues Some of
these proposals would require large airlimes with major operations at certain airports to divest or make available to other airlimes slots, gates, facihities and other assets at
those arports Other measures wouid bt the service or pnicing responses of major carriers that appear to target new entrant airhines [n addition, concerns about arport
congestion 1s5ues have caused the DOT and FAA to consider vanious proposals for access to certawn arrports includmng “congeston-based” landing fees and programs
that would withdraw slots from existing carriers and reallocate those slots (either by lottery or auctton to the highest bidder) to carriers with little or no current presetice
at such arports These proposals, 1f enacted, could negatively impact our existing services and our ability to respond to competitive actions by other airhnes
Furthermore, recent events related to extreme weather delays have caused Congress, the DOT and mdividual states to consider and, in at least one case, enact proposals
related to arrlines” handling of lengthy flight delays dunng extreme weather condinons

Employee Matters
Raitway Laber Act |

Our refations with labor unions i the U S are governed by the Railway Labor Act Under the Railway Labor Act, a labor unzon seeking to represent an
unrepresented craft or class of employees 1s required to file with the Nattonal Mediation Board (the “NMB™) an application alleging a representation dispute, along with
authorization cards signed by at least 35% of the employees mn that crafi or class The NMB then mvesugates the dispute and 1f 1t finds the labor unton has obtaired a
sufficient number of authornization cards, conducts an election to determmne whether to certify the labor union as the collective bargamning representative of that craft or
class Under the NMB’s usual rules, a labor union will be certtfied as the representative of the employees mn a craft or class only if more than 50% of those employees
vote for utiton representation A certified labor union then enters nto negotrations toward a collective bargaining agreement with the employer

Under the Railway Labor Act, a collective bargamning agreement between an arrhne and a labor union does not expire, but imnstead becomes amendable as of a
stated date Either party may request that the NMB appoint a federal mediator to participate in the negotiatrons for a new or amended agreement If no agreement ts
reached m mediation, the NMB may determune at any time, that an impasse exists and offer bindmg arbitration If either party rejects binding arbitration, a 30-day
‘ cooling off” peniod begins At the end of this 30-day period, the parties may engage in “se!f help,” unless the President of the U § appoints a Presidental Emergency
Board (“PEB } to investigate and report on the dispute The appowntment of a PEB maintains the “status quo™ for an addinonal 60 days If the parues do not reach
agreement dunng this penod, the parties may then engage 1 “self help * “Self help” includes, among other things, a strike by the unton or the imposition of proposed
changes to the collective bargaming agreement by the airline Congress and the President have the authority to prevent “self help” by enacting legislation that, among
other things, imposes a settlement on the parties

Collecaive Bargaiming

As of December 31, 2007, we had a total of 55,044 full-time equivalent employees Approximately 17% of these employees are represented by unions

Approuimate

Number of Date on which Collective

Employees Bargaimng Agreement
Employee Group Represented Union Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 6,300 ALPA December 31,2009
Delta Fhight Superiniendents 180 PAFCA January 1, 2010
Comarr Pilots 1,440 ALPA March 2,2011
Comair Mamntenance Employees 530 1AM December 31,2010
Comair Flight Attendants 980 IBT December 31,2010
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Labor umions pertedically engage mn organizing efforts to represent varous groups of employees of Delta and Comair that are not represented for collective
bargammg purposes In February 2008, the Asseciation of Fhight Attendants/Commumication Workers of America filed an applrcation for electton with the Nauonal
Mediation Board, asking 1t to conduct a representation election among Delta flight anendants The ummg and outcome of this matter cannot presently be determmed

Executive Officers

Richard H Anderson Age 52 Chref Executive Officer of Delia since September 1, 2007 Executive Vice President of UmitedHealth Group and President of its
Commercial Services Group {December 2006 to August 2007), Executive Vice President of UnitedHeatth Group and Chief Executive Officer of its Ingenix subssdrary
(January 2005 1o December 2006), and Executive Vice President of UnitedHealth Group (November 2004 to January 2005), Chief Executive Officer of Northwest
Aurlnes Corporation and its pnincipal subsidiary, Northwest (2001 to November 2004)

Edward H Bastian, Age 50 President and Chief Financial Officer of Delta since September 2007, Execuuive Vice President and Chief Fmmancial Officer of
Delta (July 2005—September 2007, Chief Financial Officer, Acutty Brands (June 2005—July 2005), Sentor Vice President—Fmance and Controller of Delta (2000—
April 2005), Vice President and Controller of Delta (1998 — 2000)

Michael H Campbell, Age 59 Executive Vice President—HR  Labor & Communications of Delta since December 2007, Executive Vice President—Human
Resources and Labor Relations of Delta (July 2006—December 2007), Of Counsel, Ford & Hammson (January 2005—July 2006), Semuor Vice President—Human
Resources and Labor Relatons, Contnental Arrlines, Inc (1997 — 2004), Pariner, Ford & Harnison (1978 — 1996}

Stephen E. Gorman, Age 52 Execuuve Vice President—Operatons of Delia since December 2007, President and Chref Executive Officer of Greyhound Lines,
Inc {(June 2003—October 2007), President, North Amertca and Executive Vice President Operations Support at Krispy Kreme Deughnuts, Ine (August 2001—June
2003), Executive Vice President, Technical Operations and Flight Operations of Northwest (February 2001—August 2001), Semor Vice President, Technical
Operations of Northwest (fanuary 1999—February 2001), and Vice President, Engine Maintenance Operations of Northwest (1996 to January 1999)

Glen W Hauenstetn, Age 47 Executive Vice Presrdent—Network Planning and Revenue Management since Apnl 2006, Execuuve Vice President and Chief of
Network and Revenue Management (August 2005—Aprl 2006), Vice General Director—Chief Commercial Officer and Chief Operating Officer Aluaha (2003 —
2005), Sentor Vice President—Network, Continental Airlines {2003), Senior Vice President—Scheduling, Continental Arrlines {2001 - 2003), Vice Pressdent
Scheduling Continental Airlimes (1998 — 2001)

Kenneth F Khoury, Age 56 Execuuve Vice President and General Counsel smce September 2006, Senior Vice President and General Counsel, Weyerhaeuser
Company {Apnl 2006—September 2006) Vice President and Deputy General Counsel, Georgia-Pacific Corporation (1990 - 2005), Sentor Vice President and
Associate General Counsel, Shearson Lehman Hutton Inc (1988 — 1990)

Lee A Macenczak, Age 46 Executive Vice President—Sales and Marketing since Apnl 2007 Executive Vice President—Sales and Customer Service (Apn!
2006—Apn] 2007), Execunve Vice President and Chief Customer Service Officer (July 2005—Apnl 2006), Senior Vice President and Chief Customer Service Officer
(2004 — 2005), Semor Vice President & Chref Human Resources Officer (June 2004 —October 2004), Semior Vice President--Sales and Distribution (2000 — 2004),
Vice President—Customer Service (1999 —2000), Vice President—Reservation Sales (1998 — 1999}, Vice President—Reservation Sales & Distnibutton Planning (1996
- 1998)

Addtional Information

We make available free of charge on our webstte our Annual Report on Form 10-K., our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form §-K and
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are filed with or furmshed to the Secunties and Exchange Commussion Information
on our website 15 not mcorporated nto this Form 10-K or our other securities filings and 1s not a part of those filmgs
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Risk Factors Relating to Delta

Qur business and results of operauons are dependent on the price and avadabiity of aircraft fuel. Continuing high fuel costs or further cost increases could have a
materially adverse effect on our operating results. Likewise, significant disruptions tn the supply of aircraft fuel would materiaily adversely affect our operations
and operating resuits.

Cur operating results are sigmficantly impacted by changes 1n the price and availability of awrcrafl fuel Fuel prices have increased substantially in the last five
years In 2007, our average fuel price per gallon rose 5% to $2 21, as compared to an average price of $2 10 m 2006, which was 15% higher than our average price of
$1 79 m 2005 In 2004, our average fuel price per gallon was $1 16 and in 2003, our average fuel price per galion was 81 78¢ The fuel costs represented 26%, 25%,
and 24% of our operating expenses i 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively These increasmg costs have had a sigmficant negative effect on our results of operations and
financial condition

Our ability to pass along the increased costs of fuel to our customers 1s inuted by the compettive nature of the airline industry We ofien have not been able to
crease our fares to fully offset the effect of increased fuel costs 1n the past and we may not be able to do so 1n the future

In addition, our arcraft fuel purchase contracts do not provide matertal protection against price mcreases or assure the availability of our fuel supphies We
purchase most of our arcraft fuel under contracts that estabhsh the price based on various market indices We also purchase sireraft fuel on the spot market, from
offshore sources and under contracts that permit the refiners to set the pnice To attempt to manage our exposure to changes m fuel prices, we use dervative iInstruments
designated as cash flow hedges, which are comprised of crude o1l, heating o1l and jet fuel swap and collar contracts, though we may not be able to successfully manage
this exposure Depending on the type of hedging instrument used, our ability to benefit from declines n fuel prices may be limited

We are currently able to obtan adequate supplies of awrcraft fuel, but 1t ts imposstble to predict the future avatlability or price of arrcraft fuel Weather-related
events, natural disasters, pehucal disruptions or wars involving oil-producing countries, changes m governmental pelicy concemmg arcraft fuel production,

transpottation or marketmg, changes in awrcraft firel production capacity, environmental concerns and other unpredictable events may result m additional fuel supply
shortages and fuel price mcreases in the future Additional mereases in fuel costs or disruptions in fuel supplies could have additional negative effects on us

Our substannal indebtedness may hmit our financial and operating acaviies and may adversely affect our abihiey to incur adduional debt to fund future needs.

We have substantial indebtedness, which could

- require us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash flow from operattons to the payment of princrpal, and mierest on, indebtedness, thereby reducing the
funds available for other purposes

. make us more vulnerable to economic downtumns, adverse mdustry conditions or catastrophic external events,

- it our ability to withstand competitive pressures,

. reduce our flexibiity m planning for or responding to changing busmness and economic conditrons and/or

. place us at a competitive disadvantage to competntors that have relauvely less debt than we have

In addition, a substantial level of indebtedness could hmit our ability to obtmin additional financing on acceptable terms or at all for working capital, capital
expenditures and general corporate purposes We have
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histonically had substantial iquidity needs in the operation of our business These lriquudity needs could vary sigmficantly and may be affected by general economic
conditions, industry trends, performance and many other factors not withimn our control

Our exit financing credu facility includes financial and other covenants that impose restrictions on our financial and business operations.

Our exit fimancmg credit facility contarns financial covenants that require us 1o mamtam a mimimum fixed charge ratio, mimimum unrestncted cash reserves and
mumimum collateral coverage ratios In addition, our exat financing credit facility restricts our ability to, among other things, incur additional secured indebtedness,
make mvestments, sell assets 1f not in comphiance with coverage ratio tests, pay dividends or repurchase stock These covenants may have a matenal adverse impact on
our operations In addition if we fail to comply wath the covenants m the exit financing credit facility and are unable to obtamn a waiver or amendment, an event of
defaul would result under the exit financing credit facility

The exnt financing crednt facility also contams other events of default customary for financings of this type, mcluding cross defaults to certain other matenal
indebtedness and certain change of control events 1If an event of default were to occur, the lenders could, among other things, declare outstandmg borrowings under
these agreements immediately due and payable We cannot provide assurance that we would have sufficient iquidity to repay or refinance borrowings under the exit
financing credit facility 1f such borrowings were accelerated wpon an event of default In addition, an event of default or declarabon of acceleration under the exit
financing credit facihity could alse result in an event of default under other indebtedness agreements

Employee strikes and other labar-related disruptions may adversely affect our operanions.

Our business 1s labor intensive, utihzing large numbers of pilots, flight attendants and other personnel Approximately 17% of our workforce 1s untonzed
Strikes or labor disputes with our umonized employees may adversely affect our ability to conduct business Relations between air carriers and labor unions in the U S
are governed by the Railway Labor Act, which provides that a collective bargatming agreement between an awrline and a labor unton does not expire, but instead
becomes amendable as of a stated date The Raitway Labor Act generally prohibits strikes or other types of self-help acttons both before and after a collecuve
bargaining agreement becomes amendable, unless and until the collective bargaming processes required by the Railway Labor Act have been exhausted

In addition, if we or our affiliates are unable to reach agreement with any of our unionized work groups on future negotiations regarding the terms of ther
collective bargaining agreements or 1f additional segments of our workforce become unionized, they may be subject to work mnterruptions or stoppages, subject lo the
requirements of the Railway Labor Act Likewise, 1f third party regional camers with whom we have contract camer agreements are unable to reach agreement with
their untonized work groups on current or future negotiattons regarding the terms of their collective bargammg agreements, those camrrers may be subject to work
nterruptrons or stoppages subject 1o the requirements of the Ralway Labar Act, which could have a negative impact on our operations

Interrupiions or disruptions in service at one of our hub airports could have o material adverse impact on our operations.

Our busmess ts heavily dependent on our operations at the Atlanta Airport and at our other hub airports in Cincinati, New York-JFK and Salt Lake City Each
of these hub operations includes flights that gather and distnbute traffic from markets m the geographic region surrounding the hub to other major cities and to other
Delta hubs A sigmficant interruption or disruption in service at the Atlanta awrport or at one of our other hubs could have a serious 1mpact on our business, financal
conditron and results of operations
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We are increasingly dependent on technology in our operations, and 1f our technology fails or we are unable to conttnue to invest in new technology, our business
may be adversely affected.

We have become mereasingly dependent on technology instiatives to reduce costs and to enhance customer service tn order to compete 1n the current business
environment For example, we have made significant mvestments in delta com, check-tn kiosks, “Delta Direct phone banks and related mittatives The performance
and reliability of the technology are enical to our abtlity to attract and retan customers and our ability to compete effectively These mitiatives will continue to require
sigmificant capital mvestments n our technology mfrastructure to deliver these expected benefits If we are unable to make these investments, our busmess and
operauons could be negatively affected

In addrtion, any internal technelogy error or failure or large scale external mterruption m technology mfrastructure we depend on, such as power,
telecommunications or the mternet, may disrupt our technology network Any individual, sustamed or repeated failure of technology could umpact our customer service
and result in mereased costs  Like all compames, our technology systems and related data may be vulnerable to a vanety of sources of mterruption due to events beyond
our control, ncluding natural disasters, terronst attacks, telecommunications faifures, computer viruses, hackers and other security 1ssues While we have mn place, and
continue to nvest tn, technology secunty mitiatives and dsaster recovery plans, these measures may not be adequate or impletmented properly to prevent a bustness
disruption and 1ts adverse financial consequences to our business

If we experience losses of senior management personnel and other key employees, our operating results could be adversely affected.

We are dependent on the expertence and industry knowledge of our officers and other key employees to execute our busmness plans Our financial performance
that culminated m our recent Chapter 11 proceedings created uncertainty that led to a significant cerease 1n unwanted attritton [f we experience a substantial turnover
n our leadership and other key employees, our performance could be matenally adversely umpacted Furthermore, we may be unable to attract and retam additional
qualified executives as needed i the future

Our credit card processors have the abiity to take significant holdbacks in certain ctreumstances. The imnation of such holdbacks likely would have a material
adverse effect on our hquidity

We sell a substantial number of uckets that are paid for by customers who use credit cards Our Visa/MasterCard credit card processing agreement provides that
no future holdback of receivables or reserve 13 required except in certan cucumstances Under 1ts processing agreement with us, Amex has the nght, 1n certain
circumstances, to impose a holdback of our receivables for tickets purchased using an Amerncan Express credit card  If circumstances were to occur that would allow
either processor to initiate a holdback, the negauve 1mpact on our hquidity likely would be significant.

We are at risk of losses and adverse publicity stemmung from any accideni involving our awrcraft.

An arrcraft crash or other accident could expose us to significant tort liabality The insurance we carry to cover damages arising from any future accidents may be
wmadequate I[n the event that the insurance 1s not adequate, we may be forced to bear substantial losses from an accident In addition, any accident mvolving an awrcraft
that we operate or an aircraft that 1s operated by an arrline that 1s one of our codeshare partners could create a public perception that our awrcrafl are not safe or rehable,
which could harm our reputation, result m air travelers bemng reluctant to fly on our arrcraft and harm our business For a description of the Comanr flight 5191 aceident
m August 2006, see “Item 3 Legal Proceedings—Cormair Flight 51917

Any “ownershup change” could limit our ability to utilize our net operating losses carryforwards.

Under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “/nternal Revenue Code™}, a corporation 1s generally allowed a deduction 1n any taxable year for net
operating losses carried forward from prior years As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately $9 1 billion of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards
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A corporation’s use of its net operating loss carryforwards 15 generally hrmited under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code 1f a corporatron undergoes an
“ownership change ” When an “cwnership change” occurs pursuant to the implementation of a plan of reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code, the general limitatzon
under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code may not apply 1f certain requirements are satisfied under erther section 382(1)(5) or section 382(1)(6) of the [nternal
Revenue Code We expenenced an “ownership change” in connection with the Plan of Reorganization n our Chapter 11 proceedings, but we have not yet determmed
whether we will be eligible for or rely on the special rule under section 382(1)(5) or the special rule under section 382(I)(6) Assummg we rely on section 382([)(5} of
the Internal Revenue Code, a second “ownershup change” within two years from the effective date of our Plan of Reorgamizatton confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court in
our Chapter 11 proceedmgs would eliminate completely our ablity to utihze our net operating loss carryovers Regardless of whether we rely on section 382(1)(5) of the
Internal Revenue Code, an “ownership change™ after the effective date of the Plan of Reorganizanon could sigmficantty hmt our ability to utihze our net operating loss
carryforwards for taxable years including or following such “ownership change ™

Transfer restrictions on our stock issued i connection with our Plan of Reorgamzaton may limit the liquidity of our stock,

To reduce the risk of a potential adverse effect on our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryovers, our certificate of incorperation contains certain
restrictions on the transfer of our stock 1ssued 1n connection wath the Plan of Reorganization These transfer restrictions will be effective for two years foliowing the
effective date of the Plan of Reorgantzation, subject to extenston for an additional three years These transfer restrictions may adversely affect the ability of certain
holders of our stock to dispose of or acqutre shares of our stock during the penod the restnictions are m place Furthermore, while the purpose of these transfer
TesTicons Is to prevent an “ownership change” from occurming within the meaning of section 382 of the Intemal Revenue Code, no assurance can be given that such an
ownership change wall not occur

Risk Factors Relating to the Awrhne Industry

The airline industry is highly compeutive and, if we cannot successfully compete in the marketplace, our business, financial condition and operating results will be
materially adversely affected

We face significant compettion with respect to rotdes, services and fares Our domestic routes are subject to competition from both new and established carniers,
some of which have lower costs than we do and prowvide service at low fares to destinattons served by us In particular, we face significant compettion at our hub
awrports i Atlanta and New York-JFK from other carrters 1n addition, our operations at our hub airports also compete with operations at the hubs of other airhines that
are located m close proximty to our hubs We also face increasing competition in smaller to medum-sized markets from rapidly expanding regional jet operators

The growth of low-cost carriers, including Southwest ArrTran and JetBlue, mn the US has placed significant competitive pressure on us and other network
cartiers i the domestic market In addition, other network carmiers have also significantly reduced their costs over the last several years Qur ability to compete
effecuvely depends, 1 part, on our ability to maintain a compeutive cost structure 1f we cannot mamtam our costs at a competitive level, then our business, financial
condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected In hght of mereased jet fuel costs and other 1ssues i recent years, we expect consolidation to
occur mn the arrline mdustry As a result of consolidation, we may face sigmificant competition from larger carmers that may be able to generate higher amounts of
revenue and compete more effictently

In addiuon, we compete with foreign carriers, both on mterior U § routes, due to marketing and codesharing arrangements, and 1 mternational markets
International marketing alliances formed by domestic and foreign carriers, mecluding the Star Alliance (among Umited Arrlines, Lufthansa German Aurlmes and others})
and the oneworld Allance (among Amenican Arrhnes, British Atrways and others) have sigmificantly increased competition m international markets The adoption of
Iiberalized Open Skies Aviation Agreements with an
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mcreasing number of countries around the world, mcluding m particular the Open Skies agreement with the Member States of the European Union, has accelerated this
trend Through marketng and codesharing arrangements with U § carners, foreign camers have obtamned access to intenior U S passenger traffic Simtarty, US
carniers have mncreased ther ability to sell miemational transportation, such as transatlantic services to and beyond European cities, through alhances with mternational
CarTiers

Terrorist attacks or internatronal hostiliies may adversely affect our business, financial condiaon and cperating results.

The terronist attacks of September 11, 2001 caused fundamental and permanent changes n the arrhine industry, including substantial revenue declines and cost
increases, which resulted in imdustry-wide liquidity 1ssues Addittonal terrorist attacks or fear of such attacks, even if not made directly on the arline industry, would
negatively affect us and the arline industry The potential negative effects include mcreased secunty, msurance and other costs and lost revenue from increased ticket
refunds and decreased trcket sales Cur financial resources mught not be sufficient to absorb the adverse effects of any further terronst attacks or other mternational
hostilities involving the U §

The atrline industry ¢s subject to extensive government regulation, and new regulations may incredse our operafing costs.

Airlines are subject to extensive regulatory and legai compliance requirements that result m sigmificant costs For instance, the FAA from time to tine issues
directives and other regulations relating to the mamtenance and operation of aircraft that necessitate significant expendrtures We expect to continue ncurring expernses
to comply with the FAA's regulations

Other laws, regulations, taxes and awrport rates and charges have also been imposed from time to tume that sigmficantly merease the cost of arrtne operations or
reduce revenues For example the Aviation and Transpertation Secunity Act, which became law 1n November 2001, mandates the federalization of certamn awrport
secunity procedures and imposes additional securtty requirements on awports and arrlines, most of which are funded by a per ucket tax on passengers and a tax on
arrlines The federal government has on several occasions proposed a sigmificant increase m the per ticket tax The proposed ucket tax increase, 1f implemented, could
negatively impact our revenues

Recently, proposals to address congestion at certan arports or in certam airspace, particularly in the Northeast U S | have mcluded concepts such as “congestion
pnicing,” “slot auctions” or other alternatives that could impose a sigmficant cost on the airhnes operating mn those awrports or awrspace  Furthermore, events related to
extreme weather delays i late 2006 and early 2007 have caused Congress and the DOT to consider proposals related to arrhnes’ handling of lengthy flight delays
dunng extreme weather conditions The enactinent of such proposals could have a sigmficant negative impact on our operations In addition, some states have also
enacted or considered enacting such regulations

Future regulatory action concemning chmate change and arrcraft emssions could have a significant effect on the arrline industry For example, the European
Commission 1s seeking to umpose an emisstons trading scheme applicable to all flights operating n the European Union, mcluding flights to and from the US Laws or
regulations such as this emissions trading scheme or other U S or foreign governmental actions may adversely affect our operations and financial results
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We and other U S carriers are subject to domestic and foreign laws regarding privacy of passenger and employee data that are not consistent in all countries in
which we operate In addition to the heightened level of concern regarding privacy of passenger data m the U S , certamn European government agencies are ttiating
inquures wnto arrlime privacy practices Comphance with these regulatory regimes is expected to result i addmonal operating costs 2nd could impact our operations and
any future expansion

Our msurance costs have increased substantially as a result of the September 11 terrorist attacks, and further increases i insurance costs or reductions n
coverage could have a matertal adverse unpact on our business and operating results.

As a result of the terrorist artacks on September 11, 2001, aviation insurers significantly reduced the maximum amount of insurance coverage available to
commercial air cammers for hiability to persons {other than employees or passengers) for claims resulting from acts of terrorism, war or similar events At the same time,
aviaton insurers significantly increased the premums for such coverage and for aviation insurance in general Smce September 24 2001, the U S government has been
providing U S arrhines with war-nisk insurance to cover losses, mcluding those resulting from terronsm, to passengers, third parties (ground damage) and the aircraft
hull The coverage currently extends through August 31,2008 The withdrawal of government support of airline war-nsk insurance would require us to obtam war-risk
msurance coverage commercially, 1f available Such commercial msurance could have substantially less desmwable coverage than that currently provided by the U S

government, may not be adequate to protect our nisk of loss from future acts of terronsm, may result m a matenal increase to our operating expenses or may not be
obtainable at all, resulting 1n an mterruption to our operations

ITEM 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
ITEM 2 PROPERTIES

Flhight Equipment

Qur active awrcraft fleet at December 31, 2007 1s summanzed 1n the following table

Current Fleet

Capinal Operating Average
Arrcraft Type Owned Lease Lea2se Taotal Age
B-737-800 71 — — 71 72
B-757-200 68 34 18 120 163
B-757-200ER — 2 1 13 100
B-767-300 4 — 17 21 16 9
B-767-300ER 50 — 9 59 119
B-767-400ER 21 — —_ 21 68
B-777-200ER g — — g 79
MD-28 63 33 21 117 175
MD-90 16 — — 16 121
CRJ-100 28 13 49 90 103
CRJ-200 3 — 12 17 52
CRJ-700 17 — — 17 42
CRJ-900 g — — 8 02
Total 359 82 137 578 12 4
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Our purchase commitments (firm orders) for awrcraft, as well as options te purchase addinenal awrcraft, as of December 31, 2007 are shown 1 the followmg

zbles
Delrvery an Calendar
Years Ending

Atrcraft on Firm Order® 2008 2009 2010 Total
B-737-700 7 3 — 10
B-737-800 7 14 19 40
B-777-200LR 3 5 — 8
CRJ-900 13 5 — 18=
Total 30 27 i9 76

" Inchude 3§ mrcraft, which we have entered mto defimtive agreements to sefl to third parties tmmediatety following delivery of these surcrafl o us by the manu facturer
e Excludes 16 atrcraft orders we assigned (0 a regional awr carrter in Apnl 2007

™ For addruonal informauon see “Asrcraft Order Commutments™ 1n Note 8 of the Notes to the C lidated Financal 5

Delivery in Calendar Years Ending

Atreraft en Option™ 2009 2010 2011 2012 Tl:;; Total g:l:ll:!i
B-737-800 — 14 24 22 —_— 60 120
B-767-300/300ER 1 2 1 1 5 10 —
B-767-400 1 2 2 2 9 16 -
B-777-200LR — 3 4 4 — 11 12
CRJ-200 11 5 — —_ — 16 —
CRJ-700 14 6 — —_ — 20 —
CRI-900 18 g — — — 27 —
Total 45 41 31 29 14 160 132

@ Asrcrafl optons have scheduled delivery slots while rolling options replace options and are assygned delivery slots as options expire or are exercased

Ground Facilities

We lease most of the land and buildings that we occupy Our largest arcraft mantenance base, vanous computer, cargo, flight kitchen and tramnmng facihiies and
most of our principal offices are located at or near the Atlanta Asrport, on land leased from the City of Atlanta generally under long-term leases We own a portion of
our principal offices, our Atlanta reservauons center and other real property m Atlanta

We lease ticket counter and other termunal space, operating areas and ar cargo factlities m most of the arports that we serve At most atrports that we serve, we
have entered mto use agreements which provide for the non-exclusive use of runways, taxiways, and other improvements and facilities landing fees under these
agreements norimally are based on the number of landmgs and weght of aircraft These leases and use agreements generzlly run for perteds of less than one year to 30
years or more, and often contan provisions for periodic adjustraents of lease rates, landing fees and other charges apphcable under that type of agreement Examples of
major leases and use agreements at Delta hub or other sigmificant atrports that will expire in the next several years include, among others (1) Atlanta central passenger
terminal lease and the amrport use agreement, which expire m 2010, (2) Salt Lake City arport use and lease agreement, which expires m 2008, and (3) LaGuardia
terminal lease, which expires m 2008 We also lease aircraft maintenance facilires and air cargo facilities at certam airports, mehiding, among others, our man Atlanta
masntenance base, Atlanta arr cargo faciliies and hangar and air cargo facihities at the Cincinnati/Northemn Kentucky International Atrport and Salt
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Lake City International Airport Qur arrcraft mamntenance facility leases genenally require us to pay the cost of providing, operating and maintaming such facilitzes,
meluding, 1n some cases, amounts necessary to pay debt service on special facihty bonds 1ssued to finance their construction We also lease marketing, ucketing and
reservauons offices in certain locations for varying terms

In recent years, some awrports have mcreased or sought to increase the rates charged to arrhines to levels that we believe are unreasonable The extent to which
such charges are himuted by statute or regulation and the ability of arlines to contest such charges has been subject to htigation and to admunistrative proceedings before
the DOT If the hmitations on such charges are relaxed, or the ability of airlines to challenge such proposed rate increases 15 restmcted, the rates charged by arrports to
arrlmes may ncrease substantizlly

The City of Atlanta, with our support and the support of other airlines, 1s currently implementing portions of a ten year capital improvement program (the “CIP™)
at the Atlanta Auport Implementation of the CiP should increase the number of flights that may operate at the arport and reduce flight delays The CIP meludes,
among other things a 9,000 foot fell-service nnway that opened m May 2006, related awrfield improvements, additional terunal and gate capacity, new cargo and
ather support facilities and roadway and other infrastructure improvements If fully implemented, the CIP 1s currently esumated by the City of Atlanta to cost
approximately $6 8 billion, which exceeds the $5 4 billron CIP approved by the airlines in 1999 The CIP runs through 2010, with individual projects scheduled to be
constructed at different imes A combination of federal grants, passenger facihty charge revenues, increased user rentals and fees, and other arrport funds are expected
to be used to pay CIP costs directly and through the payment of debt service on bonds Certain elements of the CIP have been delayed, and there 1s no assurance that the
CIP will be fully implemented Failure to implement certain portions of the CIP in a timely manner could adversely impact cur operations at the Atlanta Airport

ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Chapter 11 Proceedings

As discussed elsewhere mn this Form 10-K, on September 14, 2005, we and certain of our subsidiaries filed voluntary petitons for reorganization under Chapter
11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court On April 25, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving and confirming the Plan of Reorganization
and the Plan of Reorganization became effective, allowmg Delta to emerge from bankruptcy on Apnt 30, 2007 The reorganization cases were jomntly admmistered
under the caption “In re Delta Air Lines, Inc, et al, Case No 05-17923-ASH " As of the date of the Chapter 11 filing, then pending itgation was generally stayed, and
absent further order of the Bankruptcy Court, most parties may not take any action to recover on pre-petition claims agamst Delta and our subsichartes that were a part
of the Chapter 11 proceedings

On Apnl 24, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Cincinnati Aurport Settlement Agreement with the Kenton County Auwrport Board ("KCAB™) and UMB
Bank, N A the trustee {the “Bond Trustee™) for the Senes 1992 Bonds (as defined below), to restructure certain of our lease and other obligations at the Cincinnati-
Northern Kentucky International Awrport (the “Cincinnaty Awrport™) The Senes 1992 Bonds inctude (1) the $419 million Kenton County Awurport Board Special
Facilues Revenue Bonds 1992 Senes A (Delta Arr Lines Inc Project), $397 mullion of which were then outstanding and (2) the $19 rrullion Kenton County Awport
Board Special Facilities Revenue Bonds, 1992 Series B (Delta Awr Lines, Inc Project), $16 muillion of which were then outstanding

The Cmcinnati Auport Settlement Agreement, among other things

. provides for agreements under which we will continue to use certain facilities at the Cincinnat Airport at substanuially reduced costs,

+ settles all disputes among us, the KCAB, the Bond Trustee and the former, present and future holders of the 1992 Bonds {the “1992 Bondholders™),
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. gives the Bond Trustee, on behalf of the 1992 Bondholders a $260 nullion allowed general, unsecured pre-petition claim m cur bankruptey

proceedings, and

. provides for our ssuance of $66 million principal amount of senior unsecured notes to the Bond Trustee on behalf of the 1992 Bondholders

On May 3, 2007, the partes to the Cincinnat Awport Setilement Agreement implemented that agreement 1n accordance with 1ts terms A small number of 1992
Bondholders (the ‘Objecting Bondholders™) challenged the settlement m the U S District Court for the Southem Dustrict of New York (the “Distnct Court’) In August
2007, the Distres Court affirmed the Bankruptey Court s order approving the settlement The Objecting Bondholders have appealed the decision of the District Court 1o
the US Court of Appeals for the Second Crrewit.

Delta Family-Care Savings Plan Liunigation

On March 16, 2003, a retired Delta employee filed an amended class action complamnt m the U S District Court for the Northern Distnct of Georgia agamst
Delta, certain current and former Delta officers and certain current and former Delta directors on behalf of himse!f and other participants m the Delta Faruly-Care
Savings Plan (“Savings Plan™) The amended complaint alleges that the defendants were fiduciaries of the Savings Plan and, as such, breached therr fiduciary duties
under ERISA to the plamtiff class by (1) allowmng class members to direct their contnbutions under the Savings Plan to a fund invested i Delta commoa stock, and
(2) contunumg to hold Delta’s conmbutions to the Savings Plan in Delta s common and preferred stock The amended complaint seeks damages unspecified m amount,
but equal to the total loss of value in the participants” accounts from September 2000 through September 2004 from the wmnvestment in Delta stock Defendants deny that
there was any breach of fiduciary duty, and have moved to dismuss the complaint The District Court stayed the acuon against Delta due to the bankruptey filing and
granted the motion to disnuss filed by the individual defendants The plantif¥s appealed to the Umited States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circunt the District
Court’s decision to dismiss the complaint against the mdividual defendants but voluntanly dismmssed this appeal, pending resolution of the automatic stay of thewr claim
agamst Delta The parties have reached an agreement in principle to resolve this matter on a class-wide basis under which the plamtiffs would receive a $4 5 mullion ‘
general, unsecured pre-petitton ¢laim m Delta s Chapter 11 proceedings The settlement 15 subject to the completion of defimuve documentation and Bankruptcy Court
approval

Comawr Flight 5191

On August 27, 2006, Comair Flight 5191 crashed shortly after take-off n a field near the Blue Grass Aupont i Lexmngion, Kentucky All 47 passengers and two
members of the flight crew dred m the accident The third crew member survived with severe mjuries Lawstits artsing out of this accident have been filed agamst our
wholly owned substdiary, Comarr, on behalf of 44 passengers A number of lawswits also nhame Delta as a defendant The lawsuits generally assert claims for wrongful
death and related personal myuries, and seek unspecified damages, mchedmg punttive damages in most cases As of January 28 2008, settlements have been reached
with the families of 15 of the 47 passengers All the passenger lawsuits are currently pending in the U S Distnict Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky and have
been consohdated as “in Re Air Crash at Lexington, Kentucky, August 27, 2006 Master File No $06-CV-316™

Comar and Delta continue to pursue settlement negotiations with the plamtiffs in these lawswits The settled cases have been dismissed with prejudice

Comar has filed direct actions in the U S Dastrict Court for the Eastern Dhstrict of Kentucky agamst the United States (based on the actions of the Federal
Aviation Admmistration), and m state court m Fayette County Kentucky, aganst the Lexmgton Aurport Board and certatn other Lexington arrport defendants Comair
has also filed third party complamnts agamst these same parties m each of the pending passenger lawsuits These actions seek to apportion habihity for damages ansmg
from this accident among all responsible partes .
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We carry aviation nsk hability insurance and beheve that this msurance 15 sufficient to cover any liabihty Iikely to anse from this accident.

LR L

For a discussion of certain environmental matters, see “Business—Environmental Matiers™ 1o Item 1

ITEM 4 SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A YVOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submutted to a vote of our secunty holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report
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PART 11

ITEM § MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

Shares of our common stock 1ssued and outstanding immediately prior to April 30, 2007 (the “Old Commen Stock™) traded on the Pink Sheets Electromc
Quotation Service (“Pink Sheets”) mamntamed by Pink Sheets LLC for the Nattonal Quotation Bureau, Inc The ticker symbol “DALRQ™ was assigned to our Old
Common Stock for over-the-counter quotations On Apnl 30, 2007, the Old Common Stock was canceled pursuant to the terms of our Plan of Reorganization and we
have no continuing obligations with respect to the Old Common Stock

Pursuant to the Plan of Reorganization, we 1ssued or reserved for issuance up to 400 mullion shares of common stock (the “New Common Stock™) consisting of
{1) 386 mullion shares to holders of allowed general, unsecured claims (including our pilots} and (2) 14 million shares to our approximately 39,000 ehgible non-
contract, non-management employees The new common stock was listed on the New York Stock Exchange and began trading under the ticker symbol “DAL” on
May 3, 2007

The followmng table sets forth for the periods tndicated, the highest and lowest sales price for our Old Common Stock as reported on the Pink Sheets for the
period through April 27, 2007 and for our New Common Stock as reported on the NYSE for the period beginming April 30, 2007 The quotations from the Pk Sheets
reflect muer-dealer prices, without retail markup markdown or comnussions, and may not represent actual transactions

Old Cermnmen New Common
Stock ™ Stock ™
_High Low High Low

Fiscal 2006

First Quarter $ 088 S 030 — —

Second Quarter 081 050 — —

Third Quarter 178 063 —_ —

Fourth Quarter 177 096 — —
Fiscal 2007

First Quarter ) 148 8 021 — —

Second Quarter S 048 S 00! $ 2195 $ 1802

Third Quarter — — $ 2180 $ 14 94

Fourth Quarter — — $ 2110 S 14 D4

o The Ol Common Stock was canceled pursuant to the terms of our Plan of Reorganizanon and no further trading occumred after Apnl 27 2007

' The New Common Stock commenced trading on Apnl 30 2007 on a “when 1ssued™ basis and was hsted on the New York Stock Exchange and began radng under the ucker symbol “DAL™ on May 3,
2007

Holders
As of January 31 2008, there were approximately |15 holders of record of our New Common Stock
Divedends
We suspended the payment of dividends on our Old Common Stock m 2003 We expect to retain any future earmings to fund our operations and meet our cash

and hquidity needs 1n addition, our ability to pay dividends or repurchase New Common Stock 1s restricted under credit facilities that we entered into m connection
with our emergence from bankruptcy Therefore, we do not anticipate paying any dividends on our New Common Stock for the foreseeable future
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Securities Authornized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

[nformauoen required by this Item regarding the secunities authonzed for 1ssuance under our equity compensation plans 15 inchided in the section captioned
“Securities Authonzed for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans™ of our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held June 3, 2008 This
Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC, and 15 incorporated herem by reference

Stock Performance Graph

The followmg graph compares the cumulative total retums during the period from Apni 30, 2007 to December 31, 2007 of our New Common Stock to the
Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and the Amex Airlme Index The companson assumes $100 was mvested on April 30, 2007 in each of our New Common Stock and
the mndices and assumes that all dividends were remvested Data for perieds prior to Apnil 30, 2007 1s not shown because of the perniod we were 1n bankruptcy and the
financial results of the Successor are not comparable with the results of the Predecessor

Cumulative Total Aeturns

$120 00
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$6000 1

$4000 1

$23 00

[
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|+Dena —a— 58P 500 —e— Amex Airling Index

The Amex Airlme Index {ucker symbol XAL) consists of ArTran Holdings, Inc , Alaska Air Group Inc  AMR Corporation, Continental, Delta, Expresslet
Holdings, Inc Fronuer Awrlines, Heldings, Inc , GOL Lmhas Areas Inteligentes § A | JetBlue Airways Corporation, Northwest Arlines Corporation, SkyWest Inc,
Southwest Airlines Company, UAL Corporation, and US Airways Group, Inc

21




Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The followmng shares of Common Stock were withheld m 2007 from the distibutions descnbed below These shares may be deemed to be *1ssuer purchases™ of

shares that are requrred to be disclosed pursuant to this Item

Maximum Number of
Shares (or Approximate
Dollar Value) of Shares
That May Yet Be
Purchased Under the

Plan or Programs

Tatzl Tatal Number of Shares
Number of Average Purchased as Part of
Shares Price Paid Publicly Announced
Period Purchased ® Per Share Plans or Programs @
May 1-31, 2007 5,913,542 $ 2061 5,913,542
June 1-30 2007 279 869 2035 279,869
July 1-31, 2007 29,444 1793 20,444
August 1-31, 2007 19,748 1736 19,748
September 1-30, 2007 96,617 1705 96,617
October 1-31, 2007 848 028 2065 848,028
November 1-30, 2007 15,950 18 86 15,950
December 1-31, 2007 35,775 1821 35,775
Total 7238973 § 2052 7,238,973

N

=)
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©
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(A}

Shares were withheld fom employees to sansfy certam tax cbhgauens due in connection with grants of stock under our Performance Compensaton Plan and in connection with bankmuptey ¢laims The

Company disclosed these matters generally 1n its Disclosure Statement dated February 7 2007, as amended and the Plan of Reorgamization which were Gled with the Secunties and Exchange

Commussion under Form §-K,
The Performance Compensation Plan and the Flan of Reorganization provides for the withholding of shares to sausfy tax obligattons Nesther spectfy a maximum number of shares that can be withheld

@

for ths purpose See Note | and Note 12 of the Notes to the Consclidated Financeal Statements elsewhere in this Form 10-K for more information about the Plan of Reorgantzatren and the Performance

Compensation Plan, respectively
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

ITEM 6

The followng table presents selected financial and operating data We derived the Statement of Operations Data for (1) the eight months ended December 31,
2007 of the Successor and (2) the four months ended April 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 of the Predecessor and we denved
the Balance Sheet for {1} the year ended December 31, 2007 of the Successor and {2) the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 of the Predecessor from

our audited consolhidated financial statements and the related notes thereto

Upon emergence from Chapter 11 on Apnil 30, 2007 the Effective Date, we adopted fresh start reportmg m accordance with SOP 90-7 The adoption of fresh

start reporting resulted 1n our becoming a new entty for financial reporting purposes Accordingly, consehdated financial data on or after May 1, 2007 1s not

comparable to the consolidated financial data prior to that date

Due to Delta’s adoption of fresh start reporting on Apnil 30, 2007, the followmg table inciudes selected summary financial and operating data for (1) the eight
months ended December 31, 2007 of the Successor and (2) the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 of the

Predecessor

Consolidated Summary of Operations®

Successor Predecessor
Eight Vouths Four “ionths Year Ended December 31,
Ended Ended

December 31, April 30,
{(un millions, except share data) 20077 2007% 2006m 200550 2004 20030
Operating revenue s 13,358 579 § 17,532 § 16,480 S 15,235 b3 14,308
Operauing expense 12 562 5496 17,474 18,481 18,543 15,093
Operating income (loss) 796 300 58 {2,001} (3,308) (785)
Interest expense, net™ (276) (248) (801) (973) (787) (721)
Miscellaneous mcome, net™ 5 27 (19) n 94 i
(Gam on extinguishment of debt, net — — — — 9 —
Income (loss) before recrganization rtems, net 523 79 (762) (2,975) (3,992) (1,189)
Reorgantzation items, net — 1,215 (6,206) (884) — —
Income (loss) before ncome taxes 525 1,294 (6,968) (3,859) {3.992) (1,189)
Income tax {proviston) benefit (211) 4 765 41 (1,206) 416
Net income (loss) 314 1,298 (6,203) (3,818) (5,198) (773)
Preferred stock dividends _— — ) (18) (19 (N
Net income (loss) attnbutable to common shareowners

$ 314 1298 S (6,205) % (3836) S (5217} § (790)
Basic earnings (loss) per share S {80 658 § (3158) $ 2375) § 4107) % (6 40)
Diluted earmngs (loss) per share s 078 463§ (3158) % (2375) S (4107 § (6 40)
Dividends declared per common share s — — S — S — s — S 005
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Other Fmancial and Statistical Data

Soccrasor Predeceysor
Elght Months Four Monoths Y car Fnded December 31,
Ended Ended
December 31, April 30
20074 2007 1006 20057 2004™ 10037
Revenue passenger nles (millrons® 85,025 37,03¢ 116,E33 119,954 113,311 102,301
Available scat miles (malrons)y 104 427 47337 147,995 156 793 151679 139 505
Passenger mile yield® 13 88¢ 13 84¢ 13 34¢ 12 1¢¢ 12 17¢ 1273¢
Paﬁ'senger revenue per available seat mile
11 30¢ 1083¢ 10 47¢ 931 909¢ 917¢
Operatng cost per avalable scat mlet
12 03¢ 11 61¢ 1138C¢ 11 76¢ 1223¢ 1082¢
Passenger load factor Bl 4% 78 2% 78 5% 76 5% 74 7% 133%
Breakeven passenger load factor 155% 731% T82% BTC% 92 6% T18%
Fuel gallons consumed (milfions} 1458 659 21 2492 2527 2370
Average price per fuel gallon, net of
hedging gains ] 234 S 193 3 21Ic 5 175 3 11¢ 082
Successor Predectssor
December 31 December 31,
20072 1006 200570 1004 20037
Total assets (milions)ym N 32,423 s 19,622 s 20,035 H 21,301 25,935
Long-terin debt and capatal leases
{excluding current matunties) (
mulligns ) $ 7 986 [ 6509 $ 6557 s 13 005 11,538
Shﬁfeomcrs equity (deficit) { meliions )
$ 10,113 5 (13,593) 3 9.893) 1 {5,79¢) {655)
Common stock outstanding 292,225,696 197 315 938 189 343,018 139,830 443 123 544 945
Full-time equivalent employees end of
period 55044 51322 55,65 69 148 70 60C

" Includes the operaucns under contract camer agreements with unaffiliated regional air carners

. SkyWest Arrlines, Inc and Chautauqua Arhines, Ing for all penods presented,

. Shuttle Amenca Corporation for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and from September | through December 31 2005

. Athantic Southeast Aurlines, Inc for the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 and from September § through December 31, 2005,
. Freedom Aulmes Ine for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and from Octobet 1 through December 31 2005

. Expresslet Aurlines, Inc from June 1 to December 31, 2007

. Pmmnacle Airlines, Inc fromn December 1 1o December 31 2007, and

. Flyy, Inc {formerly Atlantic Coast Airhnes) from January | 2003 through November | 2004

@ Includes a $157 mibon or 30 40 diluted EPS for fresh start accounttng adustments and a $211 mulkoen income tax provision or $0 53 diluted EPS (s¢e Item 7)
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Inchudes a $1.2 billion non-cash gam or $5 20 diluted EPS for reorganczation costs, and a $4 mullron ncome tax benefit or $0 02 ditwizd EPS (sce liem 7}

Includes a $6 2 billion fon-cash charge or $31.58 diluted EPS for reorganization costs a $310 mullion non-cash charge or 1 58 dituted EPS associated with certatn accountmg adjustments, and a $765
mullion ncome tax benefit or $3 89 diluzed EPS {see ltem 7)

Includes an $888 mullion charpe or 55 49 diluted EPS for restructunng, asset wiited , p senl and related items net and an $884 mullion non-cash charge or $5 47 duuted EPS for
reorganization costs (see Item 7)
Includes a 3t 9 billion charge or $14 76 diluted EPS related to the imparment of mtangible assets a 5§12 brllion charge or §9 51 diluted EPS for defeored tax val 2 5123 mulbion gam, or

3097 diluted EPS from the sale of investments, and a $41 mllion gan or $¢.33 diluted EPS from restructurmg asset wrtedowns, pension settlements and related 1ems net.

Includes a $268 millton charge ($169 milhon net of tax, or $1 37 diluted EPS) for ng, asset d settl and related items net a $398 mullion gam ($251 milbon net of
tax ot §2 03 deluted EPS) for Appropnations Act compensation, and a $304 millron gawmn ($191 mallton net of't.u or 3§ 55 diluted EPS) for certamn other income and expense 1tems

Includes mteres: income
Includes {losses) gamns fom the sale of investments and far value adjustments of denivatives

The 2006 and 2005 Consolidated Summary of Operations and Financial and Stahsucal Data above have been updated w conform 1o current penod presentation for certam reclassifications made upon
emergence from bankruptey (see Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated F 1ts)
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ITEM 7 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Background

We are a major air carrier that provides scheduled air transportation for passengers and cargo throughout the United States (“*U S ™) and around the world We
offered service, ncludmg Delta Connectton camer service, to 321 destinations n 58 countries 1o January 2008 We are a founding member of SkyTeam, a giobal arrline
alhance that provides customers with extensive worldwide destimations, flights and services Including our SkyTeam and worldwide codeshare partners, we offered
flights to 485 worldwide destinations in 106 countries m January 2008

On September 14, 2005 (the “Petition Date }, we and substantally all of our subsidianes (collectively, the ‘Debtors ) filed voluntary petitions for reorganization
under Chapter 11 of the U § Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code™) m the U S Bankruptcy Court for the Southern Distnict of New York (the *Bankruptcy Court™)
Our reorgamization m Chapter 11 involved a fundamental transformatron of our business

On Apnl 30, 2007 (the “Effective Date™), we emerged from bankruptcy as a competitive amrlne with a global network In connection with our emergence from
bankruptcy, we began 1ssuing shares of new common stock pursuant to the Debtors” Jomt Plan of Reorganization {the **Plan of Reorganization”) References in this
Form 1 0-K to “Successor” refer to Delta on or after May 1, 2007, after giving effect to (1) the cancellauon of Delta commen stock 1ssued prior to the Effecuve Date,
{2) the 1ssuance of new Delta common stock and certam debt secuntes mn accordance wath the Plan of Reorganization and (3) the application of fresh start reporting
References to “Predecessor” refer to Delta prior to May 1, 2007

Combined Financial Results of the Predecessor and Successor

Upon emergence from Chapter L i, we adopted fresh start reporting m accordance with Amenican Insutute of Certified Publtc Accountants’ Staternent of Posttion
90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorgamzation under the Bankruptcy Code™ (“SOP 90-7"} The adoption of fresh start reporting resulted in our becomung a
new entity for financizl reporting purposes Accordingly, the Consolidated Financial Statements on or after May 1, 2007 are not comparable to the Consohdated
Fmancial Statements prior to that date Due to our adoptien of fresh start reporting on Apmil 30, 2007, the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations mclude
the results of operations for {1} the eight months ended December 31 2007 of the Successor, (2) the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 of the Predecessor and (3) the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 of the Predecessor

For purposes of management’s discussion and analysis of the results of operations for the year ended December 31 2007 m this Form 10-K, we combined the
resuhts of operations for the four months ended April 30 2007 of the Predecessor with the eight months ended December 31, 2007 of the Successor We then compared
the combined results of eperations for the year ended December 31 2007 with the corresponding period in the prior year of the Predecessor and discussed sigmificant
fresh start reporting adjustments (“Fresh Start Adjustments™) which impacted comparability

We believe the combined results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 provide management and investors with a more meamngful perspective on
Delta’s ongotng financial and operational performance and trends than if we did not combine the results of operauons of the Predecessor and the Successor 1 this
manner Sumnilarly, we combne the financial results of the Predecessor and the Successor when discussing our sources and uses of cash for the year ended December 31,
2007

Overview of Combined 2007 Results

In 2007, we recorded combined consolidated net income of $1 6 billion which includes a $1 2 billion gain from reorganization wtems, net, pnmanty reflecung a
$2 1 bifhon gamn in connection with our emergence from bankruptcy From an operational perspective, we reported operating income of $1 1 billion for 2007
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Due to the record high fuel costs expenenced over the last several years, arrcrafi fuel expense and related taxes have become our largest cost In an effortto
manage these costs, we hedged 38% of our fuel consumption m 2007, resultimg m an average fuel pnece per gallon of $2 21 We realized $111 million n cash gamns on
fuel hedge contracts settled dunng the year

Consistent with our positive operating financial results for 2007, cash flows from operations generated $1 4 billion, which are net of $875 mulhon in cash used
under the Plan of Reorganization to satisfy our bankruptcy-related obligations to the Air Line Pilots Association (“ALPA’) and the Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corporation (the “PBGC”) During 2007, we strengthened our balance sheet through the payment of $1 0 billion 1n net debt, including two then cutstanding debtor-in-
possesston financing factlises (the “DIP Facihity™), our bankruptcy-related obligations to ALPA and the PBGC and certam other higher interest-bearmg debt
maturities We also invested more than $1 0 billion m capual expenditures, focused pnmanly on customer service tmitiatives, such as new flight equipment and
improvements at our Atlanta and New York-JFK hubs

Business Imtiatives

Recent imtiatives that we expect will generate positive momentum m our busmess mclude

. A joint venture agreement with Atr France announced on Gctober 17, 2007, to share revenue and cost on certain transatlantic routes The mitial
implementation of the joint venture m Apnil 2008 will inclede fhights operated by both carmiers between Awr France’s Panis-Charles de Gaulle, Orly and
Lyon hubs and our Atlanta, Cincinnaty, New York-JFK and Salt Lake City hubs, as well as all flights between Londoen Heathrow Awportand the US
By 2010, the jom! venture 1s scheduled to be extended to all transatlantic flights operated by Air France and Delta between North Amertca and Europe
and the Mediterranean, as well as all flights between Los Angeles and Tahiti

. The right to offer nonstop flights between our hub 1n Atlanta and Shanghai, China effective March 30, 2008

. The completion of the conversion of 11 B-767-400 arcraft from domestic to mnternational service, with three remainmng B-767-400 arcraft to be
converted by spring 2008 These awrcraft support our internatronal expansion strategy In additton, we launched 16 new international routes including
service from Atlanta to Dubai, Lagos, Prague, Seoul, and Vienna and from New York-JFK to Bucharest and Pisa

. The announcement of our New York strategy to improve our customers’ travel expenence at New York-JFK by adding a premmm customer check-mn
facility 1n our international termunal and redesigning our schedule to permit significant growth in international routes while helping to reduce
congestion and delays at peak times

In late 2007, our Board of Directors estabhished a special commuttee of the Board to work with management to review and analyze strategic options, inciuding
potential consolidation transactions, to assist us m mamtainmng our leadership position 1n the arrhne industry Any deciston of the Board of Directors regarding strategic
options will be based on the best long-tenn mterests of all Delta stakeholders, including stockholders, employees, customers and the communities we serve
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Fresh Start Adjustments

During the eight months ended December 31, 2007, Fresh Start Adjustments impacted our Consolidated Financial Statements These adjustments resulted ma
$157 million merease wo pre-tax meome for the year ended December 31, 2007 The Fresh Start Adjustments consist of the fellowmg

increase/(Decrease)
to Pre-tax Income

(in mulhons) for 2007
Operatmg revenue $ 188
Operating expense

Arrcraft fuel expense and related taxes (46)

Depreciation 127

Amortization (146)

Arrcraft maintenance matenals and outside repairs {52)

Other 19
Total operating expense (98)
Operating mcome ¥

Other income (primaniy wterest expense) 67
Income before mcome taxes $ 157

SkyMules Frequent Flyer Program We revalued our frequent flyer award hability to estimated fair value and changed our accounung policy from an incremental
cost method to a deferred revenue method Fair value represents the esumated pnice that third parties would require us to pay for them to assume the obligation of
redeenung nules under the SkyMailes program Fresh Start Adjustments for the SkyMiles program (including the change in accounting pohicy for that program)
mcreased operaung revenue by $188 rullton for the year ended December 31, 2007

Fuel Hedging Prior to the adoption of fresh start reporung on April 30, 2007, we recorded as a component of shareowners” deficit in other comprehensive loss
$46 mllion of deferred gains related to our fuel hedging program This gamn would have been recognized as an offset to fuel expense as the underlymng fuel hedge
contracts were settled However, as required by fresh start reporting, accumulated other comprehensive loss prior to emergence from Chapter 11 was reset to zero
Accordingly, Fresh Start Adjustments resulied tn a non-cash increase to fucl expense of $46 million for the year ended December 31, 2007

Deprecianion We revalued property and equipment to fair value, which reduced the net book value of these assets by $1 0 bilhion In addiion we adjusted the
depreciable lives of flight equipment to reflect revised estimated useful hives As a result, depreciation expense decreased by $127 mlhon for the year ended
December 31, 2007

Amorazation of Intangible Assets We valued our mtangible assets at farr value, which increased the net book value of mtangble assets (excluding goodwill) by
$2 ¢ hillion, of which $956 millicn relates to amortizable intangible assets As a result, amortization expense mcreased by $146 mullion for the year ended
December 31, 2007

Awreraft Mamtenance Materials and Quiside Repairs We changed the way we account for certam maintenance parts that were previously capitalized and
depreciated Afier emergence, we expense these parts as they are placed on the arrcraft This change resulted in an inercase in awrcraft maimtenance matenals and outside
reparrs expense of $52 milhon for the year ended December 31, 2007

Interest Expense The revaluation of our debt and capital lease obligations resulted in a decrease i interest expense due to the amortization of premums from
adjusting these obligations to fair value During 2007, $33 mullion 1n future premuem credits were accelerated in connection with accountng for (1) the amendment to
our
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spare parts credit facilrty (the “Spare Parts Loan™) with General Electric Capital Corporation (“GECC’ ) and (2) the prepayment of certan secured debt with the
proceeds from the sale of $1 4 billion of Pass Through Certificates, Senes 2007-1 (the “2007-1 Certificates™) As a result, mnterest expense decreased by $70 mullion for
the year ended December 31, 2007

Other Fresh Start Adpustments We recorded other Fresh Start Adjustments relating primanty to the revaluauon of our awrcraft leases These adjustments
mereased operating expense by $19 million and non-operating expense by $3 million for the year ended December 31 2007

Share-Based Compensation Expense

Upon emergence from bankrupicy and i connection with cur Plan of Reorgamization, we adopted a new compensation program which was approved by the
Bankruptcy Court for our approximately 1,200 officers, director level employees and other management personnel (the “Management Program™) Under the
Management Program, officers recerved restnicted stock, stock options and performance shares, director-level employees received restricted stock and stock options,
and other management personnel recerved restncted stock Durmg the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the total compensation expense related to the
Management Program was $109 million

Accounting Adjustments

Durmg 2006, we tecorded certam out-of-perod adjustments (*Accounting Adjustments™) m our Consolidated Financial Statements that affect the comparability
of our results for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 These adjustments resuited 1n a net non-cash charge approximating $310 million to our
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2006, consisting of

. A $112 mulhon charge m landmg fees and other rents This adjustment 15 associated primanly with our awrport facility leases at New York-JFK It
resulted from historical differences associated with recordmg escalating rent expense based on actal rent payments mstead of on a straight-line basts
over the lease term as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No 13, “Accounting for Leases ”

. A $108 mulhon net charge related to the sale of mmleage creduts under our SkyMules frequent flyer program This mncludes an $83 mullion decrease m
passenger revenue, a $106 million decrease in other, net revenue, and an $81 rillion decrease i other operating expense This net charge primanly
resulted from the reconsideration of our positton with respect to the tummg of recognizing revenue associated with the sale of mileage credits that we
expect will never be redeemed for ravel

‘ A $90 mullion charge m salaries and related costs to adjust our accrual for postemployment healthcare benefits This adjustment 1s due to healthcare
payments apphed to this accrual over several years, which should have been expensed as mcurred

We believe the Accounting Adjustments, considered mdividually and 1n the aggregate, are not matenal to our Consolidated Fimancial Statements for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 In makmg this assessment, we considered qualitative and quantitative factors, mcluding our substantial net loss n these years, the
non-cash nature of the Accounting Adjustments, our substantial shareowners’ deficit at the end of these years and our status as a debtor-m-possession under Chapter 11
of the Bankruptcy Code durmng these years

Reclassifications
Upon emergence and as a result of fresh start reporting, we changed the classification of certam 1tems on our Consolidated Statements of Operations We also
rectassified prior perod amounts to conform to current period presentations These changes have no impact on operating or net mcome n any penod prior or

subsequent to our emergence from bankruptcy For more mformation about these reclassifications, see Note 2 of the Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements
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Sale of ASA

On September 7, 2005, we sokd Atlanuc Southeast Airlines, Inc (“*ASA™), our wholly owned subsidiary to SkyWest, Inc {*SkyWest") After the sale, the
revenue and expense related to our contract carner agreement with ASA are reported as regional affiliales passenger revenue and contract carrier arrangements,
respectively m our Consoludated Statements of Operations Prior to the sale expenses related to ASA were reported m the apphcable expense line item  our
Consolidated Statements of Operations For additional mformaton on the sale of ASA, see Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Fmanctal Statements
Combmed Results of Operations—2007 Compared to 2006
Net Income (Lass)

We had consohdated net mcome of $1 6 billion for 2007, and a consolidated net loss of $6 2 bulhior for 2006 The results for 2007 mclude a $1 2 billion gain
from reorganization items, net, primanly reflecting a $2 { bilhon gain in connection with our emergence from bankruptcy The results for 2006 include (1) a $6 2 billion
charge to reorgantzation ttems, net, (2) 2 $310 million charge associated with the Accounting Adjustments discussed above and (3) a $765 million tmcome tax benefit

discussed below

Operating Revenue

Combined Predecessor
Year Ended Year Ended %
December 31, December 31, [ocrease Increase
{in muthions) 2007 2006 {Decrease) {Decrease)
Operating Revenue
Passenger
Mamhne $ 12,758 s 11,640 5 1118 10 %
Regional affiliates 4,170 3,853 317 8%
Total passenger revenue 16,928 15,493 1,435 9%
Cargo 482 498 (16) (3)%
Other, net 1,744 1 541 203 13%
Total operating revenue $ 19 154 3 17,532 $ 1,622 9%

Operating revenue totaled $1% 2 billion for 2007, a $1 6 hllion, or 9%, increase compared to 2006 Passenger revenue increased 9% on a 3% merease m
avatlable seat miles (“ASMs"), or capacity, and a 1 9 pomnt wcrease in load factor The increase in passenger revenue reflects a nse of 4% and 7% 1n passenger mile
yield and passenger revenue per available seat nule (“PRASM”), respectively Mammlime passenger revenue increased primartly due to (1) strong passenger demand,

(2) our wcreased service to more profitable mternational destinauons, (3) increased SkyMiles revenue assoctated with Fresh Start Adjustments discussed above and

{4) the negative impact of Accounting Adjustments recorded in 2006 as discussed above Passenger revenue of regional affiliates increased primanly due to increased
flying by our contract carmers, which resulted m an 8% mncrease n revenue passenger miles (“RPMs™), or traffic, on 7% greater capacity Other, net revenue mcreased
primanly due to (1) mncreased SkyMiles revenue due to a change m accounting methodology and Fresh Stant Adjustments discussed above, (2) mereased admmistrative
service charges and baggage handling fees, (3} growth m aircraft mamtenance and staffing services to third parties and (4) the negative impact of Accounting
Adjustments recorded 1n 2006 as discussed above

locrease (Decrease)

Combined Year Ended December 31, 2007 vs 2006
Year Ended Passenger
December 31, Passenger Wile Load
{in milbons) 2007 Revenue RP M3 ASMs Yield FRASM Factor
Passenger Revenue
North Amenca s 12,062 3% — % (3)% 3% 7% 25pts
International 4,745 28% 17% 16% 9% 1% 10 pts
Charter 121 1% 21% 12% (1% {N% 32pts
Total passenger revenue $ 16928 9% 5% 3% 4% 7% 19 pts
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North American Passenger Revenue North Amencan passenger revenue increased 3%, dnven by a 2 5 pownt mcrease m load factor and a 7% mcrease m
PRASM on a 3% decline n capacity The passenger mule yreld ncreased 3% The mcreases in passenger revenue and PRASM reflect (1) strong passenger demand and
(2} revenue and network productivity improvements, including nght-sizing capacity to better meet customer demand and the continued restructuning of our route
network to reduce less productive short haul domestic flights and reallocate widebody awrcraft to international routes As a resuli of our efforts to nght-size capacity i
domestic markets, we increased flying by our contract carriers

International Passenger Revenue Internattonal passenger revenue ncreased 28%, generated by a 17% mcrease n RPMs on a 16% increase in capacity and an
11% mcrease m PRASM The passenger tle yield mcreased 9% These resulis reflect increases n service to more profitable international destinations, primartly m the
Atlantic and Latin Amenca markets, from the restructuring of our route network Our mix of domesuc versus internauonal capacity was 67% and 33%, respectrvely, for
2007, compared to 71% and 29%, respectvely, for 2006

Operating Expense
Combined Predecessor
Year Ended Year Ended Yo
December 31, December 31 Increase Increase

{in mllrons) 2007 1006 (Decrease) {Decrease}
Operating Expense
Awrcraft fuel and related taxes $ 4,686 $ 4,433 b3 253 6%
Salanes and related costs 4,189 4,365 (176) {4)%
Contract cammeer arrangements 3,152 2,656 496 19%
Depreciation and amortization 1,164 1,276 (112) (9%
Contracted services 996 918 78 2%
Arrcraft mamntenance matenals and outside repaurs 983 921 62 T%
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 933 888 45 5%
Landing fees and other rents 725 881 (156) (18)%
Passenger service 338 332 6 1%
Atrcraft remt 246 316 (70) (22)%
Profit sharng 158 — 158 NM
Restructuring, asset writedowns, penston settlements and related ems, net — 13 (13) {100Y%
Other 488 475 13 3%

Total operating expense $ 18,058 $ 17,474 S 584 3%

Operating expense was $18 | billion for 2007, a $584 mullion, or 3%, increase compared to 2006 Operating capacity mcreased 3% to 151 8 billion ASMs due
maindy to mcreases m service to mternational destinations, pnmanly 1n the Atlantic and Latin Arnetica markets from the restructurmg of our route network and higher
contract camer flying from our mitiatives to nght-size capacity Cost per available seat mile ( ‘CASM”™) increased 1% to L1 90¢

Awrcrafl fuel and related taxes Awcraft fuel and related taxes increased pnmanly due to higher average fuel prices and imcreased Mamline consumption These
increases were partially offset by gains on our firel hedging derivatives Fuel prices averaged $2 21 per gallon, including fuel hedge gams of $51 miilion, for 2007,
compared to $2 10 per gallon, ncluding fuel hedge losses of $108 million, for 2006

Salaries and related costs The decrease in salaries and related costs reflects a declme of (1) $382 million due to benefit cost reductions for our pilot and non-
pilot employees and (2) $90 mithon due to a charge during 2006 associated with Accounting Adjustments discussed above These decreases were partally offset by
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(1} expense associated with share-based compensation and (2) an 8% increase in Manlme headcount due to our expansion at New York-JFK and our assumption of
ASA ramp operations m Atlanta

Contract carrier arrangemenis Contract carrier arrangements expense mereased due to a 16% growth m contract carnier flying from our business plan immtatives
to night-size capacity in domestic markets and due to ligher average fuel prices Fuel pnices for our contract carriers averaged $2 37 per gallon for 2007, compared to
$2 22 per gallon for 2006

Deprecianon and amortizanon Depreciation expense decreased pnmarily due to (1) a lower depreciable asset base resulting from $127 mullion in Fresh Start
Adjustments discussed above and (2) 2006 adjustments to accelerate depreciation on certam hiuted life parts and awrcrafl. These decreases were partially offset by
amortization expense of $146 rmlhon related to mtangibles created tn connection with the Fresh Start Adjustments discussed above

Contracted services The increase in contracted services 1s primanly due to (1) higher outsourcing related to information technology, cargo handhing services and
our avcraft cleanmg services, (2) international expansion and (3} New York-JFK facility improvements

Landing fees and other rents Landing fees and other rents decreased prnmanty due to a charge recorded i 2006 associated with Accountmg Adjustments
discussed above and due to benefits of restructuning certain contracts and lease obligations n bankruptey

Aircraft Rent The decline i aircraft rent expense 15 primanly due (o the renegotiation and rejection of certamn leases in connection with our restructuring under
Chapter |1 and Fresh Start Adjustments discussed above

Profit sharing Our broad-based employee profit shanng plan provides that, for each year m which we have an annual pre-tax profit (as defined), we will pay at
least 15% of that profit to eligible employees Based on our pre-tax camings, we accrued $158 milhion under the profit sharing plan for 2007

Operating Income and Operating Margin

We reported operating income of $1 1 billion and $58 muthon for 2007 and 2006, respectively Operating margin, which 1s the ratio of operating mcome to
operating revenues, was 6% and less than 1% for 2007 and 2006, respectively

Other (Expense) Income

Other expense, net for 2007 was $492 mullion, compared to $820 million for 2006 This change 1s substantially attributable to (1} 2 25% or $218 muilion, net
decrease 1 interest expense primarily due to the repayment of the DIP Facility in connection with our emergence from Chapter 11 and Fresh Start Adjustments
discussed above partially offset by interest expense on borrowngs under a semor secured exit financing facility, which we entered mto m conjunction with our
emergence from bankruptcy (the “Exit Facilities™), (2} a $59 mullion increase wn interest income primanly from interest earned due to bankruptcy imtiatives that was
classified within reorgamzation rtems, net, m 2006 and (3} a $51 mullion mcrease to miscellaneous, net, primanly related to fuel hedge losses n 2006 and foreign
currency gans i 2007 due to an increased number of transactions denominated m foreign currencies
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Reorganization items, Net

Reorgamization items, net totaled 2 $1 2 brlhon gain for 2007, pnmanly consisung of the following

Emergence gain A net $2 1 billion gamn due to our emergence from bankruptcy, compnsed of (1) 2 $4 4 billion garmn related to the discharge of
habilities subject to compromise i connection with the settlement of claims, (2) a $2 6 billion charge associated with the revaluation of our SkyMiles
frequent flyer obbgation and (3) a $238 mullion gain from the revaluaton of our remaming assets and habikties to fair value For additional
mformation regarding this emergence gamn, see Note | of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Arrcraft financing renegoations and rejections A $440 mulhion charge for estimated claims primanly associated with the restructunng of the
financing arrangements for 143 awrcraft and adjustments to prior claims ¢stimates

Contract carrier agreements A net charge of $163 mullion in connection with amendments to certam contract carner agreements For addmional
mformation regarding this charge and our contract camer agreements, see Notes 1 and 8, respectively of the Notes to the Consohdated Financial
Statements

Emergence compensation In accordance with the Plan of Reorganization, we made $130 million in lump-sum cash payments to approxunately 39,000
eligtble non-contract, non-management employees We also recorded an addional charge of $32 mullion related to our portion of payroll related taxes
associated with the 1ssuance, as contemplated by the Plan of Reorganization of approximately 14 mllion shares of common stock to those employees
For additional information regardmg the common stock 1ssuance see Note 12 of the Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements

Pilot collective bargaiming agreement An 583 mullion allowed general, unsecured claim in connectron with the agreement between Comarr, Ine , our
wholly owned subsidiary (“Coman™), and ALPA to reduce Comair's pilot labor costs

Facility leases A net $43 milhon gain, which primanly reflects (1) a $126 million net gan related to our settlement agreement with the Massachusetts
Port Authortty partially offset by (2) a net $80 million charge from an allowed general unsecured claim in connection with the settlernent relating to
the restructunng of certam of our lease and other obligations at the Cincinnati Awport For additional mformation regarding these matters, see Notes 1,
6 and 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Reorgamzation 1tems, net totaled a $6 2 billron charge for 2006, pnmanly consisting of the followng

Pilot pension rernunanon $2 2 illion and $801 tulhion allowed general, unsecured claimns in connection with our settlement agreements with the
PBGC and a group representing retired pilots, respectively Charges for these claims were offset by $1 3 bilhon 1n settlement gains associated with the
derecognition of the previously recorded obligations for the qualified defined benefit penston plan for pilots (the “Pilot Plan™) and the related pilot
non-qualified plans upon the termination of these plans For additional information regarding these settlement agreements and the termmation of these
plans, see Note 10 of the Notes to the Conscohdated Financral Statements

Pilot colfective bargaiming agreement A $2 1 billion allowed general unsecured clamm in connection with our comprehensive agreement with ALPA
reducmg our pilot labor costs

Arreraft financing renegottanons and rejections A $1 7 billron charge for estimated claims associated with restructunng the financing arrangements
for 188 awrcraft and the rejection of 16 aircraft leases

Retiree healthcare benefit claims A §539 nmullion charge for allowed general, unsecured claims in connection with agreements that we reached with
commuttees representing both pilot and non-pilot retired employees reducing thetr postretirement healthcare benefits For additional mformation
regarding thts matter, see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements
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Income Tax (Provision) Benefit

For 2007, we recorded an mcome tax provision {otaling $207 milion We have recorded a fitll valuation allowance agamst our net deferred tax assets, excluding
the effect of the deferred tax ltabilites that are unable to be used as a source of mcome agamst these deferred tax assets, based on our belief that 1t ts more likely than
not that the asset will not be realized in the future We will continue to assess the need for a full valuanon allowance m future pertods [n accordance with SOP 90-7, the
reduction of the valuation allowance associated wrth the reahzation of pre-emergence deferred tax assets will sequentially reduce the value of our recorded goodwall
followed by other indefinite-lived intangible assets untl the net carrying cost of these assets 1s zero Accordingly, during 2007, we reduced goodwitl by $211 mllion
with respect to the realization of preemergence deferred tax assets

For 2006, we recorded an mcome tax benefit totalng $765 miilion The amount primanily reflects a decrease to our deferred tax asset valuation allowances from
the reversal of accrued penston habihties associated with the Pilot Plan and piiot non-quahfied plan obligattons upon each plan's termemauon

For additronal information about the income tax valuation allowance, see Note 9 of the Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements
Results of Operations—2006 Compared to 2005
Net Loss

Our consolidated net loss was $6 2 billion and $3 8 billion 1 2006 and 2005, respectively The resulis for 2006 mclude (1) a $6 2 billion charge to
reorgamization items, net, (2) a $310 million charge assocrated with the Accounting Adjustments discussed above and (3) a $765 mullion mcome tax benefit The results
for 2005 include an $888 nullion charge to restructuring, asset writedowns, pension settlements and related 1tems, net, and an $884 muihion charge to reorganization

items, net

Operating Revenue

Predecessor
Year Ended Ve
December 31 Increase Increase
(0 mulhions) 2006 2005 (Decrease} {Decrease)
Operating Revenoe
Passenger
Mamnlne $ 11640 $ 11,367 $ 273 2%
Regional affiliates 31,853 3,225 628 19 %
Total passenger revenue 15493 14,592 901 6%
Cargo 498 524 (26) {5)%
Other, net 1541 1,364 177 13%
Total operating revenue § 17532 S 16,480 $ 1,052 6%

Operating revenue totaled $17 5 bullion for 2006 a $1 1 billion, or 6%, increase compared to 2005 Passenger revenue increased 6%, while capacity decreased
6% The increase i passenger revenue 1s due to a nise of 10% and 12% m passenger mile yiekl and PRASM, respectively, from fare mcereases that reflect strong
passenger demand as well as actions we took durmg our Chapter 11 proceedings to achieve revenue and network productivilty improvements Passenger revente and
other, net revenue were negatively impacted by Accounting Adjustments discussed above Passenger revenue of regional affiliates mncreased due to (1) a change in how
we classify ASA's revenue as a result of1ts sale to SkyWest and (2) new contract carrier agreements with Shuttle Amenca Corporation (“Shuttle America™) and
Freedom Arrhnes, Inc (“Freedom™), effective September 1, 2005
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and October 1, 2005, respectuvely Other net revenue increased pnimanly due to mcreased Skymules revenue due to a change in accounting methodology and growth m
our arcrzft maintenance m-sourcing business

Increase (Decrease)
} car Ended December 31, 2006 vs 1005

Predecessor
Year Ended Passenger
December 31, Pasgsenger Mule Load
(in millions) 1006 Revenue RPMs ASMs Yield PRASM Factor
Passenger Revenue
North America $ 11,678 2% (10)% (13)% 14% 18% 28 pts
International 3,695 23% 2G% 21% 2% 2% (0 6)pts
Charter revenue 120 2% (21Y% (9y% 28% 12% (5 3pts
Total passenger revenue b 15,493 £% (3)% (0)% 10% 12% 20 pts

North American Passenger Revenue North Amencan passenger revenue increased 2%, dnven by a 14% increase in passenger mule yield and a 2 8 point increase
m load factor, which were partially offset by a 13% decline in capacity PRASM mcreased 18% The dechne mn capacity, partially offset by the increase m load factor,
resulted in a 10% decline in RPMs The mcreases i passenger revenue, passenger mile yield and PRASM reflect (1) fare mcreases implemented as part of the improved
mdustry revenue environment and {2) the positive impact of our strategic imtiatives, including nght-sizing capacity to better meet customer demand and increasing
poimnt-to-pomt flying and simphfymng our domestic hubs to achieve a greater focal traffic mix

International Passenger Revenue Internahional passenger revenue increased 23%, generated by a 20% wncrease in RPMs from a 21% increase n capacity The
passenger mile yield and PRASM both increased by 2% These results reflect increases m service to international destmatons, primanly in the Atlanuc and Latmn
Amenca markets, from the restructuning of our route network Qur mix of domestic versus mternational capacity was 71% and 29%, respectively, for 2006, compared
to 77% and 23%, respectively, for 2005

Operating Expense

Predecessor .

Year Ended Increase Increase

December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease)
{tn mullions) 2006 2005
Operating Expense
Arrcraft fuel and related taxes $ 4433 $ 4466 $ (33) (H%
Salanes and related costs 4365 5,290 (925) (1%
Contract camer arrangements 2,656 1,318 1,338 102 %
Depreciation and amortization 1276 1,273 3 — %
Contracted services 918 936 (18) (2) %
Arrcraft mamtenance matenals and outside repatrs 921 893 28 3%
Passenger commssions and other selling expenses 888 948 (60) (6)%
Landing fees and other rents 881 878 3 — %
Passenger service i 348 (16) (5)%
Arrcraft rent 316 543 (227) (42)%
Restructunng, asset wntedowns, pension settlements and related items, net 13 888 (875 {99)%
Other 475 700 (225) (32)%

Total operating expense 5 17474 5 18,481 $ (1007 (5)%
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Operating expense was $17 5 ballien for 2006, 2 $1 0 ballion, or 5%, decrease compared to 2005 Operating capacity decreased 6% to 143 0 bilbon ASMs
pnumanly due to the reduction of our awrcraft fleet as part of our busmess plan mitiatives CASM remamed relatively constantat 11 80¢

Awrcraft fuel and related taxes Aucraft fuel and related taxes remained relauvely constant due to reduced consumption despite higher fuel prices Our average
fuel price per gallon mcreased 17% to $2 10 Fuel gallons consumed decreased 15% primanly due to a reduction in Mamline capacity and our sale of ASA As a result
of this sale ASA’s fuel gallons are no longer part of our fuel gallons consumed Awrcraft fuel expense mcludes fuel hedge losses of $108 mllion i 2006 We had no
fuel hedge gams or losses in 2005

Salartes and related costs The decrease in salanes and related costs pnmanly reflects an 11% dechne due to lower Mamnlime headcount and our sale of ASA,
and an 8% decrease from salary rate and benefit cost reductions for our pilot and non-pilot employees, partially offset by Accounting Adjustments discussed above

Contract carrier arrangements Contract carmer arangements expense mereased primanly due to a 73% increase from the change in how we classify ASA’'s
expense as a result of 1ts sale to SkyWest and an 18% mcrease from new contract carrier agreements with Shuttle America and Freedom

Landing fees and other rents Landmng fees and other rents remained relatively constant due to (1) a 4% decrease from the change in how we classify ASA's
expense as a result of its sale to SkyWest and (2) a net 4% decrease due to our shifing of capacity from domestic to internatonal offset by Accounting Adjustments
discussed above

Atrcraf rent The dechine 1n arrcraft rent expense 1s pnmarily due to 2 29% decrease from the renegotation and rejection of certain leases n connection with our
restructuring efforts and an 8% decrease from the change in how we classify ASA’s expense as a result of 1ts sale to SkyWest

Restructuring asset writedowns pension settlements and related wems net For 2006, restructuring, asset writedowns, pension settlements and related items, net
totaled a $13 mulhon charge, primanly due to the followng

. Workforce Reductton A $29 million charge related to our decision i 2005 to reduce staffing by approximately 7 000 to 9,000 jobs by December 2007
This charge was partially offset by a $21 million reduction m accruals associated with prior year workforce reduction programs

For 2005 restructurmg, asset wnitedowns, pension settlements and related stems, net totaled an $888 nullion charge consisting of the following

. Pension curtatlment charge A $447 million curtailment charge related to the Pilot Plan and the qualified defined benefit pension plan for ehgible non-
pilot employees and retirees (the “Non-Pilot Plans™) This charge relates to the freeze of service accruals under the Pilot Plan effective December 31,
2004 and the umpact of the planned reduction of 6,000 to 7,000 jobs announced in November 2004 on the Non-Pilot Plan {see Note 10 of the Notes to
the Consohdated Financial Statements)

. Pension settlements $388 mullion n settlement charges primarily related to the Pilot Plan due to a sigmificant increase  pilot retrements and lump
sum distributions from plan assets (see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements)

. Workforce reduction A $46 mtlhon charge related to our decision in 20035 to reduce staffing by approximately 7,000 o 9,600 jobs by December 2007
This charge was partially offset by a net $3 mulhon reduction m accruals associated with prior year workforce reduction programs

. Asset charges A $10 mllion charge related to the removal from service of six B-737-200 awrcraft prior to ther lease expiration dates
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Other The decrease 1n other operating expense primarily reflects (1} a 13% decrease due to an adjustment related to certamn non-income tax reserves, {2} a 12%
decrease from the Accounting Adjustments discussed above and (3) a 10% decrease related to the change in how we classify ASA’s expense as aresult of 11s sale to
SkyWest

Operating Income (Loss) and Operating Margin

We reported operatmg mcome of $58 mullron for 2006, compared to an operating loss of $2 0 billion for 2005 Operaung margin, which 15 the ratio of operatmg
mcome (loss) to operating revenue, was less than 1% and (12%) for 2006 and 2005, respectively

Other (Expense) Income

Other expense, net was $820 million for 2006, compared to $974 mullien for 2005 Thss change 1s substantially attmbutable to (1} a 16%, or $162 mtlhon,
decrease 1n interest expense primanly due to a $206 million decrease associated with the accounting treatment of certain interest charges under our Chapter 11
proceedings n zccordance with SOP 90-7 (see Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements), parually offset by a $97 mulhon increase from a higher
level of debt outstanding and higher interest rates and {2) a $19 mullion increase to ruscellaneous, net, pnmarily related to the meflective portion of our fuel hedge
positions

Reorganizauon Items, Net

Reorgamization nems, net totaled a $6 2 billion charge for 2006 For addmonal information about these items, see ‘Combined Results of Operations—2007
Compared to 2006 "

Reorganization ntems, net totaled an $884 nultion charge for 2005, pnmanly consisting of the following

. Atreraft financing renegotianons rejections and repossessions A $611 million charge for estimated clauns associated with restructunng the financing
arrangements for seven aircraft, the rejection of 50 awrcraft leases and the repossesston of 15 arcraft.

. Debt issuance and discount costs A $163 million charge assocrated with the write-off of certain debt 1ssuance costs and discounts in conjunction with
the valuation of our unsecured and undersecured debt

. Facility leases An $88 mullion charge for estimated claims m connection with the rejection of certan unexprred facility leases and the related bond
obligations
Income Tax Benefit

For 2006 we recorded an mcomne tax benefit totaling $765 million The amount primarily reflects a decrease to our deferred tax asset valuation allowances from
the reversal of accrued penston habilittes associated with the Pilot Plan and pilot nen-qualified plan obhgations upon each plan s termmation

For 2005, we recorded an mcome tax benefit totaling $41 mullion The amount 1s pnmarily the result of a $1 6 ballion adjustment to cur deferred tax asset
valuation allowance due to mcreases in the deferred tax asset related 10 our addironal mimimum pension hiability and net operating less carryforwards

For addrtional mformation about the imncome tax valuation allowance, see Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Fmancizl Condition and Liquidity
We expect 1o meet our cash needs for 2008 from cash flows from operations, cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments and financing arrangements

We also have an undrawn $1 0 billion revolving credut facility that is a part of our Exat Facilines Our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were 52 §
billion at December 31, 2007, compared o $2 6 billion at December 31, 2006
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Significant Liqudity Events

Sigruficant hquidity events dunng 2007 were as follows

We entered into the Exat Facilities to borrow up to $2 5 biilion from a syndicate of lenders We used a portion of the proceeds from the Exit Facihities
and existing cash to repay the DIP Factlity Our Exat Facihities nclude certain affirmative, negative and financial covenants We were in compliance
with these covenants at December 31 2007

We completed the sale of $1 4 bilhion of the 2007-1 Certificates The proceeds from this transaction were primantly used to prepay $961 milhen of
existing awrcrafi-secured financing, effectuvely lowenng the nterest rate and deferring more than $560 mmllion m maturtties ongmally due in 2040 and
2011 The additional proceeds of $449 mullion are available for general corporate purposes

We finded $875 mullion associated with two bankruptcy-related ebligations 1n accordance with our comprehensive agreement with ALPA and our
settlement agreement with the PBGC

We entered mie an amendment to our Visa'MasterCard credit card processing agreement (the “Amended Processing Agreement’ ) that, among other
things, resulted 1n the release by the credit card processor of the then exasting $804 mulhon cash reserve under the agreement and extended the term of
the agreement to October 31, 2008

We entered into an amendment to the Spare Parts Loan with GECC As a result of this amendment, among other things, the outstanding principal
amount under the Spare Parts Loan was increased to $415 mllion, providing an mcremental $181 million in proceeds, and the inierest rate we pay
under this facility was reduced

We entered into an agreement to borrow up to $233 mulhon to finance certam pre-delivery payments payable by us to Boemg with respect to future
delivenies of 10 B-737-700 awrcraft and eight B-777-200LR awrcraft

Qur wholly owned subsidiary, Comair, entered mto a long-term debt agreement to borrow up to $290 mulhon to finance the acquisition of 14 CRJ-900
aircraft We have provided a guarantee to the lender covering payment on behalf of Comair mn the event of default Our obhigations under this debt
agreement are sccured by the undertymg awrcrafi. As of December 31 2007 $160 mullion of borrowings were outstanding with respect to delivery of
eight areraft

For additional mformation about these events, see Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Combined Sources and Uses of Cash

Cash flows from aperating activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $1 4 bathon and $993 million 1n 2007 and 2006, respectively Cash flows from operaung activities in 2007 reflect
$875 mulhon 1n cash used under the Pian of Reorganization to satisfy bankruptcy-related obligations under our comprehensive agreement with ALPA and settlement
agreement with the PBGC Cash flows from operating activities during 2007 alse reflect (1) the release of $804 million from restricted cash under the Amended
Processing Agreement, (2} revenue and network productivity improvements, including right-sizing capacity to better meet customer demand and the contmued
restructuning of our route network to reduce less productive short haul domestic flights and reallocate widebody arrcrafi o mtemnational routes and (3) a $476 mullion
decrease in short-term nvestments primanly from sales of auction rate secunties

Cash flows provided by operaung activities in 2006 reflect an merease of $401 rmillhion m workmg capital compared to 2005 This wncrease was primanly a result
of revenue and network productivity improvements, restructuring mitiatives and labor cost reductions implemented duning our Chapter 11 proceedings and an
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mproved revenue environment. Qur 2006 cash flows from operating activities also include a S 6 million decrease i our restnicted cash balance pnmantly duetoa
release of cash from restncted to operating under agreements we reached with certamn vendors In 2005, our restricted cash balance mcreased sigmificantly pnmanly due
to cash holdbacks under our Visa/MasterCard credit card processing agreement.

Cash flows from investng activities

Cash used n investing acuvities totaled $625 million and $361 nullion for 2007 and 2006, respectively Cash used m mvesting activittes in 2007 reflects an
merease n investrnent of $545 mullion for flight equipment and advanced payments for arcraft commatments and $78 mullhon for ground property and equipment
Durmg 2007, restnicted cash decreased by $185 million In addition, we received $34 mllion and $83 milhion from the sale of our investments 1n pricelne com
Incorporated and ARINC Incorporated, respectively

Cash used n investing activities totaled $361 mllion for 2006, compared to cash provided by investing activittes of $22 mullion for 2005 This change reflects a
$401 mllion decrease m cash used for the purchase of flight and ground equipment m 2006 Qur 2005 cash flows from investing activities mmclude $842 mallion in
proceeds from our sale of ASA and certamn flight equipment

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash used n financing activities totaled $120 milhon and $606 mullron for 2007 and 2006, respectively Cash used in financing activities in 2007 prumarily
reflects (1) the repayment of the DIP Facility with a portion of the proceeds available under the Exit Facilittes and existing cash, (2) the prepayment of $863 milhon of
secured debt with a portion of the proceeds from the sale of the 2007-1 Certificates and (3) scheduled principal payments on long-term debt and capital lease
obhgations Dunng 2007, we also recerved proceeds from an amendment to the Spare Parts Loan, as discussed above

Cash used i financing activities totaled $606 mullion for 2006, compared to cash provided by fimancing activities of $830 mullion for 2005 This change 1s
primanly due to the net proceeds we recerved under the DIP Facility shortly after our Chapter 11 filing i 2005 While in Chapter 11, we ceased making payments on
our unsecured debt

Contractual Obhgations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 that relate to debt, operating leases, arrcraft order commitments, capitat
leases contract carmer obligatons other matenal, noncancelable purchase obligations and other commutments The table does not mclude commtments that are
contingent on events or other factors that are uncertain or unknown at this time, some of which are discussed i footnotes to this table and n the text immediately

following the footnotes

Cantractuzl Obligations by Year

(in millsons} 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 .;;tle; Total

Long-term debt® $ 1478 $ 1,035 § 1,857 & 1,588 % 1,567 § 3964 S 11489
Operating lease payments'? 1,231 1,062 969 824 758 3,854 8,698
Arrcraft order commitments® 1,295 1,248 712 — — — 3,255
Caprtal lease obligations* 128 125 125 118 84 112 692
Contract carrier obligations® 2411 2,520 2,575 2,514 2,458 13,978 26,516
Other purchase obligations* 161 69 60 50 36 14 390
Other commitments™ 41 40 40 40 40 20 221
Totak» $ 6745 $ 6099 $ 6338 S 5,194 §$ 4943 $ 21942 § 517261

im.eres! payzents mﬁﬁ to iung tenn aegt are mciuﬁ m ﬁie taﬁe iﬁe pnnupai poriion Di ﬁﬁu nﬁilgauons 15 I.I"K‘juﬁ mn our Enmﬁﬁua ﬁaﬁﬁ EENB fsumala amounts iDI’ ii“ll’e nterest ﬁ
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related payments in connecuon with our long term debt obligations are based on the fixed and vanable interest rates specified 1n the associated debt agreements Estimates on vanable rate mterest were
cakeulated using imphed short term LIBOR based on LIBOR at December 31, 2007 Also included i the table are other debi-related payments which represent credit enhancements requred tn
conuncton with certan financing agreements

Thus amount includes pur noncancelable operating leases and our lease payments related to arcrafl under eur contact carmer agreements with ASA Chautauqua, Expressiet Aulines Inc
(“Expresslet”) Freedom, Pinnacle Arbines Inc ("Punnacle”}, Shuttle Amenca and SkyWest Awhines
For addmiceal informeation regarding our atrcraft order comumments, see Note § of the Notes 10 the Consolidated Financial Statements

Interest payments related to capital lease obligatnons are mnctuded 1n the table The present value of these obliganons luding mnterest, ts mcluded on our C hdated Balance Sheets

This amoumt represents our mmmum fixed oblig; under our camer
contract carmner lease payments accounted for as operatng leases)

Inctudes purchase obligations pursuant to which we are required 10 take muinunum payments for goods znd services encluding but not hmted to msurance, outsourced human resource services,
marketing, mamtenznce obligauons related 1o Comair 1echnology sponsorships and other thurd party services and products

Represents commutments to certam vendors for which we are obligated to generate specified amounts of revenue related to teket booking fees

gr with ASA, Chautauqua, Expresslet, Freedom, Pmnacke Shuttle Amenca and SkyWest Awrlmes {excludmg

In add to the 1 obl included tn the table we have sigmficant cash obligations that are not meluded m the table For example, we will pay wages required under collective
bargatnung agreements fund penston plans (as discussed below) purthase capacity under contract camer arrangements (28 diseussed below) settle tax contingency reserves {as discussed below) and
pay credit card processmg fees and fees for other goods and services mcluding those related to fise]l mamtenance #nd commussions While we are parties to legally binding contracts regarding these
£00ds and servaces the actual commutment s contingent on certamn factors such 2s volume and/or vanable rates that are uncertain or unknown at tus hme Therefore, these riems are ot included i the
table In additon, purchase orders made tn the ordinary cousse of business are excluded from the table and any amounts which we are hiable for under the purchase orders are inctuded 1o eurrent
kabihitres on our Consolidated Balance Sheets Payments under our prefit-shanng plan or pursuant to our 2007 Performance Comp 101 Plan are contmgent on factors unk at this ume and,
therefore are not included m this table

The following 1tems are not included m the table above

Pension Plans We sponsor qualified defined contnibution and defined benefit pension plans for ehigible employees and retirees Our funding obligattons for

these plans are governed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) Estimates of pension plan funding requirements can vary maternally from actual
funding requirements because the estumates are based on various assumptions, including those descnbed below

Defined Contribution Pension Plans { DC Plans ) Duning 2007, we contnbuted approximately $112 milhion to our DC Plans, which mclude the Delta Farmly-

Care Savings Plan and the Delta Pilots Defined Contribution Plan in additton to the $112 nullion contribution we paid approximately $61 million directly to
employees that otherwise would have been contributed to the DC Plans on their behalf, but for kmns smposed by the Internal Revenue Code on contnbutions to such
plans In 2008, we expect to contribute approxtmately $195 mulhon to our DC Plans or directly to employees once they reach the applicable Internal Revenue Code
himats
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans ( ‘DB Plans ") Durmg 2007, we contributed approximately $116 mullton to our DB Plans Under our settlement agreement with
the PBGC, the Pilot Plan was terminated effective September 2, 2006 1n addition, our non-qualified defined benefit pension plans for pilots were termunated effective
September 2, 2006

Effective December 31, 2005, future pay and service accruals under the Non-Pilot Plan were frozen Effective Apnl 1, 2007, we elected the alternative funding
schedule under Section 402(a)(1) of the Pension Protection Act of 2006 with respect to the Non-Pilot Plan We also rejected mn bankruptcy our non-qualhified defined
benefit plans for non-ptlot employees As a result, no further benefits will be paid from these non-qualified plans The Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows us to
teduce the funding obhigations for the Non-Pilot Plan over the next several years While this legislation makes our fundmg obligations for the Non-Pilot Plan more
predictable, factors outside our control will continue to have an impact on the fundmg requirements for that plan

Esumates of future funding requirements for the Non-Pilot Plan are based on various assumptions, including, ameong other things, the actual and projected
market performance of assets of the Non-Pilot Plan, statutory requirements, the terms of the Non-Pilot Plan, and demographic data for participants m the Non-Pilot
Plan, mcluding the number of participants and the rate of participant attritton

Assuming current funding miles, we estimate that the funding requirements under the Non-Pilot Plan for 2008 to 2012 will aggregate approximately $500
muilion

Contract Carrier Agreements We have long-term capacity purchase agreements with several regional arr camers Under these agreements, the carners operate
some or all of their awrcraft usmg our flight code, and we schedule those awrcrafi, sell the seats on those flights and retamn the related revenue We pay those arrlines an
amount, as defined m the applhicable agreement, which 1s based on a determination of their cost of operating those flights and other factors intended to approximate
market rates for those services

Under these long-term capacity purchase agreements, we are obligated to pay certain munmmum fixed obhigations, which are included i the table above The
remaimng estumated expense 15 not included 1n the table because this expense 1s contingent based on the costs associated with the operation of contract camner flights by
those air carniers as well as rates that are unknown at this time We cannot reasonably estimate at this tume our expense under the contract carmer agreements m 2008
and thereafier

For information regarding payments we may be required to make mn connection with certam termunations of our capacity purchase agreements with Chautauqua
and Shuttle Amenca, see “Contingencies Related te Termmation of Contract Carmer Agreements 1 Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FIN 48 We adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007 The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits on the Conschdated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2007 15 $143
milion We have accrued $54 million for the payment of mnterest and $8 mullion for the payment of penalties related to these unrecognized tax benefits

We are currently under audit by the Intemnal Revenue Service for the 2005 and 2006 tax vears
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It 1s reasonably possible that during 2008 the settlement of bankauptcy claums will result 1n significant changes to the amount of unrecognrzed tax benefits on the
Consoclidated Balance Sheet We cannot presently estimate the range of the reasonably possible cutcomes

Legal Conningencies We are mvolved m vanous legal proceedings relating to employment practices, environmental 1ssues and other matters concerning our
business We cannot reasonably estimate the potential loss for certam legal proceedings because, for example, the htigation 1s i its early stages or the plaintiff does not
specify the damages being sought

Other Connngent Obligations under Contracts In addition te the contractual obligations discussed above, we have certamn contracts for goods and services that
require us 1o pay a penalty, acquire nventory specific to us or purchase contract specific equipment, as defined by each respecuve contract, 1f we termnate the contract
without cause pnor to 115 expiration date Because these obhigations zre contingent on our termnation of the contract without cause prior to its expration date, no
obhigation would exist unless such a termenatton occurs

For additronal information about other contingencies not discussed above, as well as information relaied to general mdemnificatons see Note 8 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Applieation of Critical Accounting Policies
Critical Accounning Estimates

The preparation of financial statements 1n conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 1n the United States of America requires management to
make certan esumates and assumptions We pertodically evaluate these esumates and assumptions, which are based on historical expenence, changes m the business
environment and other factors that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ matenially from these estinates

Fresh-Start Reporang As previously noted, upon emergence from Chapter 1, we adopted fresh start reporting, which requured us to revalue our assets and
habilities to fair value In estmatmg fair value, we based our estumates and assumptions on the guidance prescnibed by SFAS No 157, “Far Value Measurements™
(“SFAS 157"}, which we were required to adopt m connection with our adoption of fresh start reporting SFAS 157, among other things, defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring farr value and expands disclosure about fair value measurements

To facilitate the calculation of the enterpnise value of the Successor, management developed a set of financial projections for the Successor using a number of
estimates and assumptions The enterprise and corresponding reorgamzation value of the Successor was based on financial projections using various valuation methods,
inchiding (1) a companson of our projected performance to the market values of comparable compames, (2) a review and analysis of several recent transactions n the
airhne industry, and (3) 2 calculation of the present value of future cash flows based on our prejections Utihizing these methodolopies, the reorgamization value of the
Successor was estimated to be 1 the range of $9 4 billion to $12 0 billion The enterpnse value, and corresponding reorganization value 1s dependent upon achieving
the future {inancial results set forth 1n our projections, as well as the realization of certam other assumptions There can be no assurance that the projections will be
achieved or that the assumptions will be realized The excess reorgamzation value (using the low end of the range) over the far value of tangible and denufiable
intangible assets, net of hiahlities, has been reflected as goodwill 1n the Fresh Start Consohdated Balance Sheet The financial projections and estumates of enterpnise
and reorganization value are not incorporated into this Form 10-K

All estimates, assumptions and financial projections, mcluding the farr value adjustments, the financial projections and the enterprise value and reorgamization
value projections, are inherently subject to significant uncertamties and the resolution of contingencies beyond our control Accordmngly, there can be no assurance that
the estimates, assumptions and financial projections will be realized, and actual results could vary materially
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For the 1mpact that the adoption of fresh start reporting had on our Consolidated Balance Sheet, see Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Frequent Flyer Program (the SkyMiles Program '} We have a frequent flyer program offering meentives to mcrease fravel on Delta This program allows
participants to eam muleage credits by flying on Deita, Delta Connection Carners and participating airhnes, as well as through participating companies such as credit
card compames, hotels and car rental agencies We also sell nuleage credits to other arrhines and to non-airline businesses Mileage credits can be redeemed for free or
upgraded arr travel on Delta and participating arlines, for membership in our Crown Room Club and for other program awards

As a result of the adoption of fresh start reporting upon emergence from bankruptey, we revalued our SkyMiles frequent flyer award hability to estimated fair
value The fair value of our SkyMiles frequent flyer award hability was determined based on the estimated price that therd parties would require us to pay for them to
assume the obligation for miles expected to be redeemed under the SkyMiles Program This estunated price was determined based on the weighted average equivalent
ticket value of a SkyMules award, redeemed for travel on Delta or a participating airhne The weighted average equivalent ucket value contemplates diffening classes of
service, domestic and mnternational itineranes and the camer providing the award travel At Apnl 30, 2007, we recorded deferred revenue equal to $0 0083 for each
mile we estimate will ulimately be redeemed under the SkyMiles Program

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, we changed our accountng policy to a deferred revenue model for all frequent flyer miles We now account for all miles
carned and sold as separate dehverables m a multiple element revenue arrangement as prescribed by EITF 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Muluple Deliverables

We use the residual method for revenue recogmition of mileage credis The fair value of the mileage credit component 15 determined based on the low end of the
range of the prices at which we sell mileage credits to other awrlmes, which price 1s currently $0 0054 per mile and will be re-evaluated annually Under the residual
method, the portion of the revenue from the sale of mileage credits that approximates fair value 15 deferred and recognized as passenger revenue when mles are
redeemed and services are provided based on the weighted average price of all rmles that have been deferred  The portion of the revenue recerved in excess of the fair
value, the marketing premium, 1s recogmized i mcome when the related services are provided and classified as other, net revenue

For mileage credhts which we estimate are not likely to be redeemed (“Breakage”), we recognize the associated value proportionaily during the period 1n which
the remaming mileage credits are expected to be redeemed The estimate of Breakage, which 1s currently 22% 15 based on histonical redemption patterns A change 1n
assumptions as to the period over which mileage credits are expected to be redeemed, the actual redemption activity for mileage credits or our estimate of the farr value
of mileage credrts expected to be redeemed could have a matenal impact on our revenue i the year in which the change occurs and in future years At December 31,
2007, the aggregate deferred revenue balance associated with the SkyMiles program was $3 3 bilhion A hypothetical 1% change 1n our outstanding number of mmles
estimated to be redeemed would result m a $27 mulhion 1mpact on our deferred revenue Lability

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Goodwill reflects the excess of the rearganization value of the Successor over the fair value of tangible and rdenufiable
mtangible assets, net of habilites, from the adoption of fresh start reporting We recorded $12 3 bullion of goodwill upen emergence from bankruptey

Identifiable mntangible assets consist pnmarily of trade name, takeofT and arrival slots SkyTeam alhance agreements, marketing agreements, customer
relattonships and certain contracts These intangible assets, excluding marketing agreements, customer relattonships and certain contracts, are indefinite-lived assets and
are not amortized Marketing agreements, customer relattonships and certamn contracts are definite-lived intangible assets and are amortized over the estimated
economic life of the respective agreements and contracts
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In accordance with SFAS No 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we apply a fair value-based nmpawrment test to the net book value of goodwill and
mdefinrte-lived intangible assets on an annual basis and, if certain events or circumstances indicate that an impamment loss may have been incurred, on an intenm basis
The annual impairment test date for our goodwill and mdefinite-hved intangible assets 1s October 1

In evaluaing our goodwall for imparrment, we first compare our one reportng unit's fair value to 1ts carrying value We estumate the farr value of our reporting
unt by constdering (1) our market caprtahization, (2) any premium to our market capitalization an mvestor would pay for a controlling interest (“Control Prermum™),
(3) the potenual value of synergies and other benefits that could result from such mterest, (4) market muluple and recent transactions values of peer compames and
(5) projected discounted future cash flows 1f reasonably estimable If the reporting unit’s fair value exceeds 1ts carrying value, no further testing 15 required If,
however, the reporting umit’s carrymg value exceeds its fair value, we then determine the amount of the imparment charge, 1fany We recognize an impairment charge
i the camrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its imphied {air value

We perform the impairment test for our mdefinite-lived mtangible assets by comparing the asset’s faw value to its camrying value Fair value 1s estimated based
on recent market transactions where available or projected discounted future cash flows We recognize an imparrment charge 1f the asset’s carrying value exceeds its
estimated fair value

At October 1, 2007, we performed the annual required impairment test of our goodwill and indefinite-lived mntangsble assets, which resulted in no tmparrment
charge For both goodwill and indefinite-hved mtangible assets, changes 1n assumptions or circumstances, mcluding, but not limuted to, (1) long-term negative trends in
our market capatalization, (2) continued escalauon of fuel prices, (3} interruption to our operations due to employee stnke, terronst attack, etc andfor (4) consohdation
of competitors within the wndustry, which are not offset by other factors such as improved yield or an increase in Control Premiums, could result in an rmpairment tn the
year m which the change occurs and 1 future years For additional mformation about our accounting pohcy for poodwall and other intangible assets, see Notes 2 and 5
of the Notes o the Consolidated Financtal Statements

Long-Lived Assets Our fhght equipment and other long-lived assets have a recorded value of $11 7 billion on cur Consohidated Balance Sheet at December 31,
2007 This value 1s based on various factors mcluding the assets’ estimated useful lives and their estimated salvage values [n accordance with SFAS No 144,
"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets™ (“SFAS 144"), we record imparrment losses on long-hved assets used m operations when events
and crrcumstances indicate the assets might be impamred and the esumated future cash flows generated by those assets are less than thewr cammying amounts The
mpatrment loss recognized 1s the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 1ts estimated fair value

In order to evaluate potential impairment as required by SFAS 144 we group assets at the fleet type level (the lowest level for which there are 1dentifiable cash
flows) and then estimate future cash flows based on projections of passenger yield, fuel costs, labor costs and other relevant factors We estimate awrcraft fair values
using published sources, apprawsals and bids recerved from third parttes, as available For additional information about our accountmg policy for the imparment of long-
lived assets, see Notes 2 and § of the Notes to the Consoldated Financial Statements

Income Tax Valuation Allowance and Contingencies In accerdance with STAS No 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” deferred tax assets should be reduced
by a valuation allowance 1f 1t 15 more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized The future realization of our net deferred tax
assets depends on the availability of sutficient future taxable mcome In making this determunation, we consider all available positive and negative evidence and make
certain assumptions We consider, among other things, our deferred tax liabilities, the overall business environment, our historical earnings and losses, our industry’s
historically cychcal pertods of earmings and losses, and potential, current and future tax planning strategies
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Our income tax provistons are based on calcuiations and assumptions that are subject to examination by the Intemmal Revenue Service and other tax authonties
Although we believe that the positions taken on previously filed tax retums are reasonable, we have established tax and interest reserves m recogmition that various
taxmg authonties may challenge the posttions we have taken which could result in additional habilities for taxes and mterest We review the reserves as curcumstances
warrant and adjust the reserves as events occur that affect our potenual Lability, such as lzpsing of applicable statutes of hnutations, conclusion of tax audits, a change
m exposure based on current calculations, identificaton of new 15sues release of admmistrative guidance, or the rendermg of a court decision affecting a particular
1ssue We adjust the income tax provisien mn the period m which the facts that give nise to the revision become known In the event that the adjustment pertains to a pre-
emergence tax position, we would adjust goodwli followed by other mdefinite-lived mtangible assets until the net carrying value of these assets 1s zero Begmnmg
January §, 2009, any adjustments to pre-emergence tax posiions will be made through the income tax provision pursuant to SFAS No 141 {revised 2007), “Busmess
Combmations™ (“SFAS 141R™)

For additional information about income taxes, see Notes 2 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Pension Plans We sponsor DB Plans for our ehigible employees and retirees The tmpact of these DB Plans on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 and our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended April 30, 2007 and
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 1s presented m Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financral Statements We currently estimate that our defined
benefit pension plan expense related to our Non-Pilot Plan m 2008 will be approximately $35 mulhon The effect of our DB Plans on our Consolidated Financial
Statements 1s subject to many assumptions We believe the most cntrcal assumptions are (1) the weighted average discount rate and (2) the expected long-term rate of
return on the assets of our DB Plans The Pilot Plan and pilot non-qualified defined benefit pension plans were termmated durmng 2006 For addittonal information
regarding these terminations, see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements

We determine our werghted average discount rate on our measurement date primanly by reference to annualized rates eamed on high quabty fixed income
nvestments and yield-to-maturty analysis specific to our estimated future benefit payments We used a weighted average discount rate of 6 08% and 5 88% at
December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2006, respectively Additionally, our weighted average discount rate for net peniodic benefit cost 1n each of the past three years
has varied from the rate selected on our measurement date, ranging from 5 67% to 6 01% between 2005 and 2007, due to remeasurements throughout the year The
mmpact of a 0 50% change m our weighted average discount rate 1s shown mn the table below

The expected long-term rate of return on the assets of our DB Plans is based primarily on plan specific investment studies using historical returns on our DB
Plans’ assets The investment strategy for pension plan assets 1s to utilize a diversified mux of global public and private equity portfolios, pubhic and private fixed
mcome portfolios, and private real estate and natural resource investments to earn a long-term investment return that meets or exceeds a 9% annualized return target
Qur histortcal annualized three, five, 10 and 15 year rate of return on plan assets 1s approximately 13%, 14%, 8% and 11%, respectively, as of December 31,2007 The
mpact of a 0 50% change m our expected long-term rate of return 1s shown 1n the table below

Effect on Accerued

Effecton 2008 Pension Liability at
Change n Assumption Pension Fxpense December 31, 2007
0 50% decrease tn discount rate -9 million + 452 mllion
0 50% mcrease in discount rate + 6 million - 426 mullion
Q 50% decrease mn expected return on assets + 23 millron —
{ 50% mcrease 1n expected return on asscis =23 milbon —

For addibonal information about cur pension plans, see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consohdated Fmancial Statements
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued SFAS 141R SFAS 141R provides guidance for recogmzing and measurmg goodwill
acquired 1 a busmess combmation and requires disclosure of mformation to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the
bhusiness combmation SFAS 141R 1s effective for fiscal years begmning on January 1, 2009 For additonal mformation regarding SFAS 141R, see Note & of the Notes
to the Consolidated Financtal Statements

Market Risks Associated with Financial Instruments

We have significant market risk exposure related to awcraft fuel prices and mterest rates Market nsk 1s the potential negative impact of adverse changes i these
prices or rates on our Consoldated Financial Statements To manage the volatlity relating to these exposures, we periodically enter into derivative transacuons pursuant
to stated policies (see Note 4 of the Notes to the Consobdated Financial Statements) We expect adjustments to the fair value of financial mstruments accounted for
under SFAS Ne 133, *Accounting for Denvative Instruments and Hedging Activities” to result n ongomg volatihity in eammgs and shareowners’ equity

The following sensttvity analyses do not consider the effects of a change n demand for arr travel, the economy as a whole or actions we may take to seek to
mitigate our exposure to a particular risk For these and other reasons, the actual results of changes in these prices or rates may differ materally from the followmg
hypothetical results

Arrcraft Fuel Price Risk

Our results of operations may be matenially rmpacted by changes m the price of arrcraft fuel We penedically use derivative instruments designated as cash flow
hedges, which are comprised of crude o1, heating o1} and jet fuel swap, collar and call opuion contracts, wn an effort to manage our exposure to changes i arrcraft fuel
prices

For 2007, awrcraft fuel and related taxes accounted for 26% of our total operating expenses Arwrcraft fuel and related taxes for 2007 increased 6% compared 10
2006 pnmanly due to higher average fuel pnices Fuel prices averaged $2 21 per gallon, mcluding fuel hedge gamns of $51 nullion, for 2007 compared to $2 10 per
gallon, including fuet hedge losses of $108 mullion, for 2006

As of January 31, 2008, we have hedged a portion of our projected fuel requirements, including those of our contract carriers under capacrty purchase
agreements, for the three years ending December 31 2010, using crude o1l and heating o1l call option and swap contracts as follows

Werghted Contract Fair Increase iz
Average Percentage of Contract Fair Value Based Aurcraft Fuel
Contract Projected Fuel Value st Upon 10% Rase Expense Due to
Strike Price Requirements January 31, mn Futures 10% Ruse in Jet
{in mulbions unless otherwse stated) per Gallon Hedged 2008% Prices Fuel Price®
2008
Heaung ol
Call options S 243 22% S 91 b 157 s 529
Swaps $ 244 2 2 15 47
Total 24% $ 93 $ 172 $ 576
2009
Crude oil
Call opuons s 205 9% $ 61 s 70 s 723
Total 5% $ 61 5 70 $ 723
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Weaghted Contract Falr Increase in
Averape Percentage of Contract Fair Vatue Based Alreraft Fuel
Contract Projected Fuel Value st Upon 10% Rise Expense Due to
Strike Price Requirements January 31, tn Futures 10% Rise 1n Jet
{in milleons unless otherwise stated) per Gallon Hedged 2008 ™ Prices @ Fuel Price®
2010
Crude oil
Call opuons s 204 2% $ 16 3 17 s 787
Total 2% S 16 $ 17 5 787

Centract farr value includes the cost of premi paid
o Projection based upon average futures pnces per gallon by contract sentlement month
Projection based upon estmated average jet fuel pnce per gallon of $2 70, $2 81 and 52 93 and estumated aircraft fuel consumption of 2 § billion gallons 2 6 llion gallons and 2 7 bithon gallons for
2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively, inclusive of the umpact of fuel hedge instuments

o)

For additional infermation regarding our exposure to market risks, see Note 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk from volatility in mnterest rates 1s primanly assoctated with our long-term debt obligations Market nisk assoctated with our fixed and
vanable rate long-term debi relates to the potential reduction in farr value and negative impact to future earmnings, respectively, from an increase 1 mterest rates We had
%4 5 billion of fixed-rate debt and $3 8 bithon of variable-rate debt at December 31, 2007 At December 31, 2007 and 2006, a 10% increase in average annual interest
rates would have decreased the estimated fair value of our fixed-rate long-term debt by $332 million and §1 14 mllion, respectively, and increased mterest expense on
our variable-rate long-term debt by $19 nullion and $24 mullion, respectively At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we did not have any interest rate swaps or contractual
arrangements that would reduce our mterest expense For additional mformation on our long-term debt, see Note 6 of the Notes to the Consoltdated Financial
Statements

Glossary of Defined Terms

ASM—Available Seat Mrle A measure of capacity ASMs equal the total rumber of seats available for transporting passengers dunng a reporting penod
multiplied by the total number of mles flown during that penod

CASM—{Operating} Cost per Available Seat Mile The amount of operating cost incurred per ASM duning a reporting peniod, also referred to as “unit cost”
Passenger Load Factor—A measure of utilized available seatmng capacity calculated by dividing RPMs by ASMs for a reporting period
Passenger Mile Yield—The amount of passenger revenue earned per RPM during a repotting peniod

RASM—(Operating or Passenger) Revenue per ASM The amount of operating or passenger revenue eamed per ASM duning a reporting period Pagsenger
RASM 15 also referred to as “unit revenue °

RPM—Revenuc Passenger Mile One revenue-paying passenger transported one mule RPMs equal the number of revenue passengers during a reporting penod
multipkied by the number of mules flown by those passengers during that period, RPMs are also referred to as “wraffic”

47




Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements
ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Information required by this item 1s set forth m ltem 7— ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Market
Risks Associated Wrth Financial Instrutnents” and i Note 4 of the Notes to the Conselidated Financial Statements

ITEM 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Reference 15 made to the Index on page F-1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto contained i this Form 10-K

ITEM9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

For mformation about our change mn idependent registered public accounting firms from Deloitte & Touche LLP, our auditors for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005, to Emst & Young LLP for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008, please refer to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2006

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Diusclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, ncluding our Chief Executive Officer and our President and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, which have been designed to permut us to effectively identfy and tumely disclose important mmformation Qur management mchidmg our Chief Executive
Officer and our President and Chief Fmancial Officer, concluded that the controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2007 to ensure that material
mformation was accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our President and Chief Financial Officer, as
approprate to allow umely decisions regarding required disclosure

Changes In Internal Control

Except as set forth below, during the three months ended December 31, 2007, we did not make any changes in cur intemal control over financial reporting that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to matenially affect, our internal control over financial reporting

Durmg the December 2007 quarter, we implemented an automated process for interline recevables and elimnated manual processes previously utihzed Qur
approach to implementmg new business processes and technology inchides the design and 1mplementation of mternal control over financial reporting

Management’s Annuzl Report on Internal Control Over Finaneial Reporting

Management 15 responsible for establistung and mamtamning adequate mternzl conrol over financial reporting, as such term ts defined m Rules]13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Secunes Exchange Act of 1934 Our internal control over financial reporting 1s designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabiliy
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of Amertca

Because of its inherent hmitations, mtemal contro! over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future penods are subject to the risk that controls may become madequate because of changes in conditrons, or that the degree of comphance with the
pehcies may detenorate

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internat contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 using the cnitera issued by
the Commuttee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comumnission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework Based on that evaluation, management
beheves that our internal contro! over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareowners of Delta Air Lines, Inc

We have audited Delta Air Lines Inc 's mternal control over financial reporung as of December 31, 2007, based on cniterta estabhshed in Internal Controf-—
Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamzations of the Treadway Commussion (the COSO critenia) Delta Air Lines, Inc °s management 1s
responsible for mamtaming effective mternal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
included in the accompanying management’s report Our responsibility 1s to express an opimion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standands of the Public Company Accounung QOversight Board (United States) Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtamn reasonable assurance about whether effective intemal contro! over financial reporting was maiwntamed m all matertal respects Our
audit mcluded obtamning an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the nsk that a matenal weakness exists, testing and evaluatng the
design and operating effectiveness of mtemal control based on the assessed nisk, and perfornung such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances We beligve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion

A company’s mntemal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regardmg the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statemnents for external purposes m accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A company’s mternal control over financial
reporting includes those pehicies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mantenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
disposttions of the assets of the company, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactiens are recorded as necessary to perinit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expendstures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorzations of
management and directors of the company, and (3) provide reasonzble assurance regarding prevention or tumely detectien of unauthorized zcquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a matenal effect on the financial statements

Because of its mherent limtations, mtermal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect tmisstatements  Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to fitture periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance wath the
pelicies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opmnien, Delta Awr Lines, Inc marntamned, in 2ll matenal respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the
COSO cniteria

We also have audited, tn accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consohdated balance sheets of
Delta Air Lines, Inc as of December 31, 2007 (Successor) and 2006 (Predecessor), and the related consohdated statements of operations, shareowners’ equity (deficit),
and cash flows for the erght-moenth pertod ended December 31, 2007 (Successor), four-menth pertod ended Apnl 30, 2007 (Predecessor) and the year ended
December 31, 2006 (Predecessor) of Delta Arr Lines, Inc and our report dated February 13, 2008 expressed an unquahifited opimon thereon

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgra
February 13, 2008

49




Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements
ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
PART II1
ITEM 10 DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF THE REGISTRANT
Information required by this siem 15 set forth under the headings “Corporate Governance Matters,” “Certain Informanon About Normmnees™ and “Section 16
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Comphance™ mn our Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commussion related to our Annual Meeting of Stockholders on June 3, 2008
(“Proxy Statement™), and 15 incorporated by reference Pursuant to mstruction 3 to paragraph (b} of Item 401 of Regulation S-K certamn mformation regarding executive
officers s contamned m Part | of this Form 10-K

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Informatton required by this ttem 1s set forth under the headings “Director Compensation,” “Corporate Governance Matters—Compensation Comnuttee
Interlocks and Instder Participation™ and “Executive Compensation™ in our Proxy Statement and 1s incorporated by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Informatton required by this ttem is set forth under the headmpgs “Beneficial Ownership of Securitres™ and under “Equrty Compensation Plan Information™ m our
Proxy Statement and ts incorporated by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND MIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Informatron required by this 1tem 1s set forth under the headings “Corporate Governance Matters—Director independence” and “Corporate Governance
Matters—Independence of Audit, Corporate Governance and Personnel & Compensauon Commuittee Members™ in our Proxy Statement and 1s incorporated by
reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Informatton required by this item 1s set forth under the heading “Fees of Independent Auditors for 2007 and 2006™ mn our Proxy Statement and 15 incorporated by
reference
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PART IV
ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (1), (2) The financial statements required by this 1tem are Listed m the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements i this Form 10-K The schedule required
by this item 15 meleded 1n the Notes to the Consohdated Financiat Statements All other financial statement schedules are not required or are mapphicable and therefore

have been omitted

(3) The exhibits required by this item are hsted i the Exhubit Index to this Form 10-K The management contracts and compensaiery plans or arrangements
required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K are hsted as Exhibits 10 6 through 10 17 m the Exhibit Index
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 1ts behalf’
by the undersigned thereunto duly authonzed on the 15th day of February, 2008

DELTA AIR LINES, INC
By /s/  Ricuarp H ANDERson

Richard H Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requrements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on the 15* day of February, 2008 by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and 1n the capacities indicated

Signature Title
/s/  RicHarD H ANDERSON Chief Executive Officer and Dhrector
Richard H Anderson (Princspal Executive Officer)
/s/  Epwarp H Bastian President and Chief Financizl Officer
Edward H Bastian (Principal Fmancial Officer and
Principal Accountng Officer)
/5! Joun § BriNzo Drrector
John S Brinzo
/s/  DamieL A Carp Chairman of the Board
Daniet A Carp
/s/  Eugene I Davis Drrector
Eugene | Davis
/s/ Ricnarp K_GOELTZ Drrector
Richard K Goeltz
fs/  Davip R Goobe Drrector
David R Goade
/s/  Victor L._LUND Drrector
Victor L. Lund
/s/  WaLTer E_MASSEY Drirector
Walter E Massey
/s PauLa Rosput REYNOLDS Drrector
faula Rosput Reynolds
/s/  KenneTH B Woobrow Director

Kenneth B Woodrow
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32

EXHIBIT INDEX
Delta’s Certificate of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibit 3 1 to Deita’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on Apnl 30, 2007) *

Delta’s By-Laws (Filed as Exhibit 3 2 to Delta’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on Apnil 30, 2007) *

Delta 15 not fiing any mstruments evidencing any mdebtedness because the total amount of secunues authorized under any single such instrument does not exceed 10%
of the total assets of Delia and its subsidiarres on a consolidated basis Copies of such instruments will be furmished to the Secuniies and Exchange Comnussion upon

request

101
102
103
104

10 5(a}

10 5(b}

106
107
108

10 9(a)

Purchase Agreement No 2022 between Boewng and Delta relating to Boemng Model 737-632/.732/-832 Amcraft (Filed as Exhibit 10 3 to Delta’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ended March 31, 1998) */**

Purchase Agreement No 2025 between Boewng and Delta relating to Boeing Model 767-432ER Aurcraft (Filed as Exhibnt 10 4 to Delta’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-() for the quarter ended March 31, 1998) */**

Letter Agreements related to Purchase Agreements No 2022 and/or No 2025 between Boemng and Delta (Filed as Exhubit 10 5 to Delta’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998) */**

Arrcraft General Terms Agreement between Boeng and Delta (Filed ag Exhibit 10 6 to Delta’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 1998) */**

Furst Lien Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2007, among Delta Air Lines, inc  as Borrower, the subsidiartes of the
Borrower named, as Guarantors, each of the Lenders from ume to time party, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N A , as admimistrative agent and as cotlateral
agent,J P Morgan Securtties, Inc and Lehman Brothers Inc , as co-lead arrangers and jount bookrunners, UBS Securities LLC, as syndication agent
and as jomt bookrunner, and Calyon New York Brand and RBS Securtties Corporatron, as co-documentation agents (Filed as Exhibrt 10 1{a) 1o
Delta’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007) *

Second Lien Term Loan and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of Apnl 30, 2007, among Delta Air Lines, Inc , as Borrower, the subsidiartes of the
Borrower named, as Guarantors, each of the Lenders from time to time party, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L P (“GSCP™), as admmistrative
agent and as collateral agent, GSCP and Mernll Lynch Commercial Finance Corp , as co-lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, Barclays Caprtal, as
syndicauon agent and as jomnt bookrunner, and Credit Swisse Secuniues (USA) LLC and C!'T Leasmg Corporation, as co-decumentation agents
(Filed as Exhibit 10 1(b) to Delta’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ended June 30, 2007) *

Offer of Employment dated July 20, 2005 between Delta Atr Lmnes, Inc and Edward H Bastian (Filed as Exhibit 10 | to Delta’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on July 22, 2005)*

Offer of Employment dated July 20, 2005 between Delia Arr Lmes, Inc and Glen Hauenstem {Fried as Exhibit 10 17 to Delta’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K/A filed on Apnl 27, 2007)*

Offer of Employment dated August 28, 2007 between Delta Air Lines, Inc and Richard H Anderson {Filed as Extubit 10 2 to Delta’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2007) *

Form of Delta 2007 Performance Compensation Plan Award Agreement for Officers (Ftled as Exhibit 10 1 to Delta’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on Apnl 30 2007) *
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10 9(b) Delta 2007 Performance Compensation Plan Award Agreement between Delta Awr Lines, Inc and Edward H Bastian dated August 28, 2007 (Filed
: as Exhit 10 3 to Delta’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007) *

1010 Form of Separaton Agreement and General Release—Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Officer and Director Severance Plan for Officers {Filed as Exiibit
10 2 to Delta’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Apnil 30, 2007} *

1011 Delta Awr Lines, Inc 2007 Officer and Director Severance Plan, as amended October 14, 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 10 1 to Delta’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007} *

10 12 Separation Agreement and General Release between Delta Air Lines, Inc and James M Whitchurst dated August 27, 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 104 to
Delta’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007) *

1013 Description of Certam Benefits of Members of the Board of Drrectors and Executive Officers (Filed as Exiubit 10 5 to Delta’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007) *

10 14 Separation Agreement and General Release between Delta Air Lines, Inc and Joseph C Kelshak dated November 29, 2007

1015 The Delta Arr Lines, Inc 2008 Long Term Incentive Program (filed as Exhtbit 99 1 to Delta s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8,
2008) *

1016 Mode! Award Agreement for the Delta Arrlmes, Inc 2008 Long Term Incentive Program (filed as Exhibit 99 2 to Delta’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on February 8, 2008) *

| 1017 The Delta Atr Lines, Inc 2008 Management Incentive Program (filed as Exhibit 99 3 to Delta’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8,

2008) *

121 Statement regarding computatton of ratio of earnings to fixed charges for each fiscal year in the five-year period ended December 31, 2007

211 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

231 Consent of Emst & Young LLP

232 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

311 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

312 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14{a) Certification of Chzef Financial Officer

32 Certificatton pursuant to 18 U § C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002

* Incorporated by reference

**  Portions of this exhibit have been onutted and filed separately with the Secunties and Exchange Commussion pursuant 10 Delta’s request for confidental treatment
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareowners of
Delta Air Lnes, Inc

We have audited the accompanymg consoldated balance sheets of Delta Awr Lnes, Inc {the Company) as of December 31, 2007 (Successor) and 2006
(Predecessor), and the related consolidated statements of operattons, shareowners’ equuty (deficit), and cash flows for the exght-month period ended December 31, 2007
(Successor), four-month penod ended April 30, 2007 (Predecessor) and year ended December 31, 2006 (Predecessor) These financial statements are the responsibihity
of the Company's management Our responsibility 1S to express an opmion on these financal statements based on our audnts

We conducted our audits mn accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unrted States) Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtam reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material nusstaternent An audit mcludes examning, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures n the financial statements  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinton

As discussed m Note | to the consohdated financial statements, on April 25, 2007, the Bankniptey Court entered an order confirmung the plan of reorganization,
which became effective on April 30, 2007 Accordmgly, the accompanying consohdated financial statements have been prepared m conformuty with AICPA Statement
of Posinon 90-7, ‘Fmancial Reportmg by Entities in Reorgamizaton Under the Bankruptcy Code,” for the Successor Company as a new enlity with assets, lhabilities
and a capital structure having carrying values not comparable with pnor periods as described 1 Note 1

In our opwnion, the financial statements referred to above present farly n all matenal respects, the consohdated financial position of Delta Air Lines, Inc at
December 31, 2007 (Successor) and 2006 (Predecessor), and the consolidated results of its operations and 1ts cash flows for the eight-month penod ended December 31,
2007 (Successor), four-month peried ended April 30, 2007 ( Predecessor) and year ended December 31, 2006 (Predecessor), n conformuty with U S generally accepted
accounting principles

As discussed mn Notes 2 and 10 to the consohidated financial statements the Company adopted the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s
{FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123 (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment,” and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 158,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Penston and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No 87, 88, 106, and 132(RY m 2006 and
adopted the provistons of FASB Interpretation No 48, ““Accounting for Uncertainty mn Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No 109” and Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No 157, ‘Fair Value Measurements,” in 2007

We also have audited, 1n accordance with the standards of the Pubhic Company Accountmg Oversight Board (United States), Delia Awr Lines, Inc 's internal
control over financial reportmg as of December 31, 2007 (Successor), based on cntena established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework ssued by the Commuttee
of Sponsormg Organwzations of the Treadway Commussion and our report dated February 13,2008 expressed an unqualified opuuon thereon

fs/ Ernst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgta
February 13, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareowners of Delta Arr Lines, nc
Atlanta, Georgia

We have audited the accompanymg consohdated statements of operations, cash flows, and shareowners” deficit of Delta Air Lmes, Inc {Predecessor) and
subsidianies (the “Company™) for the year ended December 31, 2005 These financial statements are the responsthlity of the Company's management Qur
responsibility 1s to express an opinton on these financial statements based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtam reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matenal misstatement An audit includes exanuning, on a
test basts, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audnt also mcludes assessing the accounting prmctples used and sigmficant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We behieve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opirion, such consohdated financial statements referred to above present farrly, m all matenal respects, the results of operattons, the cash flows, and the
changes in shareowners’ deficit of Delta Amr Lines, Inc (Predecessor) and subsidiarres for the year ended December 31 2003, i conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted i the United States of Amernica

As discussed m Notes 1 and 2 to the 2005 consolhidated financial statements (not presented hereimn), the Company filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the
Unrted States Bankruptcy Code The 2005 financial statements do rot purport to reflect or provide for the consequences of the bankruptcy proceedings In particular,
such financial statements do not purport to show (a) as to shareowner accounts, the effect of any changes that may be made i the capttalization of the Company, or (b)
as to operations, the effect of any changes that may be made 1n its busmess

The 2005 consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will contmue as a going concern As discussed 1n Note 1 to the 2005
consolidated financial statements (not presented herein), the Company's recurring losses, labor 1ssues and 1ts bankruptcey filing result m uncertamty regarding the
realization of assets and satisfaction of habihines, without substantial adjustments and/or changes in ownership, and ratse substantial doubt about the Company’s ability
1o continue as a gong concern Management s plans conceming these matters are also described in Note | to the 2005 consolidated financial statements The 2005
consohdated financial statements de not melude adjustments that might result from the cutcome of this uncertamty

s/ Delostte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 27, 2006
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consolidated Balance Sheets

—Successor _Predecessor
ASSETS December 31, December 31,
(10 millions) 2007 2006
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents S 2,648 s 2,034
Short-term investments 138 614
Restricted cash 520 750
Accounts receivable, net of an allowance for uncollecuble accounts of $26 at December 31, 2007 and $21 at
December 31, 2006 1,066 915
Expendable parts and supphes mventornies, net of an allowance for ebsolescence of $11 at December 31, 2007
and 5161 at December 31, 2006 262 181
Deferred mcome taxes, net 142 402
Prepaid expenses and other 464 489
Total current assets 5,240 5,385
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Flight equipment 9,525 17,641
Accumulated depreciation (299) (6,800)
Fhight equipment, net 9226 10.841
Ground property and equipment 1,943 4,575
Accumulated depreciation (246) (2,838)
Ground property and equipment, net 1,697 1,737
Flight and ground equipment under capital leases 602 474
Accumulated amoruzation (63) (136)
Flight and ground equipment under capital leases, net 539 338
Advance payments for equipment 239 57
Total property and equipment, net 11,701 12 973
OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill 12,104 227
Identifiable mangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $147 at Decemnber 31, 2007 and $190 at
December 31, 2006 2.806 89
Other noncurrent assets 572 948
Tota! other assets 15482 1,264
Total assets $ 32,423 s 19 622

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolhidated Financial Statements
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DLLTA AIR LINES, INC

Consohdated Balance Sheets—{Continued)

_ Successor Predecessor
LIABILITIES AND SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) December 31, December 31,
{in nullions, except share data) 2007 2006
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current matunities of long-term debt and capital leases S 1,014 3 1,503
Aur traffic hability 1,982 1,797
Deferred revenue 1,100 363
Accounts payable 1,045 936
Accrued salanes and related benefits 734 405
Taxes payable 320 500
Note payable 295 —
Other accrued liabihines 115 265
Total current habilies 6,605 5,769
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term debt and capnal leases 7,986 6,509
Pension and related benefits 3,002 —
Deferred revenue 2,532 346
Postretirement benefits 865 —
Deferred income taxes, net 855 406
Other noncurrent Liabihities 465 368
Total noncurrent habilities 15,705 7.629
LIABILITIES SUBJECT TO COMPROMISE — 19,817
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Common stock
Predecessor commeoen stock at $0 Ol par value, 900,000,000 shares authonzed, 202,081,648 shares 1ssued at
December 31,2006 — 2
Successor common stock at $0 0001 par vatue, 1,500,000,000 shares authorized, 299 464,669 shares issued at
December 31, 2007 — —
Additional paid-mn capital 9,512 1561
Retamned eamings (accumulated deficit) 314 {14,414)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 435 (518)
Predecessor stock held n treasury, at cost, 4,745,710 shares at December 31, 2006 —_ (224)
Successor stock held 1n treasury, at cost, 7,238,973 shares at December 31, 2007 (148) —
Total shareowners” equity {deficit) 10,113 (13,593)
Total habilities and shareowners’ equity (deficit) $ 32423 3 19,622

The accompanying notes are an wntegral part of these Consohdated Financial Statements
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consolhidated Statements of Operations

Suceessor Predecessor
Eight Mnnths Four Months Yezr Ended
Ended Ended December 31,
December 31, Apri 38,
(in milbons except per share data) 2007 2007 2006 2005
OPERATING REVENUE
Passenger
Mamnline $ 8,929 3,829 § 11,640 $ 11,367
Regional afTiliates 2874 1296 3.853 3225
Cargo 334 148 498 524
Other, net 1221 523 1541 1,364
Totzal aperating revenue 13,358 5,796 17,532 16,480
OPERATING EXPENSE
Arrcraft fuel and related 1axes 3416 1270 4,433 4,466
Salaries and related costs 2887 1,302 4.365 5,290
Contract carrier arrangements 2,196 954 2,656 1,318
Depreciation and amortization 778 386 1.276 1,273
Contracted services 670 326 918 936
Arcraft maintenance materiails and outside repairs 663 320 921 893
Passenger comnussions and other selling expenses 635 298 888 948
Landng fees and other rents 475 250 881 878
Passenger service 243 95 332 348
Aurcraft rent 156 90 316 543
Profit sharmg 144 14 — _
Restructuring, asset writedowns, pension settlements and related tems, net — — 13 888
Other 299 186 475 700
Total operating expense 12,562 5,496 17,474 18,481
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 796 300 58 (2,001)
OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME
Interest expense (contractual interest expense totaled $366 for the four months
ended April 30, 2007 and $1,200 and 51,169 for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively) (390) (262) (870) {1,032)
Interest income 114 14 69 59
Miscellaneous, net 5 27 {19) (1)
Total other expense, net (271) (221} {820) {974)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE REORGANIZATION [TEMS, NET 525 79 (762) (2,975)
REORGANIZATION ITEMS, NET — 1215 {6,206) {884)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES 525 1,294 (6,968) (3,859)
INCOME TAX (PROVISION) BENEFIT (211) 4 765 41
NET INCOME (LOSS) 314 1,298 (6,203) (3.818)
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS — — (2) (18)
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON SHAREOWNERS
$ 314 1,298 $ (6,205) $ 3.836)
BASIC INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE $ 080 6358 $ (31 58) 5 (2375
DILUTED INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE s 079 4 63 $ (31 58) $ (2375

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC

Consolhdated Statements of Cash Flow

__Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months Year Ended
Ended Ended December 31,
December 31, April 30,
{imn muihons) 2007 2007 2006 1005
Cash Flows From Operating Actvities
Net incomne (logs) s 314 s 1298 H (6,203} s (3818)
Adjustments (o reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used m) operating activities
Depr and 1on 778 385 1,276 1,273
Deferred income taxes 21 {4) (765) (41}
Pension, postretirement and postemployment cxpense {less than) 1n execss of payments (604) (20) 489 596
Reorganization items net — (1,215) 6,206 884
Gam on extmguishment of debt net (10) — — (%)
Changes 1n certam current assets and habilities
Decrease (increase) in short-term inveswmments, net 50 426 (614) 336
Decrease (increase} in receivables 22 (132) (152} (122)
Decrease (increase) in restrcted cash 473 (3%0) 16 (482)
[{: } d in prepard expenses and other current assets () 2 41 (67)
{Decrease) increase m wr traffic habtlty (585) 763 26 145
{Decrease) increase n other payables, deferred revenue and accrued habihties {35%) —_ 154 667
Crther, net 175 (39) 359 31
Net cash provided by (used in) operating achivites 334 1,025 993 (307)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Property and equipment addrtions
Flight equipment, including advance payments {643) (167) {265} (570)
Ground property and equipment, including technology {185) (41} {148) (244)
Decrease (increase) in restncted cash 129 56 4 {96)
(Increase) decrease 1n restricted investments related to the Boston arrport termunal project
- — 2) 31
Proceeds from sales of flight equipment 84 21 40 425
Proceeds from sales of investments 83 34 — —
Proceeds from sale of wholly owned subsidiary net of cash remamning wath subsidiary — — _ 417
Other, net 4 — [ §
Net cash (used in} provided by wnvestng acuvities (528) “on {361) 22
Cash Flows From Fimmancing Activities
Payments an long-term debt and capatal lease obhgations (1,314) (166) {476) (1615)
Proceeds from Exit Facilities — 1,50C — —
Proceeds from long-term obligauens 2005 — -— 295
Proceeds from DIP Facility — — — 2,25¢
Payments on DIP Faethty — (2076) (124) (50)
Other, net s (5C) {€) {50)
Net cash provided by (used m) financmng activities 672 {192) (606) 830
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 478 136 26 545
Cash and cash equivalents at begmnmg of penod 2170 2034 2,008 1463
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pentod s 2 648 $ 217C s 2034 3 2008
Supplemental disclosure of cash paid (refunded) for
Interest, pet of amounts capitalized 5 361 3 243 M 728 s 783
Profe 1] fee dish ats due to bankruptcy — — 101 -]
Interest received from the preservation of cash due to Chapter 1 filkng —_ {5€) (195) {15)
Cash receved from aurcrafl renegotiation — — (10 —_
Income taxes, net —_ — m 2
Non-cash transactions
Flight equipment — 135 — —
Ground equipment 31 — —_ —_
Aurcraft del d under scller-fi B — — — 251
Flight ¢quipment under capital leases 35 13 15% —
Debt exunguishment from aircraft renegonanon 33 _ 171 —_
Dividends on Senes B ESOP Convertible Prefermred Stock — — 2 15
Current matunnes of long-term debt exchanged for shares of common stock — — — 45

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consolidated Statements of Shareowners” Equity (Deficit)

Retamed Accumulated
Additional Earoings Other
Common Paid-In (Accunmmlated Comprehensive Treasury
{in nulbions except share datay Stock Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Stock Total
Balance at January 1, 2005 (Predecessor) 28¢ 3 3052 H (4373) $ {2.358) {2 403) $ {5 796)
omprehensive loss
Net loss — — (3,818) — —_ (3,818)
Other comprehensive loss — —_ — (364) —_ (364)
Total comprehensive loss (See “ote 13) {4,182)
Divadends on Senes B ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock allocated
shares - - (18) — — (18)
Transfer of 34,378 shares of conunon from Treasury under stock
incentive and other equity plans {$47 20 per share™ }
— 2) — — z —
Transfer of 38,140,673 shares of common from Treasury under
ESOP {$47 20 per share®!) — (1.738) — — 1,800 62
Issuznce of 11,336,203 shares of common stock related to Deha s
transformation plan ($3 40 per share) ] 14 - . _ 19
Amendment 10 Centificate of Incorporatuon to wicrease number of
authorized shares of common stock from 450 mullon to
900 mihon and to decrease par value from $1.50 per share to
$ 01 per share (289) 289 — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2005 (Predecessor) 2 1635 (8.205) {2,722} {601) (9,395)
Comprehensive Toss
Net loss —_ — (6,203) —_ — (6,203)
Other comprehensive mncome — —_ — 1780 — 1780
Total comprehensive loss {See Mote 13) (4,423)
Adoption of SFAS 158 petoftax — — — 424 — 424
Dividends on Senes B ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock allocated
shares - - @ - - ®
Compensation expense associated with vesting stock options — 8 — — — 8
Compensation expense associated with the rejection of stock
opttons — 55 — — — 55
Transfer of 7 996 125 shares of conmon from Treasury under
ESOP ($4720 per share'') — (137 — — 377 240
Balance at December 31, 2006 (Predecessor) 7 1561 (14414) {518} (224) {13 593)
=TTl TR e Toe D = — 5] = = o5
Balance at January 1 2007 (Predecessor) 2 1561 (14 444) {518) (224) {13 623)
Comprehensive ncome
Net income from January 1 to Apnl 30 2007 — —_ 1,208 — — 1,298
Other comprehensive income — — — 75 _ 75
Total comprehensive income (See Mote 13) 1,373
Balance at April 30, 2007 (Predecessor) 2 1561 (13 146) (443} (224} (12 250)
Fresh stert adjustments
Cancellaton of Predecessor common stock o]} (1.561) — —_ 224 (1.339)
Eliminatien of Predecessor accurmulated deficit and
lated other comprehensive loss — — 13,146 443 — 13,589
Reorganization value asciibed to Successor —_ 9 400 —_ — — 9,400
Balance at May 1, 2007 (Successor} — 9 40C — — — 9,400
Issuance of 299,464 669 shares of common stock (50 0001 per
share) includmg 2,238 973 shares held tn Treasury ($20 52 per
share)® _ _ _ — (148} {148}
Comprebensive tncome
Net income from May 1 to December 31 2007 - — 314 — — 114
Other comprehensive income — — — 435 — 4335
Total comprehensive income (See Mhote 13) 749
Comp P d with equity awards — 112 — — — 112
Balance at December 31, 2007 (Successor) — 5 9512 M 314 3 435 {148) § 10113

" Weighted average price per share

The accompanying notes are an integrat part of these Consohdated Financial Statements
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Note 1 Background
General Informanon

Delta Arr Lines, Inc , a Delaware corporation, 1s a major arr carreer that provides arr transportation for passengers and cargo throughout the United States
("US ™) and around the world Qur Consolidated Financral Statements mclude the accounts of Delta Air Lines, Inc and our wholly owned subsidiaries, includmg
Comair Inc (“Comaur™), which are collectively referred to as Delta

On September 14, 2005 (the “Petiion Date™), we and substantially all of our subsidianies {collectively, the “Debtors™) filed voluntary petitions for reorganization
under Chapter 11 of the U S Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptey Code™) in the U S Bankruptey Court for the Southern District of New York (the “Bankruptcy Court™)
The reorganization cases were jorntly admmstered under the caption “In re Delta Air Lines, Inc , et al , Case No 05-17923-ASH ™ On Apnil 25, 2007, the Banknuptey
Count approved the Debtors’ Jomt Plan of Reorganization (the “Plan of Reorganization™) On April 30, 2007 (the “Effective Date”) we emerged from bankruptcy as 2
competiive arrhne with a global network

Upon emergence from Chapier 11, we adopted fresh start reperting 1n accordance with Amencan Insumte of Cerufied Public Accountants’ Statement of Positton
90-7, “Fmancial Reporting by Entities in Reorgamzation under the Bankruptey Code” (“SCP 90-7") The adoptron of fresh start reporung resulted m our becoming a
new entity for financial reporting purposes Accordingly. the Consolidated Financial Statements on or after May 1, 2007 are not comparzble 1o the Consohdated
Financial Statements pnior to that date

Fresh start reporting requires resettng the historical net book value of assets and habiliues to fawr vaiue by allocating the enuity’s reorgamization value o 1ts
assets and liabilittes pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounung Standards (“SFAS”™) No 141, “Business Combmations * (“SFAS 141") The excess reorgamzation
value over the fair value of tangrble and tdentifiable intangible assets 1s recorded as goedwnll on our Consolidated Balance Sheet Deferred taxes are determined 1n
confornmuty with SFAS No 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109"} For additonal mformation regarding the impact of fresh start reporting on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of the Effectrve Date, see “Fresh Start Consohdated Balance Sheet” below

References in this Form 10-K to “Successor™ refer to Delta on or after May 1, 2007, after giving effect to (1) the cancellation of Delta common stock 1ssued prior
to the Effecuve Date, (2) the 1ssuance of new Delta common stock and certam debt secunties in accordance with the Plan of Reorganization, and (3) the application of
fresh start reporting  References to “Predecessor” refer to Delta prior to May 1, 2007

Effectiveness of Plan of Reorgamization Under the Plan of Reorganization, most holders of allowed general, unsecured clzims agamst the Debtors recetved or
will receive newly tssued common stock in satisfaction of therr clims Holders of de minimus allowed genemal, unsecured claims received cash 1n sausfacuon of their
claims

The Plan of Reorganizatton contemplates the distributron of 400 milhion shares of common stock, consisting of (1) 386 millien shares to holders of allowed
general, unsecured claims {including our pilots) and (2) up to 14 million shares to our approximately 39,000 eligible non-contract, non-management employees The
new common stock was histed on the New York Stock Exchange and began trading under the symbol *“DAL” on May 3 2007 As of January 31, 2008, we have made
the following distnbutrons of common stock m accordance with the Plan of Reorganization

. 278 mullion shares of common stock to holders of allowed general unsecured clamms of $12 5 bilhon We have reserved 108 million shares of common
stock for future disinbutions to holders of allowed general, unsecured claims when disputed ¢laims are resolved

. Approxmmately 14 million shares of common stock to eligible non-contract, non-management employees
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The Bankruptcy Court also authorized the distmbution of equity awards to our approximately 1,200 officers, director level employees and managers and sentor
professionals { ‘management personnel”} For additional information about these awards, see Note 12

In addivon, as of January 31, 2008, we have 1ssued the following debt securities and made the following cash distnbutions under the Plan of Reorganization

. $66 mullion principal amount of senior unsecured notes m connection with our settlement agreement relating to the restructuning of certain of our lease
and other obligations at the Cincmnati-Northern Kentucky International Awrport (the “Cincmnati Arport Settlement Agreement”™) For additional
formation on this subject, see Note 8,

. an aggregate of $133 mullion n cash to holders m satisfaction of their clzims, chuding 1o holders of adminstrative claims, state and local prionity tax
claims, certain secured claims and de munumis allowed unsecured claims,

. $225 mullion i cash to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation {the “PBGC ) i connection with the termmation of our qualified defined benefit
pension plan for pilots {the “Pilot Plan ), and

. $650 mmllion m cash to fund an obligatton (the “Pilot Obligatron *) under our comprehensive agreement with the Arr Line Pilots Association,
Intemational (* ALPA™), the collective bargaming representative of Delia’s palots, to reduce pilot labor costs In 2007, we pard $355 mullion of this
amount and deposited the remammng $295 million m a grantor trust for the benefit of Delta pilots The amount in the grantor trust 15 classified as
restncted cash with a corresponding note payable on our Consohdated Balance Sheet until 1t was distnbuted 1n January 2008

In accordance with the Plan of Reorganization holders of our equity interests that were 1n existence prior to Aprit 30, 2007, including our common stock, did not
receive any distnbutions, and thewr equity mterests were cancelled on the Effective Date

On the Effective Date, we entered mto a sentor secured exit financing facihity (the “Exit Facilies™) to borrow up to $2 5 billion from a syndicate of lenders We
used a portion of the proceeds from the Exit Faciliies and existing cash to repay our two then outstandmg debtor-m-possession financing facilines (the “DIP Faciliy™)
For additional information regarding the Exnt Facilities, see Note 6

We continue to meur expenses related to our Chapter || proceedmegs, pnmanly professional fees that were classifted as a reorganization item by the
Predecessor Afier we emerged from bankruptcy, these expenses are classified in their appropnate hne ttem pnmanly 1n other operating expense, i the Successor's
Consolidated Statement of Operations

Resolution of Outstanding Clans

As permutied under the bankruptcy process, many of the Debtors’ creditors filed proofs of claim with the Bankruptcy Court Through the claims resolution
process, many claims were disallowed by the Bankruptcy Court because they were duplicative, amended or superseded by later filed claims, were without ment, or
were otherwise overstated Throughout the Chapter {1 proceedings, the Debtors also resolved many claims through settlements or by Bankruptcy Court orders
following the filing of an objectien The Debtors will continue to settle claims and file addiional objections with the Bankruptcy Court

We currently esumate that the total allowed general, unsecured claims 1n our Chapter 11 proceedings will be approximately $15 billion, including the $12 §
billion of claims for which we have 1ssued distnbutions of common stock Differences between ¢laim amounts filed and our estimates are being mnvestigated and will be
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resolved 1n connection with the claims resolution process However, we behieve there will be no further matenal impact to the Consolidated Statements of Operations of
the Successor from the settlement of unresolved allowed general, unsecured claims agamst the Debtors because the holders of such claims will recewve under the Plan of
Reorganization only therr pro rata share of the distnbution of the newly 1ssued common stock of the Successor

The Plan of Reorganization provides that admmistrative and prionty claims will be satisfied with cash Certam administrative and priority claims remam unpaid,
and we will contmue to settle claims and file objectrons with the Bankruptcy Court wath respect to such claims All of these claims have been accrued by the Successor
based upon the best available estimates of amounts to be paid However, the claims resoluuon process 15 uncertarn and the resolution of admunistrative and prionty

claimns could result m material adjustments to the Successor’s financial statements

In light of the substantial number and amount of claims filed, we expect the claims resolution process will take considerable ume to complete  Accordingly, we
do not presently know either the ultimate number and amount of, or the exact recovery with respect to, allowed claims

Liabtiities Subject to Compronuse

The following table summanzes the components of liabihities subject to compromuse included on our Consohdated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2006

Predecessor

(tn millions) 2006
Pension, postretirement and other benefits $ 10329
Debt and accrued interest 5,079
Arrcraft lease related obligations 3,115
Accounts payable and other accrued habihities 1,294
Total habilities subject to compromise 5 19817

Liatalittes subject to compromise refers to pre-petition obligations that were impacted by the Chapter i | reorganization process The amounts represented our
estimate of known or potential obligations to be resolved m connection with our Chapter 11 proceedings

At December 31, 2007, we did not have any liabilities subject to compromuse due to our emergence from bankruptey For mformation regarding the discharge of
habilities subject to comprormse, see “Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheet” below

[nfferences between hiabilitics we have estmated and the clammns filed wtll be mmvesugated and resolved m connection with the claims resolution process
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Reorgantzation Items, net

The followmng table summanzes the components of reorganization rtems, net on our Censohdated Statements of Operations for the four months ended Apnl 30,
2007 and the years ended December 31 2006 and 2005

Predecessor
Four Vonths Year Ended December 31,
Ended
April 30,

{1n mithons) 2007 2006 2005
Discharge of claims and habihnes® $ 4,424 s — b —
Revaluation of frequent flyer obhigation'? {2 586) —_ —
Revaluaton of other assets and habihies® 238 — —
Aurcrafi financing renegotiabions, rejections and repossessions™ {440) (1.671) (611)
Contract camer agreefnents® (163) —_ —
Emergence compensation™ {162) —_ —
Professional fees (88) (110) (39)
Pilot collective bargamnmg agreement™ (83) (2 100) —
Interest mcome™ 5¢ 109 17
Facility leases™ 43 (8) (88)
Vendor waived pre-petitton debt 26 36 —
Retiree healthcare clayms' (26} (539) —
Debt 1ssuance and discount costs — (k)] (163}
Compensation expense™ — (35) —
Pilot pension termination® ? — {1,743) —
Rejecuon of other executory contracts — (89) —
Other (21) (23) —

Total reorganization items, net $ 1,215 M {6,206} 5 (884)

"' The discharge of clauns and habilities primanly relates to allowed general, unsecured clamms 1 our Chapter 11 proceedings such as (a) ALPA s clam under our comprehensive agreement reducing

pulot labor costs, (b) the PBGC’s claim relating to the termunation of the Pilot Plan, (¢) clarms relaung 10 changes u postrettrement healtheare benefits and the rejecnon of our non-quahified retrement
plans, {d) claums assoctated with debt and certamn municepal bond obligations based upon their rejection (e) claims relating to the restr g of fi g 2 115 of the rejection of leases for
awrcraft, and (f) other claims due to the reyection or modification of cerlain executory contracts unexpered lcases and contract carner agreements

In accordance with the Plan of Reorganization we discharged our obligations to holders of allowcd gencral unsecured clamms 1n exchange for the distribution of 386 mullion newly ssued shares of common
stock and the 1ssuance of certam debt secunbes and oblgatrons Accordingly, 1n discharging our Labnlities subject to compromise, we recogmzed a reorganization gawmn of $4 4 ballion as follows

(mn nullions)

Ltabthties subgect to comprommse $ 19,345
Reorgamzation value (9 400)
Liabilities remstated (4 425)
Issuance of new debt secunues and obliganons net of discounts of $22 {938)
Other {154)
Dascharge of claims and habihities $ 4424

**  We revalued our SkyMiles frequent flyer obligation at fuir value as a result of fresh stan reporting which resulted i a 52 6 billien reorganization charge For information about a change 1n our

accounting policy for our frequent flyer program {the “SkyMiles Program™) see Note 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-—Continued)

We revalued our assets and hiabilanes at estmated farr value as a result of fresh start reportmg. Thus resulted 1 a $238 mufhon gam pnimanly reflecting the fair value of newly recognized intangible
asscts which was parbally offset by reductions in the farr value of tangible property and equipment.

Estmated clauns for the four motths ended Apnl 30 2007 relate to the resoucturing of the financing amangements for 143 awcrafl, the rejecton of two arcrafl leases and adpstments to pnor clatms
csimates Estimated claims for the year ended December 31 2006 relate to the rest g ofthe £ for 188 aircrafi and the rejection of 16 aircrafi leases Estumated claims for
the year ended December 31, 2005 relate to the resiructunng of the financimg arrangements of s¢ven aucraft the rejeeton of 50 aurcraft leases and the repossession of 15 amrerafi

In tion with d: 1o our contract cammer agreements with Chaatauqua Arlines Ine (“Chautauqua®™) and Shuttle Amenca Corporation (“Shunle Amenca™) both substdianes of Republic
Awrways Holdings, Inc (“Republic Holdngs™), which, among other things, reduced the rates we pay those camers, we reconded {2} a $91 milhon allowed general, unsecured claun and (b) a $37 mullion
ret charge related to out surtender of warants to purchase up to 3 § mllion shares of Repubbic Holdigs common stock Addinonally 1 comection with an amendient 1o owr contract canet
agreement with Freedom Awrlines, Inc (“Freedom™), a subswdtary of Mesa Air Group Inc  which, among other things, reduced the rates we pay that camer, we recorded a $35 mulhon allowed peneral,
unsecured claim

In accordance wath the Plan of Reorganrzation we made $130 mullion in lump-sum cash paymnents to approximately 39,000 ehgible non-centract, non-management employees We also recorded an
addihonal charge of $32 mulkon related to our portion of payroll related taxes associated with the 185uance, as contemplated by the Plan of Reosganization, of approxemately 14 mullion shares of
common stock to these employees For addittonal information regarding the stock grants, see Note 12

Allowed general, unsecured claums of $83 million for the four months ended Apnil 30, 2007 and $2 1 bullion for the year ended Dy ber 31 2006 m with Comanr s and Delta s respective
comtprehensive agreements with ALPA reducmg pilot labor costs

Reflects tnierest eamed due to the preservaton of cash during our Chapter 11 proceedings

For the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 we recorded a net 343 millicn gam, pnmanly reflecting a $126 milhon net gan 1n with our gr t with the M. h Port
Authonty (“Massport™) which was partrally offsct by a net $80 mlhon charge from an allowed general, unsecured claum under the Cincinnat Aurport Scttlement Agreement For addiuonal mformanon
regarding our settlement agreement with Massport and the Cincinnatt Awrport Settlement Agreement see Notes 6 and 8

Allowed general, unsecured claims in connection wath age hed with ting pilot and non pilot retired employees reducing thear postretirement healtheare benefits

Reflects a charge for rejectng sebstantially all of our stock options 1m our Chapter 11 proceedings For addrtional information regarding thrs matter, see Note 2

52.2 tulhon zad $8G mullron allowed general, unsecured ¢launs wn with our serth with the PBGC and a group representing reured pilots respectively Charges for these
claims were offset by $1.3 billion in settlement gains associated with the derecogmition ofprekusly recorded Pilot Plan and prlot non quabfied plan obligations upon each plan s termnavon For

addinonal informanon g our sertl agr and the tenmunaucen of those plans, see Note [0

3
Ear

Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheet

As previously noted, upon emergence from Chapter |1, we adopted fresh start reporung, which required us to revalue our assets and habilities to far value in

estimatmg fair value, we based the estumates and assumptions on guidance prescribed by SFAS No 157, “Fair Value Measurements™ (“SFAS 1577 SFAS 157, among
other things, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair valve and expands disclosure about fair value measurements For additional mformation
about SFAS 157, see Note 3

To factlitate the calculation of the enterprise value of the Successor, management developed a set of financial projections for the Successor using a number of

estimates and assumptions The enterprise and comesponding reorganization value of the Successor was based on financial projections using various valuation methods,
mchiding (1} a companson of our projected performance to the market values of comparzable
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companies, (2} a review and analyss of several recent transactions i the arhne industry, and (3) a calculation of the present value of future cash flows based on our
projections Uthzing these methodologies, the reorganization value of the Successor was estimated to be m the range of $9 4 bilion and $12 0 million The enterprise
valug, and corresponding reorganization value, 1s dependent upon achieving the future financial results set forth m our projections, as well as the realization of certamn
other assumpttons There can be no assurance that the projections will be achieved or that the assumptions will be realized The excess reorganization value {using the
low end of the range) over the farr value of tangible and identifiable intangible assets, net of liabilities, has been reflected as goodwill in the Fresh Start Consoldated
Balance Sheet The financial projections and estimates of enterprise and recrganization value are not mcorporated herein

All estimates, assumptions and financial projections, including the fair value adjustments, the financial projections, and the enterprise value and reorganization
value projections, are inherently subject to sigmificant uncertamnties and the resolution of contingencies beyond our control Accordmgly, there can be no assurance that
the estimates, assumptions and financial projections will be realized, and actual results could vary matenially

The adustments set forth in the following Fresh Start Consohdated Balance Sheet 1n the columns captioned “Debt Discharge, Reclassifications and Distrtbution
to Creditors,” “Repayment of DIP Facility and New Exit Fmancing” and “Revaluanon of Assets and Liabilines” reflect the effect of the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by the Plan of Reorganization, mcludmg the settlement of vanous hiabilities, secunties 1ssuances, ncurrence of new mdebtedness and cash
payments
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The effects of the Plan of Reorgamizatron and fresh start reporting on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at Apnl 30, 2007 are as follows

Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheet

Predecessor Successor
-_— Debt nscharge, Repayment of -
Reclassifications DIP Facility Reorgan:zed
and and Revaluation of Balante Sheet
Apri 30, Distnbution New Extt Assets 2nd May 1,
{un mulbons) 2007 to Creditors Financing Lizbilities 2007
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash cash equivalents and short term tvestments 2915 s — H {55T) s — 13 2358
Restncted cash 1,069 —_ —_ — 1,069
Agccounis receivable, net 1,086 —_ — — 1,086
Expendable parts and supplies nventones net 183 — —_ 58 241
Deferred income taxes, net 441 — — 310 751
Prepaid expenses and other 437 (%) — (75) 343
Total current assets 6131 (%) (557) 293 5,848
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
et flipht equipment and niet flight equipment under capttal
lease 11087 — - {1,245) 9,342
Other property and equipment, net 1498 — — 218 1716
Total property and equipment, net 12 585 — — {1027) 11558
OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill 227 — — 12,100 12 327
Iniangibles, net 88 — — 2 365 2,953
(Other noncurrent assets T40 — 48 68 i56
Total other assets 1 055 e 45 15 033 16 136
Total assets 19,771 S (19 5 {509) 5 14,299 $ 33,542
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current matuntes of long term debt and capatal leases 1,292 s 5 $ — $ 35 s 1,332
DiP Facility 1,959 — (1,959) — —
Accounts payable, acerued salaries and related benefits 1,396 561 50 155 2 062
SkyMiles deferred revenue 602 — 620 1,222
Aur traffic Lability 2567 — — — 2,567
Taxes payable 423 — — 2y 421
Total current habihities 8,239 566 (2,009) 308 T 604
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term debt and capital leases 5,132 37 — 398 5,567
Exit Facilines — — 1,50 — 1,500
SkyMiles deferred revenue 294 — — 1 958 1252
Other notes payable —_ 697 — — 697
Pension, p and related benefi 62 4,202 — 7 4271
Other 1,026 — — 1,225 2251
Total noncurrent habihtes 63514 4936 1500 3,588 16,538
Liabiktes subject to compromise 19,345 (19,345} — — -
SHAREOWNERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Debiors
Comtaon stock and additional pawd-in capital 1,563 _ — (1,563} —
Retamed deficit and other (15,890) 4,424 — L1466 —_
Reorganized Debtors
Commen stock and additional pawd n capitzal _ 9 40C — — 9 400
Total hatalires and shareowners’® (deficit) equty 19,771 $ {19} b {509) 3 14,299 $ 33 542
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued)

Debt Discharge Reclassificanons and Disirtbution to Crediors Adjustments reflect the ehmmation of liabilities subject to compromise
totaling $19 3 bilhon on our Consolidated Balance Sheet immediately pror to the Effective Date Excluding certain habhues assumed
by the Successor, labilities subject to compromuse of $13 8 billion were discharged m the Chapter 11 cases Adjustments inchude

The recogmition or remstatement of $561 mullion to accounts payable, accrued salaries and related benefits compnsed of (1) 2 $225 million
obhgation te the PBGC relating to the termunation of the Pilot Plan (which 1s reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet net of a $3 mullion
discount) and (2) $339 mullion o remstate or accrue certam liabilities related to the current portion of our pension and postretirement benefit plans
and for certam admemistranive claims and cure costs

The recogmuion of $697 mullion i other notes payable compnsed of (1) the $650 mullion Pilot Obligation relating to our comprehensive
agreement with ALPA reducing mlot labor costs (which 1s reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet net of 2 $19 mithon discount) and (2) $66
muthon pnncipal amount of sentor unsecured notes {following the reduction of the $85 mllion face value of the notes for the apphcation of certain
payments made by us 1n 2006 and 2007) under the Cincinnat1 Airport Settlement Agreement For addmional information on the Cincmnat: Awport
Settlement Agreement, see Note 8

The remnstatement of $4 2 billion to pension, postretrement and related benefits compnsed of (1) $3 2 billion associated with our non-plot
defined benefit pension plan (the *“Non-Pilot Plan’ } and other long-term accrued benefits and (2) $1 0 billion associated with postreturement
benefits

Repayment of DIP Facility and New Exit Financing Adjustments reflect the repayment of the DIP Facility and borrowing under the Exit
Faciliies Financing fees related to (1) the DIP Facility were wrnitten off at the Effective Date and (2) fees related to the Exit Facilities were
capitalized and will be amortized over the term of the faciluy For additional mformation regarding the Exut Facilities, see Note 6

Revaluation of Assets and Liabtlities Signmificant adjustments reflected in the Fresh Start Consohdated Balance Sheet based on the revaluation of assets
and hiabilities are summanized as follows

Property and equipment ner A net adjustment of $1 0 bilhon to reduce the net book value of fixed assess o therr esumated fair value

Goodwill An adjustment of $12 1 billion to reflect reorgamization value of the Successor in excess of the fair value of tangible and idenufiable
intangible assets, net of habihiies During 2007, goodwill decreased by $149 mullion as a result of net adjustments in the fair value of certamn
assets and habiliies These adjustments were recorded on the Successor’s openmg balance sheet at May 1, 2007

Intangibles An adjustment of $2 9 biltion to recognize identifiable mntangible assets These intangible assets reflect the estimated faur value of our
trade name, takeoff and amival slots, SkyTeam alliance agreements, marketing agreements, customer relatronships and certain contracts Certan
of these assets will be subject to an annual imparrment review For additional mformation on mntangible assets, see Notes 2 and 5

Long-term debt and capital leases An adjustment of $398 million primarily to reflect a $223 nullion net premtum assoctated with long-term debt
and a $138 mullion net premium associated with capital lease obligations to be amortized to nterest expense over the life of such debt and capital
lease obligations

SkyMiles deferred revenue An adjustment to revalue our obligation under the SkyMiles Program to reflect the estimated fair value of miles to be
redeemed n the future Adjustments of $2 0 biflion and $620 mullion were reflected for the fair value of these miles in long-term and current
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classtfications, respectively Effective with our emergence from bankruptcy, we changed our accounting pohicy from an wmcremental cost basis to a
deferred revenue model for miles earned through travel For additional information on the aceounting policy for cur SkyMiles Program, see Note
2

¢} Noncurrent Liabilities—other An adjustment of $1 2 billion primanly related to the tax effect of fresh start valuation adjustments

(g) Total shareowners deficit The adoption of fresh start reporting resulted i a new reporting entity with no beginning retained eamngs or
accumulated deficit All comimon stock of the Predecessor was ehmmated and replaced by the new equity structure of the Successor based on the
Plan of Reorganization The Fresh Start Consohdated Balance Sheet reflects tmitial shareowners’ equity value of $9 4 billion, representing the low
end m the range of $9 4 billion to $12 0 billion estumated 1n our financial projections developed m connection with the Plan of Recrgamization
The low end of the range ts estimated to reflect market condittans as of the Effective Date and therefore was used to establish initial shareowners’
equity value

Note 2 Summary of Sigmficant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentanan

‘The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared mn accordance with accounting princaples generally accepted m the United States of
America (“GAAP™) In prepanng our Consolidated Fimnancial Statements for the Predecessor, we applied SOP 90-7, which requires that the financial statements for
periods subsequent to the Chapter 11 filng distingush transactions and events that were directly assoctated with the reorganization from the ongong operattons of the
busmess Accordmgly, certain revenues, expenses, realized gains and losses and provisions for losses that were realized or incurred in the bankrupicy proceedings were
recorded in reorganization items, net on the accompanying Consohdated Statements of Operations In addition, pre-petition obltgations that were impacted by the
bankruptcy reorganization process were classified as habilities subject to compromise on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2006 For additional
mnformation regarding the discharge of habilities subject to comprormse upon emergence, see Note |

We have eliminated all material intercompany transactions i our Consolidated Financial Statements We do not consolidate the financial statements of any
company 1n which we have an ownership mnterest of 50% or less unless we control that company We did not control any company in which we had an ownership
mierest of 50% or less for any period presented m our Consohdated Financial Statements

Use af Estimates

We are required to make estimates and assumptions when preparmg our Consolidated Financial Statements n accordance with GAAP These esumates and
assumptions affect the amounts reported m our Consohdated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes Actual results could differ matenially from those
estimates

New Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the Fimancial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 1ssued SFAS Ne 141 (revised 2007), “Busmess Combinations * (“SFAS 141R") SFAS
141R provides guidance for recognizing and measurmg goodwill acquired m a business combination and requures disclesure of information to enable users of the
financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of a business combmanon SFAS 141R 1s effecuve for fiscal years beginning on January 1,2009 For
additional information regardmg SFAS 141R, see Note ¢
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Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretation No 48, “*Accounting for Uncertamty m Income Taxes—an mterpretaton of FASB Statement
Ne 109" (“FIN 48™), which clanfies the accounting and disclosure for uncertainty m tax positions, as defined FIN 48 1s intended to reduce the diversity i practice
assoctated with certain aspects of the recognition and measurement related to accounting for mcome taxes The adopuon of FIN 48 resulted 1 a $30 mullion charge to
accumulated deficit that 1s reported as a cumulative effect adjustment for a change i accounting principle to the opening balance sheet position of shareowners’ deficit
at January 1, 2007 For addinenal information regardmg FIN 48, see Note 9

In September 2006, the FASB 1ssued SFAS 157 This Statement, among other things, defines fair value, estabhishes a framework for measurmg far value and
expands disclosure about fair value measurements SFAS 157 1s mtended to elimnate the diversity in practice assoctated with measurmg fair value under existing
accounting pronouncements SFAS 157 15 effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and intenm pentods within those fiscal years We were required
to adopt SFAS 157 on Apni 30, 2007 n connection with the adoption of fresh start reporting  For additional mformation regardmg recurnng and nonrecurrig fair value
measurements, see Note 3

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF) consensus on EITF Issue No 06-03, “How Taxes Collected From Customers and
Rerutted w0 Governmental Authonbes Should Be Presented m the Income Statement (“EITF 06-03 *) The scope of EITF 06-03 mncludes any tax assessed by a
governmental authority that 1s directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer, and provides that a company may adopt a policy of
presenting taxes etther gross within revenue or on a net basis For any such taxes that are reported on a gross basis, a company should disclose the amounts of those
taxes for each period for which an income statement is presented if those amounts are significant This statement 1s effective for intenim and annual reporung periods
beginning after December 15, 2006 We adopted EITF 06-03 on January 1, 2007 Vanous taxes and fees on the sale of tickets to customers are collected by us as an
agent and remstted to the respective taxing authority These taxes and fees have been presented on a net basis m the accompanymng Consolhdated Statements of
Operations and recorded as a habihity untl rermtted to the respective taxing authonty

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We classify short-term, highly Liquid investments with maturtues of three months or less when purchased as cash and cash equivalents These mvestments are
recorded at cost, which approximates fair value

Short-Term Investmenis

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, our short-term mvestments were pnmanly comprised of auction rate secunties [n accordance with SFAS No 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments 1 Debt and Equity Secunties” (“SFAS 115™), we record these investments as trading secunties at fair value on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets For addiuonal information about our accounting for wadmg securtties, see “Investments i Debt and Equity Secunbes” m this Note

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash mcluded m current assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets totaled $520 mullion and $750 mullion at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively Restricted cash recorded m other noncurrent assets on our Conschdated Balance Sheets totaled $15 mullion and 352 mullion at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively

At December 31, 2007, our resmnicted cash balance primarily relates to cash heid m a grantor trust for the benefit of Delta pilots to fund the Pilot Obligation At
December 31, 2006, our restricted cash primanly related to cash held as collateral by credit card processors and interline clearinghouses and to support certain projected
msurance obhigations Restricted cash is recorded at cost, which approximates fair value
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Derivanve Financial Instruments
Fuel Hedging Preogram

We peniodically use dervative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, which are comprised of crude o1], heating 01l and jet fuel swap, collar and cali option
contracts, lo manage our exposure to changes m arcraft fuel pnices [n accordance with SFAS No 133, “Accounting for Denvative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
("SFAS 133"), we record the fair market value of our fuel hedge contracts on our Consohdated Balance Sheets and recognize certain changes in these farr values on our
Consoldated Statements of Operztions

We beheve our fuel hedge contracts will be highly effective dunng therr term 1n offsetting changes in cash flow attributable to the hedged nsk We perform both
a prospective and retrospective assessment to this effect at least quarterty, including assessing the possibility of counterparty default 1f we determme that 2 denvatve 1s
no longer expected (o be highly effective, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively and recognize subsequent changes  the far market value of the hedge to
other (expense) income on our Consohidated Statements of Operations rather than being deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets As a result of our effectiveness assessment at December 31, 2007, we believe cur fuel hedge contracts wall continue to be aghly effective 1 achieving
offsetung changes 1n cash flows

Changes in the far value of fuel hedge contracts that quahfy for hedge accounting are recorded in shareowners’ equity as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive mcome These gams or losses are generally recognized in arcraft fuel expense and related taxes when the related awrcraft fuel purchases being hedged
are consumed To the extent that the change m the fair valee of a fucl hedge contract does not perfectly offset the change 1n the value of the aircrafi fuel being hedged,
the meflective portion of the hedge 15 immediately recognized 1n other (expense) ncome on our Consohdated Statements of Operations For our heating o1l and jet fuel
option contracts entered mto during 2007, meffectiveness 15 measured based on the intrinsic value of the derivauve The difference between the fair value and mtnnsic
value represents the ime value of the option contract Time value 1s excluded from the calculation of meffectiveness and immediately recognized n other (expense)
mcome on our Consclidated Statements of Operations

For addrtional information abeut cur denivative instruments, see Note 4
Revenue Recognition
Passenger Revenue

Passenger Tickets We record sales of passenger tickets as air traffic habiliies on our Consolidated Balance Sheets Passenger revenue 1s recogmzed when we
provide transportatton or when the ticket exprres unused, reducing the related arr traffic habibity We periodically evaluate the estimated atr traffic hability and record
any resulting adjustments in our Consolidated Statements of Operations i the period n which the evaluations are completed These adjustments relate primarly to
refunds, exchanges. ransactions with other arrlines and other stems for which final settlement occurs m pertods subsequent to the sale of the related tickets at amounts
other than the onginal sales price

Taxes and Fees We are required 1o charge certain taxes and fees on our passenger tickets These taxes and fees mclude U S federal transportation taxes, federal
security charges, airport passenger facihity charges and foreign armival and departure taxes These taxes and fees are legal assessments on the customer, for which we
have an obligation to act as a collection agent Because we are not entitled to retamn these taxes and fees, we do not incluede such amounts mn passenger revenue We
record a hability when the amounts are collected and reduce the habihty when payments are made to the applicable government agency or operating carner
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SkyMiles Program We have a frequent flyer program offering incentives to increase travel on Delta This program allows participants to eam muleage credits by
flying on Delta, Delta Connection Cammers and participating airlines, as well as through participatmg companies such as credit card compames, hotels and car rental
agencies We also sell mileage credits to other arhines and to non-aurline businesses Mileage credits can be redeemed for free or upgraded air travel on Delta and
participating arrimes, for membership in our Crown Room Club 2nd for other program awards

As a result of the adoption of fresh start reporting upon emergence from bankrupicy, we revalued our SkyMiles frequent flyer award hability to estimated fatr
value The fair value of our SkyMiles frequent flyer award abilhity was determined based on the esumated price that third parties would require us to pay for them to
assume the obligation for nules expected to be redeemed under the SkyMiles Program This estimated price was determined based on the weighted average equivalent
ticket vatue of a SkyMiles award redeemed for travel on Delta or a participaung arrhine  The weighted average equivaleni ticket value contemplates diffenng classes of
service, domestic and international 1ineranes and the camer providing the award travel At Apnl 30, 2007, we recorded deferred revenue equal to $0 0083 for each
mule we estumate will ultimately be redeemed under the SkyMiles Program

Upon emergence from bankrupicy, we changed our zccounung policy to a deferred revenue model for zall frequent flyer mules We now account for all miles
earned and sold as separate deliverables in a multiple element revenue arrangement as prescribed by EITF 60-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables

We use the residual method for revenue recognition of muleage credits The fair value of the mileage credit component 15 determmed based on the low end of the
range of the prices at which we sell mileage credits to other arrlines, which price 1s currently $0 0054 per mule and will be re-evaluated annually Under the residual
method, the portion of the revenue from the sale of mileage credits that approximates fair value 1s deferred and recognized as passenger revenue when miles are
redeemed and services are provided based on the weighted average price of all miles that have been deferred The portion of the revenue recerved mn excess of the fair
value, the marketing premium, 15 recognmized n mcome currently when the related services are provided and classified as other, net revenue

For nuleage credits which we estimate are not likely to be redeemed (“Breakage™), we recognize the assoctated value proportionally during the penod in which
the remaining mileage credits are expected to be redeemed The estimate of Breakage 1s based on historical redemption patterns A change i assumptions as to the
penod over which muleage credits are expected to be redeemed, the actual redemption activity for mileage credits or our estimate of the fair value of nmleage credits
expected to be redeemed could have a material impact on our revenue in the year in which the change occurs and 1n future years

Pnor to the adoption of fresh start reporting, we accounted for frequent flyer miles earned on Delta flights on an incremental cost basis as an accrued habihity and
as operating expense, while miles sold to airlme and ron-airline busmesses were accounted for on a deferred revenue basis For SkyMiles accounts with sufficient
muleage credits to qualify for a free trave! award, we recorded a liability for the estimated incremental cost of flight awards that were earned and expected to be
redeemed for travel on Delta or other arrlines Our incremental costs included (1) our system average cost per passenger for fuel, food and other direct passenger costs
for awards to be redeemed on Delta and (2) contractual costs for awards to be redeemed on other arhines We perodically recorded adjustments to this hability i other
operating expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and other accrued habilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets based on awards eammed, awards
redeemed, changes in our estmated mcremental costs and changes to the SkyMiles Program

Regional Affiliates Revenue As of December 31, 2007, we had contract carner agreements with 10 regional air carmers (“Contract Carners ), includmg our
wholly owned subsidiary, Comar These agreements are structured as either (1) capacity purchase agreements whereby we purchase all or a portion of the Contract
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Camier’s capacity and are responsible for selling the seat inventory we purchase or (2} revenue proration agreements, which are based on a fixed dollar or percentage
division of revenues for tickets sold to passengers traveling on connecting flight ttineranes We record revenue and expenses related to our contract carmer agreements
as regional affilates passenger revenue and contract carmer arrangements expense, respecuvely For additional information regardmng our contract carmer agreements,
see Note 8

Cargo Revenue

Cargo revenue 15 recognized m our Consolidated Statements of Operations when we provide the transportation
Other net Revenue

Other, net revenue includes revenue from (1) the marketing premium component of the sale of mileage credits in our SkyMiles Program discussed above, (2) our
sale of seats on other arrhines” flights under codeshare agreements and {3) other miscellaneous service revenue Qur revenue from other airlines’ sale of seats on our
flights under codeshare agreements 1s recorded m passenger revenue on our Consolidated Statements of Operations
Long-Lived Assets

We record property and equipment at cost and depreciate or amortize these assets on a straight-line basss to their estimated residual values over their respective
estunated useful Lives Residual values for owned spare parts and simulators are generally 5% of cost except when guaranteed by a thard party for a different amount In
connection with our adoption of fresh start reporting, we mcreased our residual values for flight equipment from 5% to 10% of cost Additionally, we adjusted the net

book values of property and equipment to thewr estimated famr values and adjusted the estimated useful hives of flight equipment The estimated useful hives for major
asset classifications are as follows

Estimated Useful Life

Asset Classification Successor Predecessor
Flight equipment 21-30 years 25 years
Capttalized software™ 5-7 years 5-7 years
Ground property and equipment 340 years 340 years
Leasehold 1mprovements Shorter of lease term or Shorter of lease term or
estimated useful hife estimated useful Iife

Shorter of lease term or Shorter of lease term or

Fhght equipment under capitzl lease estimated useful life estimated useful hife 1

® We capitalize certain internal and external costs imeurred 1o develop internal use software For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we recorded $101 mulhon and $109 million respectvely

for amortization of intemnal use sofiware The net book value of these assets totaled $246 millien and $252 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively

In accordance with SFAS No 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we record impairment losses on long-lived assets used
mn operations when events and circumstances mdicate the assets may be impaired and the estimated future cash flows generated by those assets are less than their

carrymng
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amounts For long-hived assets held for sale, we record imparrment losses when the carrymng amount ts greater than the fair value less the cost to sell We discontinue
depreciatton of long-lived assets when these assets are classified as held for sale

To determune unpaments for arcrafl used 1 operations, we group assets at the fleet-type level (the lowest level for which there are 1dentifiable cash flows) and
then estimate future cash flows based on projections of capacity, passenger yield, fuel costs, labor costs and other retevant factors If imparment occurs, the 1mpairment
loss recognized 1s the amount by which the awrcraft’s carrying amount exceeds 1ts estimated farr value We estimate aircrafl farr values using publhished sources,
appraisals and bids received from third parties, as available

Goodwill and Other Intang:ble Assets

Goodwill reflects the excess of the reorganization value of the Successor over the fair valee of 1angible and idenafiable intangible assets, net of habilities, from
the adoption of fresh start reporting We recorded $12 3 bilhon of goodwill upon emergence from bankruptcy

Identifiable ntangible assets consist pnmanly of trade name, takeoff and amval slots, SkyTeam alliance agreements marketmg agreernents, customer
relationships and certain contracts These mtangible assets, excluding marketing agreements, customer relattonshups and certain contracts, are indefinite-lived assets and
are not amortized Marketing agreements, custemer relatienships and certam contracts are definte-hved mtangible assets and are amorttzed over the estimated
economic life of the respective agreements and contracts

In accordance with SFAS No 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we apply a fair value-based impairment test to the net book value of goodwill and
mdefintte-lived intangible assets on an annual basis and, if certam events or crrcumstances indicate that an impzirment loss mav have been incurred, on an internim basis
I he annual impairment test date for our goadwill and mdefinite-hved intangible assets 1s October [ (sce Note 5)

In evaluating cur goodwill for inparrment, we first compare our one reporting unit’s far value to its carrying value We estrmate the fair value of our reporting
unit by considermg (1) our market capitahization, (2) any premium to our market capitalization an mvestor would pay for a controthng interest {*Control Premmum”),
(3) the potential value of synergies and other benefits that could result from such interest, {4} market multiple and recent transaction values of peer companies and
(5) projected discounted future cash flows, if reasonably estmable If the reporting unit’s fair value exceeds its carrymg value, no further testing 1s required £,
however, the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds 1ts fair value, we then determme the amount of the tnpairment charge, if any We recogmze an umpairment charge
if the carrymg value of the reporting unn s goodwill exceeds its imphed fair vatue

Prior to adoption of fresh start reporting, we estimated the fair value of our reporting unit by considering (1) market multiple and recent transaction values of
peer comparnues and {2) projected discounted future cash flows, 1f reasonably estimable In applymg the projected discounted future cash flow methodology, we
(1) estumated the reporting unit's future cash flows based on capacity, passenger yreld, fuel costs, labor costs and other relevant factors and (2) discounted those cash
flows based on the reporting umt's weighted average cost of capttal

We perform the impairment test for our indefinite-hved mntangible assets by comparing the asset’s fair value to its carrying value Farr value 15 estimated based
on recent market transactions where available or projected discounted future cash flows We recognize an impaument charge 1f the asset’s carrying value exceeds 1ts
estumated fair value

For both goodwall and indefimte-lived ntangible assets, changes i assumptions or circumstances, mecluding, but not limited to, (1} long-term negative trends in
our market capitalization, (2) contmued escalation of fuel prices,
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(3) interruption to our operations due to employee strike, terrorist aftack, etc and/or {4) consehdation of competitors within the industry, which are not offset by other
factors such as improved yield or an increase 1n Control Premiums, could result in an imnpatrment o the year in which the change occurs and in future years

In accordance with SOP 90-7, a reduction 1n the valuation allowance associated with the realization of pre-emergence deferred tax assets will sequentally reduce
the value of recorded goodwill followed by other indefinite-lived intangible assets until the net carrying cost of these asscts 1s zero Durmg the cight months ended
December 31, 2007, we reduced goodwill by $223 million compnised of (1} $211 mllion associated with recognition of pre-emergence deferred tax assets and (2) §12
mullion of other income tax reserve adjusiments

Interest Expense

While operating as a debtor-in-possession, m accordance with SOP 90-7, we recorded mterest expense only to the extent (1) interest would be paid dunng our
Chapter 11 proceedings or (2) tt was probable interest would be an allowed prnionty, secured or unsecured claim Interest expense recorded on our Consohdated
Statements of Operations totaled $390 malhion for the eight months ended December 31 2007, $262 mullion for the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 and $870 milhon
and $1 0 billion for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively Contractual interest expense (mcluding miterest expense that 1s associated with
obhgauons classified as habihities subject to compromse) totaled $366 mullion for the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 and $1 2 allion for each of the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005

Income Taxes

In accordance with SFAS 109, we account for deferred income taxes under the lability method Under this method, we recognize deferred tax assets and
lrabihties based on the tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and habihities, as measured by current enacted tax
rates A valuation allowance 15 recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when necessary Deferrcd tax assets and halities are recorded net as current and noncurrent
deferred income taxes on our Consohdated Balance Sheets (see Note 9}

Our income tax provisions are based on calculanons and assumptions that are subject to exammaton by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authonties
Although we beheve that the posittons taken on previously filed tax returns are reasonable, we have estabhshed tax and wnterest reserves m recognition that vanous
taxmg authontes may challenge the positions we have taken, which could result i additional habilities for taxes and interest We review the reserves as circumstances
warrant and adjust the reserves as events occur that affect our potential hability, such as lapsing of applicable statutes of Lmitations, concluston of tax audits, a change
tn exposure based on current caleulations, identification of new 1ssues, release of admumstrative gurdance, or the rendenng of a court decision affecting a particular
1ssue We would adjust the ncome tax provision m the penod 1in which the facts that give nse to the revision become known In the event that the adjustment pertamns to
a pre-emergence tax position, we would adjust goodwill followed by other indefinite-lived intangible assets until the net carrying value of these assets 15 zero
Begmnmng January 1, 2009, any adjustments to pre-emergence tax positions will be made through the mcome tax proviston pursuant to SFAS 141R

Investmenis in Debs and Equity Securities

We record our investments classified as available-for-sale secunities at farr value m other noncurrent assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets Any change n
the fair value of these secunties 1s recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) We record our mvestments classified as trading secunines, primanly
compnsed of insured auction rate securtties, at fair value m curment assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and recognize changes in the farr value of these secunities
m other (expense) mcome on our Consohdated Statements of Operations At December 31, 2007, we had $107 nullion of msured auction rate securtties recorded
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at fair value Fair value was determmed using a discounted cash flow model This valuation technigue considers the creditworthiness of the underlymg debt 1ssuer and
mstrance protectuon of the principal and interest Depending on future market condiiions, our msured auction rate secunities may result in future fair value adjustments

Deferred Gains on Sale and Leaseback Transactions

We amortize deferred gans on the sale and leaseback of property and equipment under operating leases over the lives of these leases The amortization of these
gaws 1s recorded as a reduction to rent expense Gauns on the sale and leaseback of property and equipment under capital leases reduce the carrying value of the related
assets

Manufacturers’ Credits

We penodically receive credits in connection wrth the acquisition of awrcraft and engimes These credits are deferred until the awrcraft and engines are delivered,
and then apphed on a pro rata basis as a reduction to the cost of the related equipment

Maintenance Costs

We record maimntenance costs mn arcraft mamtenance matenals and outside repairs on our Consohdated Statements of Operations as they are mcurred
Inventories

Inventones of expendable parts related to fiight equipment are carried at moving average cost and charged to operations as consumed An allowance for
obsolescence 15 provided over the remaining useful hfe of the related fleet for spare parts expected to be available at the date aurcraft are retired from service We also
provide allowances for parts currently identfied as excess or obsolete to reduce the carrying costs to the lower of cost or net realizable value These parts are assumed
to have an esttmated residual value of 5% of the original cost In connection with our adopuen of fresh start reporting upon emergence from bankruptcy, we recorded
our expendable parts inventories at fair value

Advertusing Costs

We expense advertising costs as other selling expenses 1n the year incurred Advertising expense was $12 | milhion for the eight months ended December 31,
2007, $51 mullion for the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 and $15¢ mithon and $164 nullion for the years ended December 31 2006 and 2005, respectively

Commussions

We record passenger commussions i prepaid expenses and other on our Consolidated Balance Sheets when the related passenger tickets are sold Passenger
commussions are recognized 1n operating expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations when the related revenue 1s recognized

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value provisions of SFAS No 123 (revised 2004), “Share Based Payment (“SFAS 123R') This standard
requires companies to measure the cost of employee services m exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award The fair
value 1s estimated using option-pnicing models The resulting cost 1s recogmzed over the period during which an
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employee 15 required to provide service i exchange for the awards {usually the vesting pentod of the awards) Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we accounted for
stock option grants m accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opmion No 25, “Accounting for Stock [ssued to Employees ™ and accordingly recogmzed no
compensation expense for the steck option grants 1f the exercise price 15 equal to or more than the fair value of the shares at the date of grant

SFAS 123R 1s effective for any stock options granted after December 31, 2005 For stock opttons granted prior to January 1, 2006, but for which vestitg was not
complete on that date, we applred the modified prospecuve transtion method in accordance with SFAS 123R Under this method we accounted for such awards on a
prospecuve basts, with expense being recognized mn our Conselidated Statement of Operatons begimmning 1in 2006 using the grant-date far values previously calculated
for our pro forma disclosures Due to the apphcation of the modified prospective transition method, comparable prior perieds have not been retroactively adjusted to
inctude share-based compensation

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We record our cash equivalents and short-term investments at cost, which we believe approximates fair value due to their short-term matunities The esttmated
far values of other financial mstruments mchiding debt and denvative mstruments, have been determined using available market informauon and valuaton
methodologies, pnmanly discounted cash flow analyses and a Black-Scholes model

Accounting Adpustments

Durmg 2006, we recorded certam out-of-penod adjustments (“ Accounting Adjustments”™) in our Consolidated Financial Statements that are reflected m our
results for the year cnded December 31, 2006 These adjustments resulted in an aggregate net non-cash charge approxumating $310 milhon to our Consolidated
Statement of Operations, consisting of

. A $112 mullion charge m landing fees and other rents This adjusiment 15 associated primanly with our atrport facihity leases at John F
Kennedy [nternational Awrport in New York [t resulted from historical differences associated with recording escalating rent expense
based on actual rent payments instead of on a strght-line basis over the lease term as required by SFAS No 13, “Accounting for
Leases™ (“SFAS 13)

. A $108 mulhon net charge related to the sale of mrleage credits under our SkyMiles Program This includes an $83 million decrease n passenger
revenue, a $106 million decrease in other, net revenue, and an $31 nullion decrease in other operaung expense This net charge pnmanly resulted from
the reconstderation of our position with respect to the tuming of recognizing revenue associated with the sale of mileage creduts that we expect will
never be redeemed for travel

. A $90 million charge m salartes and related costs to adjust our accrual for postemployment healthcare benefits This adjustment 15 due o healthcare
payments applied to thus accrual over several years, which should have been expensed as mcurred

We believe the Accounting Adjustments, considered individually and i the aggregate, are not matenal to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 In making this assessment, we considered gualitative and quantitative factors, mncluding our substantial net loss m these years, the
non-cash nature of the Accounting Adjustments, our substantial shareowners' deficit at the end of these years and our status as a deblor-in-possession under Chapter 11
of the Bankruptey Code durmg these years
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Reclassificanons

Upon emergence and as a result of the adoption of fresh start reporting, we changed the classification of certatn nems on our Conschidated Statements of
Operations We also reclassified prier penod amounts to conform to current penod presentations These changes have no impact on operating or net mcome 1n any
penod prior or subsequent to our emergence from bankruptcy These reclassifications are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

. In-sourcing revenue We reclassified $310 mullron and $240 muillhion respecuvely, associated with revenue for our maintenance m-sourcing business to
other, net revenue, and reclassified the related costs to (1) salaries and related costs, (2) arcraft maintenance matenals and outside reparirs and (3) other
operaung expense Previously, these revenues and expenses were reflected on a net basis m other operating expense

. Delta Global Services LLC ( DGS') We reclassified $174 million and $168 nullion, respectively, associated with salartes for employees at our
wholly owned subsidiary, DGS, to salanes and related costs DGS provides staffing services te both mtemnal and external customers Previously, these
costs were recorded m contracted services

. Fuel taxes We reclassified $114 mullion and $195 million, respecuvely, to arcraft fuel expense Previously, fuel taxes were recorded i other
operating expense

' Crown Room Club We reclassified 551 milhen and $49 million, respectively, assoctated with the expense of our Crown Room Club operanons to
several operating expense line tems, primanly salaries and related costs and contracted services Qur Crown Room Club provides amenities to
members when traveling  Previously, these eapenses were recorded nict in other, net revenue

. Arrangements with Other Airfines We reclassified to passenger revenue $133 mllion and $32 mallton, respectively, of revenue associated with
{1} SkyMiles eamned or redeemed on other arrlnmes and (2} frequent flyer miles of other arrlines carned or redeemed on Delta Previously, these
amounts were reflected m other, net revenue

Note 3 Fair Value Measurements

As described tn Note 2, we adopted SFAS 157 upon emerging from bankruptcy SFAS 57, among other things, defines fair value, establishes a consistent
framework for measuning fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and hability category measured at fair value on either a recurrmg or nonrecurring basis
SFAS 157 clanfies that farr value 15 an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a hability 1n an orderly transaction
between market parbcipants As such, farr value 15 a market-based measurement that should be determuned based on assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or hability As a basis for considering such assumptions, SFAS 157 establishes a three-uer fair value hierarchy, which prioriizes the nputs used m
measuring fair value as follows

. Level | Observable mputs such as quoted prices m active markets,
. Level 2 Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or mdirectly and
. Level 3 Unobservable inputs in whech there 15 Ittle or no market data, which require the reporting enuity to develop 1ts own assumptions

Assets and habihties measured at fair value are based on one or more of three valuztion techmques noted 1n SFAS 157 The three valuation techniques are
dentified in the tables below Where more than one technique 15 noted mdividual assets or liabilities were valied using one or more of the noted techniques The
valuation techniques are as follows

(a)  Market approach Prices and other relevant mformation generated by market transactions mvolving wdentical or comparable assets or hiabihires
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(b) Costapproach Amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset (replacement cost)

(¢) Income approach Technigues to convert future amounts to a single present amount based on market expectations (including present value techmques,

option-pricing and excess eamings models)

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Successor _ Quoted
Prites In Significant
Active Markets Other Sigmficant
December 31, for Identical Observable Unobservable Valuatlon
{in mullions} 2007 Assets (Leve! 1) Iopuots {Level 2) Inputs {Level 3} Technique
Short-term mvestments 3 138 s 3 s — $ 107 {a){c)
Fuel hedging derivatives 53 _ 53 — (@

Based on markei conditions, we changed our valuation techmque for our insured auction rate secunties to an income approach using a discounted cash flow
model Accordmgly. our short-term mnvestments, comprised of these secunities, changed from Level | to Level 3 within SFAS 157"s three-tier fair value hierarchy since

mitral valuation at May 1, 2007

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

Short-term
{1 multhons) Investments
Balance at May 1, 2007 (Successor) $ —
Transfers o Level 3 110
Impairment included in eammgs (3)
Balance at December 31, 2007 (Successor) M 107 !
I
Reahzed losses included in camings for the pertod are reported 1n other (expense) income l
5 nd Liabilitres Measured at Fair Value o onrecurrmg Basis |
|
Suecessor Sigmificant Significant
Other Uncbservable
May 1, Ohbservable Inputs Yaluation
{1n mulhions) 2007 Inputs (Level 2) (Level 3)* Techni
Expendable parts and supphes inventories s 24 $ 241 S — (a)(b)
Prepawd expense and other 343 343 — (a)(b)(c)
Net flight equipment and net flight equipment under capital lease 9,833 9,833 —_ (a)(b)
Other property and equipment 1,713 1,713 — (a)b)
Definite-lived intangible assets™ 956 — 956 (c)
Other noncurrent assets 856 856 — (2){b}(<}
Debt and obligations under capital lease 6,895 6,899 — {a)}c)
SkyMiles deferred revenue® 3474 — 3474 (a)
Accounts payable and other noncurrent liabilities 405 405 — (a)}(c)
58 VAILATORS were on present value o ure OWS [OT SPECITIC ASSeLS derive i Quf projeciions of future revenue expense and atrime £1 i gty eS¢ CAS) IOWS wWere

descounted 1o their present value usmg a rate of return that considers the relative nsk of not realizing the estimated annual cash flows and bme value of money
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' Intangible assets are idenuficd by asset type m Note §
™ The farr value of our SkyMiles frequent flyer award hability was determned based an the estmated pce that third parttes would require us to pay for them to assume the obhgation for mules expected
to bc redeemed under the SkyMlles Program, Thes estumated price was deterrruned based on our weighted average equivalent ticket value of a SkyMles award whach 1s redeemed for ravel on Delta or
T patmg atrtline The werghted average equivalent tecket vahie contemplates diffenng classes of service domesbe and international wtineranes and the carmer providing the award avel
__Successor Sigruficant
December 31, Unobservable Valuadon
{1n millions) 2007 Inputs {Levet 3) Technigue
Indefinite-ived intangible assets® $ 1,997 s 1,997 (a)(c)
Goodwill® 12,104 12,104 a)(c

We perioms the Tnpairment (et [or ouT deTmite hved MERGIBTE assets By cobiparing e assel s 12ir vatoe 10 16 Cariying valuc Farr value 13 estimated based o revent markel TARsacHONS wher
avalable or projected discounted future ¢ash flows For additronal information regarding impaimment, see Note 2
Lo evaluaung our goodwill for umpairment, we first compare our one reportng umi s B value to its carmnng value We estimate the fair value of our reporung umt by considenng (1) our market
capatzhizanon, (2) any premuum to our market capiialization an uivestor would pay for a controllng mterest, (3) the poteatal value of synergies and ather benefits that could result ffom such interest,
{4) market multiple and recent transaction values of peer companses and {5) projecied discounted future cash flows f reasonably cstmable

o

Note 4 Risk Management gnd Financial Instruments
Fuel Price Risk

Our results of operations may be materially impacted by changes n the price of aircraft fuel To manage this risk, we periodically enter into denvative contracts
compnsed of crude o1, heating o1l and jet fisel swap, collar and call option contracts to hedge a poruon of our projected arcraft fuel requirements As of December 31,
2007, our open fuel hedge contracts had an estrmated farr value gamn of $53 mulhon, which we recorded in prepaid expenses and other on our Consohdated Balance
Sheet

As of January 31, 2008, we have hedged a portion of our projected fuel requirements, including those of our contract carners under capacity purchase
agreements, for the three years ending December 31, 2010, using crude o1l and heating o1l call option and swap contracts as follows

Weighted Percentage of Contract Fair
Average Projected Value at
Contract Fuel January 31,
Strike Price Requirements 1008
per Gallon Hedged {in mlliony)™
2008
Heating ot
Call optrons § 243 22% $ 91
Swaps $ 244 2 2
Total 24% 3 93
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W eighted Percentage of Contract Fair
Average Projected Vatue at
Contract Fuel January 31,
Strike Price Requirements 2008
per Gallon Hedged (1n mllions)™
2009
Crude oil
Cal] options $ 205 5% $ 61
Total 9% $ 61
2010
Crude oil
Call opttons S 204 2%, S 16
Total 2% S 16

Eommct Eu’ vaiue mciﬁs E:C casmi preouums paﬁ

Pror to the adoption of fresh start reporting, we had recorded as a component of shareowners’ deficit a $46 million unrealized gam related to our fuel hedgmg
program This gain wonld have been recognized as an offset to awrcraft fuel expense as the underlymg fuel hedge contracts were settled However, as required by fresh
start reporting our accumulated shareowners” deficit and accumulated other comprehensive loss were reset to zero Accordingly, fresh start reporting adjustments
elitminated the unrealized gan and increased awrcraft fuel expense by $46 million tor the eight months ended December 3§,2007

Gains (losses) recorded on our Conschdated Statements of Operattons for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended Aprl 3¢, 2007 and

for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 related to our fuel kedge contracts are as follows

Atreraft Fuel and Related Taxes Other Income (Expense)
Successor Predecessor Sutcessor Predecessor
Year Ended Year Ended

Eght Four Eight Four

Months Months December 31, Months Months December 31,

Ended Eunded Ended Ended

December 31, April 30, December 31, April 30,
{1 rullions) 2007 2007 2006 2005 2007 2007 2006 2005
Open fuel hedge contracts $ - — $ — s — $ @n s 15 S 5 $ —
Settled fuel hedge contracts
59 (8) (108) — 3 () (32) —

Toul S 59 £ S (108} $ — (13) §$ 14 § (37D $ —
Interest Rate Risk

Qur exposure to market nsk from volatility in interest rates 1s associated with our cash portfolio, workers' compensation obligations, pension, postemployment

and postretirement benefits and long-term debt obhgations

Market risk assoctated with our cash portfolio relates to the potenual change in mterest tncome from a decrease m nterest rates Workers' compensation
abligation risk relates to the potential changes i our future obbgations and expenses from a change 1n mnterest rates used to discount these obligations Pension,
postemployment and postretirement benefits nisk relates to the potential changes in our benefit obhgauons, funding and expenses from a change i mterest rates
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Market risk associated with our fixed and vanable rate long-term debt relates to the potential reduction m fair value and negative impact to future camimngs,
respectively, from an increase m interest rates The followmg table presents mformation about our fixed and vanable rate debt and the fair value of our debt at
December 31 2007 and 2006

_Successor _Predecessor

December 31 December 31,

(1n milhons) 2007 2006

Variable rate debt $ 3,820 $ 5,580
Fixed rate debt 4481 7053

Plus unamortized prenuum, net 155 —
Total $ 8,456 $ 12,633
Fair value® S 8,148 1) 11,476

" In accordznce with SOP 90-7, sub lly all of our | debt and certain of our undersecured debt had been classified as habilres subject o compromse at December 31 2006

®  The aggregate farr value of our secured and unsecured debt was based prumanly on reported market vatues and recently completed market transactions

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange risk because we have revenue and expense denommated i foreign currenctes, primanly the eure, the Brittsh pound,
and the Canadian dollar To manage exchange rate nisk, we attempt to execute both our mternational revenue and expense transactions 1n the same foreign curmrency, to
the extent pracucable From time to trme, we may also enter nto foreign currency options and forward contracts We did not have any foreign cumrency hedge contracts
at December 31, 2007 and 2006

Credut Risk

To manage credit nsk associated with our atrcraft fuel price hedging program, we select counterparties based on their credit ratings and limt our exposure to any
one counferparty We also monitor the market positien of this prograim and our relative market position with each counterparty The credit exposure related to this
program was not significant at December 31, 2007 and 2006

Our accounts receivable are generated largely from the sale of passenger arline tickets and cargo transportation services The majonty of these sales are
processed through major credit card compames, resulting m accounts receivable that may be subject to certam holdbacks by the credit card processors We also have
receivables from the sale of mileage credits under our SkyMiles Program to participatmg awrlimes and non-arrhine busmesses such as credit card companies, hotels and
car rental agencies We beheve that the credit nsk associated with these recervables 1s mmimal and that the allowance for uncollectible accounts that we have provided
1S appropriate

Self-Insurance Risk

We self-insure a portion of our losses from claims related to workers' compensation, environmental 1ssues, property damage, medical insurance for employees
and general hability Losses are accrued based on an estimate of the ultimate aggregate hability for clmms mcurred, usmg independent actuanial reviews based on
standard mdustry practices and our histonical expenence A portion of our projected workers” compensation hability 1s secured with restricted cash collateral (see Note
2)
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Note 5§ Goodwill and Other Intangtble Assets
The followmg tables present mformation about our mtangible assets, including goodwill at December 31, 2007 and 2006

Indefimite-Lived Intangible Assets

Successor Predecessor
December 31, December 31,
1007 2006
Gross Gross
Carrymg Carrying
{n mullions) Amoung A mount
Goodwill $ 12,104 s 227
Trade name 380 1
Takeoff and amival slots 635 71
SkyTeam alhiance 480 —
Other 2 —
Total M) 14,101 S 296

At October 1, 2007 and December 31, 2006, we performed the requrred annual impairment test of our goodwill and indefinite-lived mtangible assets These tests

resulted in no impamment For additional information about our accounting policy for goodwall and other intangible assets, see Note 2

Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Estimated Gross Esbhmated Gross

Lafe in Carrying Accumulated Life 1 Carrying Accumulated

{10 mulk } Year(s) Amount Amortzation Years Amount A mortization

Marketing agreements 4 $ 710 ) (129) — $ — S —

Contracts 1710 34 205 (10) _ — —

Customer relationships 4 40 7 — — _
Operating rights — _ — 9to 19 121 {104)
Other 1 1 () 3t s 3 3
Total 5 956 S (147) $ 124 5 {107)

Total amortization expense recognized for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005 was $147 milhon, $1 millton, $1 milhon and §5 miilion, respectively The followmng table summanzes the expected amortization expense for our

definite-lived mtangtble assets

Years Ending December 31,

{m mulkons)
2008 $ 217
2009 217
2010 217
2011 18
2012 12
After 2012 128
Total § 809
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Note 6 Debt

The followmg table summanzes our debt at December 31, 2007 and 2006

Successor _Predecessor
m December 31,
(1n mulbons) 2007 1006
Sentor Secured™
Sentar Secured Fxit Financing Faciin®
6 83% Furst-Lien Synthetic Revolving Facility due Apnl 30, 2012 $ 567 $ —
8 (8% Second-Lien Term Loan due April 30, 2014 896 —
1,463 —
Secured Super-Priority Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement”
8 12% GE DIP Credit Facility Term Loan A due March 16, 2008 — 600
10 12% GE DIP Credit Facility Term Loan B due March 16 2008 — 700
12 87% GE DIP Credut Facility Term Loan C due March 16, 2008 — 600
— 1,900
(ther senior secured debr®
14 11% Amex Facility Note due m mstallments during 2007 — 176
— 176
Secured®
Series 2000-1 Enhanced Equipment Trust Cernficates {* EETC’)
7 38% Class A-1 due mn mstallments from 2008 to May 18,2010 96 136
7 57% Class A-2 due November 18,2010 738 738
7 92% Class B due November 18, 2010 182 182
1,016 1,056
Sertes 2001-1 EETC
6 62% Class A-I due m mstallments from 2008 to March 18, 2011 127 130
7 11% Class A-2 due September 18, 2011 571 51
7 71% Class B due September 18, 2011 207 207
905 908
Sertes 2001-2 EETC*
7 35% Class A due in installments from 2008 1o December 18, 2011 — 313
8 55% Class B due 1n stallments from 2008 to December 18,2011 — 145
9 90% Class C due 1n installments from 2008 to December 18 2011 — 64
— 522
Sertes 2002-1 EETC
6 72% Class G-I due m mnstailments from 2008 to January 2 2023 421 454
6 42% Class G-2 due July 2, 2012 370 370
7 78% Class C due 1n mstallments from 2008 to January 2, 2012 94 111
885 935
Sertes 2003-1 EETC?
5 83% Class G due January 25, 2008 265 291
9 11% Class C due January 25, 2008 135 135
400 426
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Successor Predecessor
December 31, December 31,
{in mulbons) 1007 2006
Sertes 2007-1 EETCY
6 82% Class A due tn installments from 2008 to August 10, 2022 924 —
8 02% Class B due 1n installments from 2008 to August 10, 2022 265 —
8 95% Class C due 1n mstallments from 2008 to August 10, 2014 220 —
1.409
General Electric Capital Corporation{ GECC 'j*
9 74% Notes due m installments from 2008 to July 7, 2011 (*Spare Engines Loan™} 137 168
9 86% Notes due m installments from 2008 to July 7, 2011 (**Awrcraft Loan™)™* — 119
6 98% Notes due m mstallments from 2008 to September 27, 2014 (*Spare Parts Loan ") 405 271
542 558
Cther secured debr
8 33% Senior Secured Notes due 1n mstallments from 2008 to September 29, 2012 162 189
500% to 7 19% Other secured financings due 1n installments from 2008 to December 6, 202204 1253 1,354
Total semior secured and secured debt $ 8,035 $ 8,024
Unsecured™
Massachusetts Port Authoruty Special Facilities Revenue Bonds
5 0-5 5% Senes 2001 A due 1n mstallments from 2012 to January 1, 2027 s — 13 338
4 25% Senes 2001B due 1n instzllments from 2027 to January t, 2031 — 80
4 3% Sertes 2001C due i mstallments from 2027 to Janvary 1, 2031 — 80
8 75% Boston Termunal A due i installments from 2008 to June 1, 2016 214 —
Development Authority of Clayton County loan agreement®
3 92% Senies 2000A due June 1, 2029 — 65
4 00% Series 20008 due May 1, 2035 — 110
4 Q0% Series 2000C due May 1, 2035 — 120
Other unsecured debt
7 7% Notes due December 15, 2005~ _ 122
7 9% Notes due December 15, 2009+ — 499
9 75% Debentures due May 15, 2021» — 106
8 3% Notes due December 15, 2029+ —_ 925
8 125% Notes due July 1, 20392 — 538
10 0% Senior Notes due August 15, 2008> — 248
8 0% Convertible Semior Notes due June 3, 20232 _ 350
2% Convertible Senior Notes due Febrary 18,2024~ — 325
3 01% to 8 00% Other unsecured debt due m mstallments from 2008 to December 1, 2030 52 703
Total unsecured debt 266 4,609
Total secured and unsecured debt, including habilities subject to compromise 8.301 12,633
Plus unamortized prermiums, net™ 155 —
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—Sueccessor _Predecessor
December 31, December 31,
{1n mulbons} 2007 2006
Total secured and unsecured debt, includmg habilites subject to compromise 8 456 12,633
Less debt classified as habilies subject to compromise™ —_ (4,945)
Total debt 8.456 7,688
Less current matunittes (929) {1,466)
Total long-term debt g 7,527 s 6.222
¥I' " Our semior secured debt and secured debt are collaterabzed by first hens, and tn many cases second and junior kens, on substantially all of our assets, includimg, but not limted to, accounts recervable,
owned sircrafl, cenain spare engines, certain spare parts, certain flight Iators, ground equip 1, landmg slots, intemational routes, equuty mierests in certam of gur domeste subsidianes
wmtellectual property and real property

o

(4]

(L]

Our vanable nterest rate long-term debt 1s shown using interest rates, which represent EIBOR or Commeretal Paper plus a specified margin, as provided for in the related agreements The rates shown
were tn effect at December 31 2007 1f apphicable For our long-term debt discharged as pan of our emergence from bankrupicy the rates shown were in e ffect a1 Decemnber 3E, 2006

In October 2007 we completed the sale of $t 4 bitheon of Pass Through Certrficates Senes 2007-1 (the 2007-1 Certtficates™) The proceeds fom this offenng were pnmanly used to prepay certamn
exesting awrcraft d and related £ including these debt tnstruments The rates shown for these prepard debt instrureents were m effect at Seprember 30, 2007

For additional information about this debt, as amended see * GECC Agreements’ below

In accordance with SOP 90-7, sub Uy all of our ed debt had been classified a5 habilities subject to compromise at December 31,2006 Additionally, certan of our undersecured debt had
been classtfied as habtlues subpeet 1o compromse at December 31 2006

Certain of our secured and undersecured debt, which was classified as Lhabilities subject to comprommse at December 31, 2006 has been reclassified to long tenin debt or converied to operating leases as
of our emergence ffom bankrupicy

In connection with our adopiton of fresh start reporting upon our emergence from bankruptey we recorded certam of cur long term debt at far value

In September 2007 our wholly owned subsidiary Comarr entered mito a long term debt agreement to borrow up to $290 nullion to finance the acquisition of 14 CRJ 900 arrcraft. We have provided a
guarantee 1o the lender covenng payment on behalf of Comarr in the event of default Our obhgations under this debt agreement are secured by the undertying acrerafl As of December 31 2007, $160
million of borrowings were outstanding with respect to the delivery of eight arcraft
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Future Maturities

The following table summarizes scheduled maturifies of our debt, including current maturities, at December 3i, 2007

Principal
Years Ending December 31, Amgunt

{un milhions)
2008 $ 929
2009 526
2010 1,383
2011 1,211
2012 1,290
After 2012 3117
Total $ 8456

Exit Financing

Om Apnl 30, 2007 (the “Closing Date™ we entered nto the Exit Facihities to borrow up to $2 5 billion from a syndicate of lenders Proceeds from a portion of
the Exat Facilities and existing cash were used to repay the DIP Facility The retnainder of the proceeds from the Exat Facilittes and the letters of credit 1ssued
thereunder are available for general corporate purposes

The Exit Facilities consist of a $1 0 illion first-lien revolving credit facibity, up to $400 mullion of which may be used for the 1ssuance of letters of credit {the
“Revolvmg Facility”), a $600 million first-hen synthetic revelving facility (the “Synthetic Facihity™) (together with the Revolving Facility, the “First-Lien Facihines™),
and a $900 m:llion second-hien term loan facility (the “Term Loan’ or the “Second-Lien Facility™) The scheduled matunity dates for the First-Lien Facilizes and the
Second-Lien Facikity are the fifih and seventh anmversaries, respectively, of the Closing Date of the Exit Facilities

The Furst-Lien Facilities bear interest, at our option, at LIBOR plus 2 0% or an index rate plus 1 (%, the Second-Lien Facility bears interest, at our option, at
LIBCR plus 3 25% or an index rate plus 2 25% Interest 1s payable (1) with respect to LIBOR loans on the last day of each relevant mterest penod {defined as one, two,
three or six months or any longer penod available to all lenders under the relevant facility) and, in the case of any interest peniod longer than three months on each
successtve date three months after the first day of such interest period, and (2) with respect to indexed loans, quarterly 1n arrears

Gur obhigations under the Exit Facilities are guaranteed by substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries (the “Guarantors ’) The Exit Facilities and the related
guarantees are secured by hiens on substantially all of our and the Guarantors” present and future assets that previously secured DIP Facility on a first prionity basis (the
“Coliateral™) The First-Lien Facilites are secured by a first pnonty secunty mierest in the Collateral The Second-Lien Facility 15 secured by a second prionity secunity
mnterest in the Collateral

We are requred to mzke mandatory repayments of the Exit Facilities, subject to certam remvestment nights, frem the sale of any Collateral or receipt of
msurance proceeds mn respect of any Collateral in the event we fail to maintain the mumimum collateral coverage ratios descnbed below Any portion of the Exnt
Facilities that 1s repaid through mandatory prepayments may not be reborrowed Any portion of the Term Loan that 1s vohuntanly repaid may also not be reborrowed

The Exit Facilities mclude affirmative, negative and financial covenants that restrict our ability to, among other things, mcur additional secured mdebtedness,
make mvestments sell or otherwise dispose of assets 1f not in compliance with the collateral coverage ratio tests, pay dividends or repurchase stock These covenants
may have a matertal adverse impact on our operations
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The Exit Facilines contain financial covenants that requuire us to

. maintan a munimum fixed charge coverage ratio (defined as the ratio of (1) earnings before mterest, taxes depreciation, amortization and arrcraft rent,
and subject to other adjustments to net mcome (“EBITDAR™) to (2) the sum of gross cash mterest expense, cash aircraft rent expense and the mterest
portion of our capiahzed lease obhigatons for successive traihng 12-month periods endmg at each quarter-end date through the maturity date of the
respective Exit Facilities), which mumimum ratio will range from 1 00 1 to 1 20 1 n the case of the First-Lien Facihiues and from 085 1 to 1 02 | in the
case of the Second-Lien Facility,

. maintam unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term mvestments of not less than $750 mullion 1n the case of the Frrst-Lien Facilities and $650
mllion wn the case of the Second-Lien Facility, in each case at all umes followmng the 30* day after the Clesimng Date,

. mamtam a minimum total collateral coverage ratio (defined as the ravo of (1) certamn of our Cellateral that meets specified eligibility standards
{“‘Eligable Collateral) to (2) the sum of the aggregate outstandmg exposure under the First-Lien Facihities and the Second-Lien Facility and the
aggregate termmnation value of certamn hedging agreements) of 125% at all trmes, and

. in the case of the First-Lien Facilities, also mamtam a mmirum first-len collateral coverage ratio {together with the total collateral coverage ratio
described above, the “collateral coverage ratios”) (defined as the ratio of (1) Ehgible Collateral to (2) the sum of the aggregate outstanding exposure
under the Furst Lien Facthties and the aggregate termination value of certamn hedging agreements) of 175% at all times

The Exat Facihities contam events of default customary for Chapter 11 exit financings, including cross-defaults to other matenial indebtedness and certain change
of control events The Exit Factlities also mnclude events of default specific to our busimess, mcluding if all or substantially all of our flights and other operations are
suspended for more than two consecutive days {other than as a result of a Federal Aviation Adminstration (the “FAA”) suspension due to extraordmary events sinilarly
affecting other major U S arr cammers) Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the outstandmg obligations under the Exit Facilities may be accelerated and become
due and payable immediately

2007-1 EETC

[n October 2007, we completed the sale of $1 4 billion of the 2007-1 Ceruficates The 2007-1 Ceruficates were 1ssued in three classes, compnsed of $924
mullion of Class A Certificates with an interest rate of 6 82% per annum, $265 million of Class B Ceruficates with an nterest rate of § 02% per annum and $220 million
of Class C Certificates with an interest rate of 8 95% perannum Each class of the 2007-1 Certificates was 1ssued by a different pass through trust

The proceeds from the sale of the 2007-1 Certificates were used to acquire equipment notes (the “Equipment Notes™) from us m an aggregate principal amount
of $1 4 lllion The Equipment Notes are secured by 36 Boemng awrcraft delivered to us from 1998 to 2002 The awrcraft previously secured certan other financings
descnibed below The Equipment Notes were ssued 1n three senes, bearing mterest and m principal amounts corresponding to the respective class of 2007-1
Certificates

Interest on the Equipment Notes 1s payable semiannually on each February 10 and August 10, begmming on February 10, 2008 The principal payments on the
Equipment Notes are scheduled on February 10 and August 10 m centain years, beginming on February 10, 2008 The final payments will be due on August 10, 2022, m
the case of the Senes A and Series B Equipment Notes, and August 10, 2014, in the case of the Senies C Equipment Notes The Equipment Notes 1ssued with respect to
each atrcraft are secured by a hen on such arrcraft and also are cross-collaterahzed by the other arrcrafl Payments on the Equipment Notes held m each pass-through
trust will be passed through to the certificate holders of such trust
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We used the proceeds from the 1ssuance of the Equipment Notes for the prepayment or repurchase of $961 million of existing financings, which were
collectively secured by the 36 arcraft and for general corporate purposes The existing financings that were prepaid or repurchased include (1) our Senes 2001-2 I
EETC, (2) the Awrcraft Loan (as defined in the table above mn this Note) and (3) bond ssues that were backed by a letter of credit facthity provided by GECC pursuant to I
a reimbursement agreement between us and GECC

The 2007-1 Certificates were sold 1 a pnvate placement to quahified institutional buyers under Rule 144 A of the Secunties Act of 1933, as amended Pursuant
10 a registration rights agreement, which we entered into upon the 1ssuance of the 2007-1 Certificates, we expect to file an exchange offer registration statement or,
under specific creumstances, a shelf registration statement with respect to the 2007-1 Certficates

Pre-Delwvery Deposits Financing

On December 19, 2007, we entered mto 2 Loan and Security Agreement (the “PDP Financing Facility™} to borrow up to $233 nulhion to finance certain pre-
delivery payments (“PDP’s”) payable by us 10 The Boeing Company (“Boewng”) with respect to future deliveries of 10 B-737-700 awrcraft and eight B-777-200LR
arcraft (collectively, the “PDP Awreraft™) As of December 31, 2007, $156 mullion of borrowings were outstanding under this faciliy

The PDP Financing Facihity consists of 18 separate loans, one loan for each PDP Awrcraft The separate loan for each PDP Aircraft matures upon the delivery of
that aircraft to us by Boeing Therefore, the loans under the PDP Finanemg Faciity wall have various matunity dates, begimmng in February 2008 through August 2009

Qur obhgauons under the PDP Financing Facility are secured primarily by a first priority lien on our nghts and interests under the purchase agreements between
us and Boeing for the purchase of the PDP Awcraft. Our obhigations are also secured by a first prionty bien on certam deposits, equipment and other persenal property
that are directly attnibutable to the PDP Asrcraft and corresponding purchase agreements

The PDP Fmancmg Facility contams affirmatve and negative covenants and events of default that are typical in the industry for ssmilar financings The PDP
Fmancing Facility does not contatn any financial covenants

GECC Agreements

As of December 31 2007, we have two outstanding financing arrangements with GECC as referenced 1n the table above 1n this Note and referred to as the Spare
Engines Loan and the Spare Parts Loan As described above, in 2007, we prepaid an additional financing arrangement with GECC referred to as the Awrcraft Loan with
the proceeds from the 1ssuance of the 2007-1 Certificates In addition, we terminated a reumbursement agreement with GECC under which letters of credit were 1ssued
to support certam special facihty bonds '

The Spare Engines Loan 1s secured by 93 spare Mamline arrcraft engines (“Engimne Collateral”) and a portion of the Mamhne aircraft spare parts that we own
{"Spare Parts Collateral””) The Spare Engines Loan 1s not repayable at our election prior to matunty

Durmg 2007, we amended the Spare Parts Loan to, among other things, ncrease the outstanding principal amount and reduce the mnterest rate The Spare Parts
Loan 1s secured by the Spare Parts Collateral and the Engme Collateral

The Engme Collateral and Spare Parts Collateral also secure leases for up to 22 CRJ-200 aircraft and, on a subordinated basis, certamn other existing debt and
arrcraft lease obligattons to GECC and its affihates
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Boston Airport Terminal Project

During 2001, we entered mto lease and financing agreements with Massport for the redevelopment and expansion of Termmal A at Boston’s Logan International
Arrport The construction of the new terminal was funded with $498 milhon 1 proceeds from Special Factlittes Revenue Bonds 1ssued by Massport n 2001 We agreed
to pay the debt service on the bonds under an agreement with Massport and 1ssued a guarantee to the bond trustee covermg the payment of the debt service

As pant of our Chapter 11 proceedings, we entered 1nto a settlement agreement with Masspon, the bond trustee and the bord msurer providing, among other
things for a reduction in our leasehold premuses, the abality to return some additional space n 2007 and 2011, the reduction of our lease term to 10 years and the
elimmation of the guarantee of debt service Duning 2007, we exercised our opuon to retum certamn space On February 14, 2007, the Bankruptey Court approved a
consent motion authorizing the settlement agreement, the assumption of the amended lease and the restructunng of related agreements

Due to the settlement with Massport, we derecognized $498 million of debt associated with the Special Facility Revenue Bonds offset m part prrmanly by
(1) $155 mallion 1n asset charges related to a reduction m space and (2) $134 mllion associated with the recordmng of new debt As a result, we recorded a net
reorgamzation gaw of $126 mulhion for the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007

In connection with our adoption of fresh start reporting, the remaming Massport assets and debt were revalued at estumated fair value, resulimg m (1) a $70
milhon increase i the farr value of the debt and (2) 2 $41 million reduction 1n the fair value of the assets

Other

Our financing agreements contain certain aftirmative, negative and financial covenants In addition, as 1s customary m the arrhne mdustry, our arcraft lease and
financmg agreements require that we mamtam certain levels of msurance coverage, including war-risk insurance Failure to mamtam these coverages may result n an
umterruption to our operations For additional information about our war-risk insurance currently provided by the US Govemnment, see Note 8

We were m comphance with these covenant requirements at December 31, 2007
Note 7 Lease Oblhigations

We lease arrcraft, arrport termunals and mamtenance facalities, ticket offices and other property and equipment from third parties Rental expense for operating
leases, which 1s recorded on a straight-line basis over the hfe of the lease term, totaled $470 million for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, $261 mallion for the
four months ended April 30, 2007 and $961 mullion and $1 1 billion for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively Amounts due under capitzl leases
are recorded as liabthties on our Consolidated Balance Sheets Our mterest n assets acquired under capital leases 1s recorded as property and equipment on our
Consclidated Balance Sheets Amortization of assets recorded under capital leases 15 ncluded m depreciation and amertization expense on our Consolidated Statements
of Operations Qur leases do not include residual value guarantees
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The following tables summarize, as of December 31, 2007, our mmimum rental commitments under capital leases and noncancelable operating leases (mchiding
certain aircraft under contract carmer agreements) with imtial terms in excess of one year

Capital Leases

Years Ending December 31,

{mn millipns}
2008 $ 128
2009 125
2010 125
2011 118
2012 84
After 2012 112
Total mmmum lease payments 692
Less amount of lease payments representing interest (148)
Present value of future mmumum capital lease payments 544
Less current obligations under capital leases (83)
Long-term capital lease obligations $ 459

Operating Leases

Years Ending December 31,

Contract
Carner
Delta Agreements
Lease Lease
{in mulhons) Fayments Payments Total
2008 $ 755 3 476 $ 1,231
2009 609 453 1,062
2010 548 421 969
2011 a17 407 824
2012 358 400 758
After 2012 1,477 2377 3,854
Total mimmum lease payments § 4,164 5 4,53 § 8698

At December 31 2007, we operated 137 arrcraft under operating leases and 82 arrcraft under capital leases These leases have remaining terms ranging from 10
months to mne years During the four months ended April 30, 2007 and the years ended December 3 1, 2006 and 2005, we recorded estimated claums relating to the
restructuning of the financig arrangements for many of our aircraft and the rejection of certamn of our leases For additional information regarding these claims, see
Note 1
Note 8 Purchase Comnutments and Contingencies
Aircraft Order Commitments

Future commutments for awrcraft on firm order as of December 31,2007 are $3 3 billion The followmng table shows the iming of these commtments

Years Ending December 31,

(1n mullions)

2008 $1,295

2009 1,248

2010 712
Total 53255
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Qur aircraft order commitments as of December 31, 2007 consist of firm orders to purchase eight B-777-200LR arrcraft, 10 B-737-700 awrcraft, 40 B-737.800
arrcrafi and 18 CRJ-900 arrcraft as discussed below Our firm orders to purchase 40 B-737-800 atrcraft melude 38 B-737-800 awrcraft, which we have entered into
defimtive agreements to sell to thard parties immediately following delivery of these arcrafi to us by the manufacturer These sales wail reduce our future commitments
by approximately $1 6 billion during the period from 2008 through 2050

During 2007, we entered into agreements with Bombardier Inc (“Bombardier”) to purchase 44 CRJI-900 amcraft for delivery between August 2007 and February
2010 These arcraft will be delivered m two-class, 76 seat configurahon We have available to us long-term, secured financing commtments to fund a substantial
portion of the arrcrafi purchase price for these orders We expect these CRJ-900 amrcraft will be operated by regional air carrters under our contract carrier agreements
COur agreements with Bombardier perrut us to assign to other carrrers our CRJ-900 awrcraft orders and related support provisions In April 2007, we assigned toa
regional awr carrier our orders to purchase 16 CRJ-900 awcraft The remaming CRJ-900 arrcraft are scheduled for delivery between August 2007 and May 2009 As of
December 31, 2007, we had accepted delivery of 10 aircraft

The above table dees not include any commutments by us for the CRJ-900 Assigned Arrcraft because the regional atr carner 1s required to purchase and make the
related payments for those arcraft While we would be required to purchase the CRJ-900 Assigned Arrcraft m the event of a default by the regional air carner of its
purchase obligation, we currenily belhieve such an event 1s not hkely

At December 31, 2007, we had (1) agreements to lease an additional three B-757-200ER awrcraft and (2) a letter of intent to lease one additional B-757-200ER
arcraft, which we entered mto a final agreement m January 2008 We accepted dehivery of two awrcraft in January 2008, and expect to recerve the remainng two arrcraft
in the March 2008 quarter

Contract Carrier Agreements
Delta Connection Carriers

As of December 31, 2007, we had contract carnier agreements with 10 regional air carniers, including our wholly owned subsidiary, Comair As discussed below,
one carrier ceased operations mn January 2008

Capacity Purchase Agreements Dunng the eight months ended December 31, 2007 and the four months ended April 30, 2007, seven regional awr carriers
operated for us (in additron to Comarr} pursuant to capacity purchase agreements Under these agreements, the regional air camers operate some or all of therr arrcrafl
using our fhght code, and we schedule those atrcraft, sell the seats on those flights and retain the related revenues We pay those awrlines an amount, as defined in the
applicable agreement, which 1s based on a determunation of their cost of operating those flights and other factors intended to approximate market rates for those
services We have entered mto more than one capacity purchase agreement with three of these carriers For the years ending 2008, 2009, 2010,2011, 2012 and
thereafier, we have Contract Carrier obligations of $2 4 billion, $2 5 billion, $2 6 billion, $2 6 ballion, $2 5 billion and $14 ¢ bullton, respectively These amounts
represent our miimum fixed obhgation under our Contract Carrter agreements with Atlantic Southeast Arlnes, Inc (*ASA™), Chautauqua, Expresslet Airlines, Inc
(“ExpressJet™), Freedom, Pinnacle Arrlines, Inc (“Pinnacle™), Shuttle America, and SkyWest Airlines, Inc (“SkyWest Arrlines™) (excluding contract carner lease
payments accounted for as operatmg leases, which are described in Note 7)

F-40




Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Contunued)

The followmg table shows by carner and contract (1) the number of aircraft m Delta Connection operation as of December 31, 2007, (2) the number of aircraft
scheduled to be in Delta Connectzon operation as of December 31, 2008, (3) the number of arrcraft scheduled to be m Delta Connection operatton immediately prior to
the exprratton date of the agreement and (4) the expiration date of the agreement

Number of
Aircraft
“umber of Scheduled
Arrcraft to be in
Number of Scheduled to Operation
Alrcraft in be Immedmtety
Operaticn Operation Prior to the
as of as of Expiration Expiration
December 3, December 31, of the Date of
Carrier™ 2007 2008 Agreement Agreement
ASA 153 141 141 2020
SkyWest Atrlines 82 77 82 2020
ASA/SkyWest Arrlmes™ 10 12 12 2012
Chautauqua 39 33 24 2016
Freedom (ERI-145 arcrafi)” 36 28 22 2012
Freedom (CRJ-900 aircraft)> 2 12 14 2017
Shuule Amenica 16 16 16 2019
Expresslet 10 10 10 2009
Pinnacle 1 14 16 2017
Total 349 343 337

The table above was not subject to the audit procedures of our [ndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm

" We have an agreement with ASA SkyWest Airines and SkyWest, Inc (*SkyWest™} the parent company of ASA and SkyWest Arrlines under which the parties collectively determene whether the
aircrafi are operated by ASA or SkyWest Aurlines

S' We have sep agr with Freedom that involve different asrcrafi types expiation dates and terms

The following table shows the available seat mules (“ASMs") and revenue passenger mtles (“RPMs’ ) operated for us under capacity purchase agreements with
the followng seven unaffiliated Contract Camriers for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

. SkyWest Arrlines and Chautauqua for all periods presented,

. Shuitle America for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and from September 1 through December 31 2005,

. ASA for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and from September 8 through December 31,2005 On September 7, 2005, we sold ASA to

SkyWest,

. Freedom for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and from October | to December 3t, 2005,

. Expresslet from June 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007, and

. Pinnacle from December 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007
{in null except for ber of arcraft op 4 2007 2006 1005
ASMs 17,881 15,390 8275
RPMs 14 005 11,931 5961
Number of arcraft operated, end of period 349 324 265

The table above was not subject to the audit procedures of our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Revenue Proration Agreements As of December 31, 2007, we had revenue proraton agreements with Amencan Eagle Airlmes, Inc , Big Sky Awlines (* Big
Sky") and ExpressJet I[n addmhon, a portion of our contract carner agreement with SkyWest Airlines 15 structured as a revenue proration agreement These agreements
establish a fixed dollar or percentage division of revenues for tickets sold to passengers traveling on connecting fhight itmeranes Effective January 7, 2008 Big Sky
ceased operations

Contingencies Related to Termination of Contract Carrier Agreements

We may terminate the Chautaurqua and Shuttle Amerrca agreements without cause at any time after May 2010 and July 2015, respectively, by providing certain
advance notice If we termmnate eather the Chautauqua or Shuttle Ametica agreements without cause, Chautaugua or Shuttle Amernica, respectively, has the nght to
{1} assign to us leased awrcraft that the airline operates for us, provided we are able to continue the leases on the same terms the airline had pnor to the assignment and
(2) require us to purchase or lease any of the arrcraf that the arrlme owns and operates for us at the ume of the termunation If we are required to purchase aircraft
owned by Chautauqua or Shuttle Amenca, the purchase price would be equal to the amount necessary to (1) rermburse Chautauqua or Shuttle Amenca for the equity 1t
provided to purchase the awrrcraft and (2) repay m full any debt outstanding at such time that 15 not being assumed in connection with such purchase If we are required
10 lease asrcrafl owned by Chautauqua or Shuttle Amenica, the lease would have (1) a rate equal to the debt payments of Chautavqua or Shuttle America for the debt
financing of the arcraft calculated as 1f 90% of the awrcraft was debt financed by Chautauqua or Shuttle Amenica and (2) other specified terms and condttions

We estimate that the total fair values, determined as of December 31, 2007, of the aircraft that Chautauqua or Shuttle America could assign to us or require that
we purchase 1f we terminate without cause our contract carrier agreements with those airlnes (the “Put Right’ ) are approximately $480 rmillon and $370 milhon,
respectively The actual amount that we may be required to pay in these circumstances may be matenally different from these estimates [f the Chautauqua or Shuttle
Amertca Put Right 15 exercised, we must also pay to the exercising carmer 10% mierest (compounded monthly) on the equity the camer provided when 1t purchased the
put arrcraft These equity amounts for Chautauqua and Shuttle Amenca total $56 mullion and $34 mithon, respectively

Legal Contingencies

We are volved 1n various legal proceedings relating to employment practices, environmental 1ssues and other matters concernmg our busmess We cannot
reasonably estumate the potential loss for certain legal proceedings because, for example, the htigation 1s 1 1ts early stages or the plamtiff does not speeify the damages
being sought

Comatr Flight 3191

On August 27,2006 Comair Flight 5191 crashed shortly after take-off in a field near the Blue Grass Awrport in Lexmgton, Kentucky All 47 passengers and two
members of the flight crew died in the accident The third crew member survived with severe myjuries Lawsuits arsing out of this accident have been filed agamst our
wholly owned subsidiary, Comair, on behalf of 44 passengers A number of lawsuits also name Delta as a defendant The lawsuits generally assert claums for wrongful
death and related personal injuries, and seek unspecitfied damages, including punitive damages m most cases As of January 28 2008, settlements have been reached
with the farmuilies of 15 of the 47 passengers All the passenger lawsuits are currently pending in the U 8§ Distnct Court for the Eastern Distnct of Kentucky and have
been consohdated as “In Re Air Crash at Lexington, Kentucky, August 27, 2006, Master File No 5 06-CV-316
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Comair and Delta conunue 1o pursue settlement negotations with the plamuffs m these lawsuits The settled cases have been dismissed wath prejudice

Comatr has filed direct actions m the U S District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky agamst the U S (based on the actions of the FAA), and in state
court m Fayette County, Kentucky, agamst the Lexington Atrport Board and certamn other Lexington awrport defendants Comarr has also filed third party complamnts
against these same parties i each of the pendmng passenger lawsuits These actions seek to apportzon hability for damages ansing from this accident among all
responsible parties

During 2006, we recorded a long-term Liability with a corresponding long-term recervable from our msurance carmers wn other noncurrent iabilities and assets,
respectively, on cur Consoltdated Balance Sheet relating to the Comair Fhght 5191 accident These amounts may be revised as additional information becomes
available and as settlements are finalized We carry aviation nsk hability msurance and beheve that this insurance 1s sufficient to cover any liability likely to anse from
this accidemt

Cincinnant Awport Settlement

On Apnl 24, 2007, the Bankrupicy Court approved the Cmcinnat Awrport Settlement Agreement with the Kenton County Awrport Beard (“KCAB”} and UMB ‘
Bank, N A , the trustee (the “Bond Trustee™) for the Sertes 1992 Bonds (as defined below), to restructure certain of our lease and other obhigations at the Cmemnau-
Nerthern Kentucky International Atrport (the “Cincmnati Aiwrport”) The Serres 1992 Bonds mctude (1) the $419 mull:on Kenton County Awrport Board Special
Facihiies Revenue Bonds, 1992 Senes A {Delta Air Lines, Inc Project), $397 million of which were then outstanding, and (2) the $19 mllien Kenton County Atrport
Board Special Facilizes Revenue Bonds, 1992 Sertes B (Delta Air Lines, Inc Project), $16 mullion of which were then outstandmg

The Cincmnats Awrport Settlement Agreement, ameng other things

. provides for agreements under which we will continue to use certam facihues at the Cincinnan Awrport at substantially reduced costs,

. settles all disputes among us, the KCAB, the Bond Trustee and the former, present and future holders of the 1992 Bonds (the *1992 Bondholders™)
. gves the Bond Trustee, on behalf of the 1992 Bondholders, a $260 nullien allowed general, unsecured claim m our bankruptcy proceedings, and

. provides for our 1ssuance of $66 mullion principal amount of sentor unsecured notes to the Bond Trustee on behalf of the 1992 Bondholders

On May 3, 2007, the parties to the Cincinnati Arrport Settlement Agreement unplemented that agreement in accordance with its terms A small group of
bondholders (the “Objecting Bondholders’ ) challenged the settlement 1 the U S District Court for the Southern District of New York In August 2007, the Drsmct
Court affirmed the Bankruptcy Court’s order approving the settlement The Objectmg Bondholders have appealed to the U S Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit

Credit Card Processing Agreements
Visa/MasterCard Processing Agreement
In June 2007, we entered into an amended and restated Visa/MasterCard credit card processing agreement (the *Amended Processing Agreement”) that, among

other things, resulted i the release by the credit card processor (“Processor’™) of the Reserve (defined below) under the agreement and extended the term of the
agreement to October 31, 2008
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Prior to the amendment, the Processor withheld payment from our recervables and/or required a cash reserve of an amount (“Reserve’ ) equal to the Processor's
potential liability for tickets purchased with Visa or MasterCard that had not yet been used for travel {the “Unflown Ticket Liability”) The Processing Agreement
allowed us to substrtute a letter of credit, which was 1ssued by a third party, for a portion of the Reserve equal to the lesser of $300 miliion and 45% of the Unflown
Ticket Laabibty

Including the letter of credut, the Reserve, which adjusted daily, totaled approximately $1 1 bilhon prior to enterig mto the Amended Processing Agreement In
May 2007, Delta and the Processor entered into a letter agreement pursuant to which the Processor surrendered the letter of credit and correspondingly reduced the
amount of the Reserve Upon entering into the Amended Processing Agreement, the Processor returned to us the remaining $804 mullion Reserve

The Amended Processing Agreement provides that no future Reserve 15 required except in certatn circumstances, mcluding events that in the reasonable
determmaton of the Processor would have a matenal adverse effect on us

Further, 1f either we or the Processor determines not to extend the term of the Amended Processing Agreement beyond October 31, 2008, then the Processor may
mamntain a Reserve, if we do not mamtam a certain amount of cash, during the pertod of 90 days before the expuwation date of the agreement The Reserve would equal
approximately 100% of the value of tickets for which we had received payment under the Amended Processmg Agreement, but which have not been used for travel,
unless we have unrestricted cash above a level specified in the Amended Processing Agreement Such a Reserve would be released to us following termination of the
Amended Processmg Agreement as tickets are used for travel

American Express

Our Amenican Express credit card processing agreement, entered into i 2004 and amended in 2005, provides that Amencan Express 1s permutted to wrthhold
our recervables m certain circumstances These circumstances include a material increase m the risk that we will be unable to meet our obligations under the agreement
or our business undergomg a material adverse change No amounts were withheld as of December 31, 2007 and 2006

Other Contingencies
Regional Airports Improvement Corporation { RAIC ')

We have obligations under a facilities agreement with the RAIC to pay the bond trustee amounts suffictent to pay the debt service on $47 muilron in Facilites
Sublease Refunding Revenue Bonds These bonds were 1ssued in 1996 to refinance bonds thalt financed the construction of certain airport and terminal faciliies we use
at Los Angeles Intemational Arport We also provide a guarantee to the bond trustee covering payment of the debt service

General Indemmfications

We are the lessee under many commercial real estate leases It 1s common 1n these transactions for us, as the lessee, to agree to mdemmfy the lessor and the
lessor’s related parties for tort, environmental and other habihttes that arse out of or relate to our use or occupancy of the leased premuses This type of mdemmnity
would typically make us responsible to indemnified parties for habihties ansing out of the conduct of, among others, contractors, hicensees and mvitees at or in
connection with the use or occupancy of the leased prermses This indemnity often extends to related habilities ansing from the negligence of the mdemmfied parties,
but usually excludes any abilittes caused by etther thetr sole or gross negligence and thewr willful musconduct
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Our arrcraft and other equipment lease and financing agreements typically contan provisions requinng us, as the lessee or obligor, to indemnify the other partes
to those agreements, meluding certain of those parues’ retated persons, agamst virtually any habihties that mught anse from the condition, use or operation of the
arrcraft or such other equipment

We believe that our imsurance would cover most of our exposure 1o such hatilities and related mdemnities associated wath the types of lease and financing
agreements described above, inchuding real estate leases However, our msurance does not typrcally cover environmental habilities, although we have certain policies m
place to meet the requirements of appliczble environmental laws

Certam of our aircraft and other financing transactions mclude provisions which require us to make payments to preserve an expected economuc returmn to the
lenders 1if that economic return 15 diminished due to certain changes in law or regulations In certain of these financing transactions, we also bear the nsk of certan
changes m tax laws that would subject payments to non-U § lenders to withholding taxes

We cannol reasonably estimate our potential future payments under the indemntties and related provisions described above because we cannet predret (1) when
and under what circumstances these provisions may be tnggered and (2) the amount that would be payable 1f the provisions were mggered because the amounts would
be based on facts and circumstances existing at such tume

Employees Under Collective Bargaining Agreements

At December 31,2007, we had a total of 55,044 full-ime equivalent employees Approximately 17% of these employees mcludmng all of our plots, are
represented by labor unions In February 2008, the Association of Flight Attendants/Communication Workers of Amenca filed an apphcation for elecuon with the
National Mediation Board, asking 1t to conduct a representation election among Delta flight attendants The tming and outcome of this matter cannot presently be
determumned

War-Rusk Insurance Conungency

As a result of the terronst attacks on September 11, 2001, aviatron insurers significantly reduced the maximum amount of insurance coverage available to
commercial air carmeers for habiluty to persons {other than employees or passengers) for claims resulting from acts of terronsm, war or stmtlar events At the same time,
aviation msurers sigmificantly mcreased the premums for such coverage and for aviation msurance m general Since September 24, 2001, the US govemment has been
providing U § arhnes with war-t1sk msurance to cover losses, including those resulung from terrorism, to passengers, third parties (ground damage) and the awrcrafi
hul! The coverage currently extends through August 31, 2008 The withdrawal of government support of airline war-risk insurance would require us to obtamn war-risk
insurance coverage commercially, 1f available Such cormmercial mnsurance could have substantially less desirable coverage than currently provided by the U S
government, may not be adequate to protect our nsk of loss from future acts of terrorism, may result m a matenial increase to our operating expenses or may not be
obtamable at all, resulting m an interruption to our operations

Fuel Inventory Supply Agreement

in 2006, we entered 1nto an agreement with J Aron & Company (“Aron”), an affiliate of Goldman Sachs & Co , pursuant to which Aron became the exclusive
jet fuel supplier for our cperations at the Atlanta airport, the Cincmnats airport and the three major awrports m the New York City area In accordance with this
agreement, i September 2006, we sold to Aron, at then current market prices, (1) all jet fuel mventory that we were then holding 1n storage at facihities that support our
operations at the awrports i Atlanta and Cincinnat and (2) all jet fuel inventory that was mn transit to these awrports as well as 1o the three major New York City area
awrports We received approximately $102 mullion from this sale 1n addition, for the duratton of the agreement, we (1) assigned to Aron certamn exisung supply
agreements with our third party suppliers for jet fuel for these locations, {2) transferred to Aron the night to use our storage faciliics in Atlanta and Cincinnati and
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(3) transferred to Aron allocations m pipelne systems through which jet fuel 1s delivered to storage facihiues for the Atlanta awrport, the Cmemnati aurport and the three
major New York City area airports The mitial sale of our jet fuel mventory did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Statement of Operatons

In August 2007, we and Aron amended and restated the agreement effecuve as of September 15,2007 As amended, the agreement with Aron 15 effective
through September 30, 2008 and automatically renews for a one year term thereafter unless termnated by either party thirty days prior to September 30 2008 Upon
termumatron of the agreement, we will be required to purchase, at market prices at the time of termmnatton, all jet fuel inventory that Aron 1s holding in the storage
facilities that support our operations at the Atlanta and Cincinnat arrports and all jet fuel mventery that 1s m transit to these arports as well as to the three major New
York City area airports Our cost to purchase such mventory may be material At termunation of the agreement, Aron will retumn to us our nights to use the storage
facilities in Atlanta and Cincinnati and our allecattons m prpeline systems

Orher

We have certain contracts for goods and services that require us to pay a penaity, acquire mventery specific o us or purchase contract specific equipment, as
defined by each respective contract, 1f we ternate the contract without cause prior to its expiration date Because these obligations are contingent on our termunation
of the contract without cause prior to 1ts expwaton date, o obhgation would exst unless such a termmation occurs

Note 9 Income Taxes

Deferred mcome taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrymng amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income
tax purposes The following table shows significant components of our deferred tax assets and habilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006

Successor Predecessor

{1n mithons) 2007 2006
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards 3 3,461 $ 2921
Additional mmamum pension hability — 615
Postretrremnent benefits 438 681
Other employee benefits 1,340 2,898
AMT credit carryforward 346 346
Deferred revenue 1273 311
Rent expense 81 1,215
Reorganizatton items 988 —
Other temporary differences 473 287
Valuauon allowance (4,843) {5,165}

Total deferred tax assets 3 3,557 $ 4,105
Deferred tax habihties
Depreciation $ 3.079 $ 3870
Intangibles 1,049 (20)
Other 142 259

Total deferred tax habilities $ 4270 $ 4,108
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The followmg table shows the current and noncurrent deferred tax assets (habilities), recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 and
2006

Successor Predecessor
{1 mmlhons) 2007 2006
Current deferred tax assets, net s 142 s 402
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, net (B55) (406)
Total deferred tax Labilities, net $ (713} $ 4

The current and noncurrent components of our deferred tax balances are generally based on the balance sheet classificauon of the asset or hability creating the
temporary difference If the deferred tax asset or hability 1s not based on a compenent of our balance sheet, such as our net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards, the
classification 15 presented based on the expected reversal date of the temporary difference Our valuation allowance has been classified as current or noncurrent based
on the percentages of current and noncurrent deferred tax assets to total deferred tax assets

At December 31, 2007, we had (1) $346 million of federal alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) credit carryforwards, which do not expire and {2) $9 1 billion of
federal and state pretax NOL carryforwards, substantially all of which wall not begin to exprre until 2022

As a result of our emerpence, our NOL carryforwards were reduced by $2 1 billion due to discharge of indebtedness income We realized a change of ownership
for purposes of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code as a result of the 1ssuance of new common stock upen our emergence from bankruptcy We currently expect
this change will not significantly it our ability to utihze our NOLs m the carryforward period

FIN 48

We adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, at which time the total amount of unrecogmzed tax benefits on the Consohdated Balance Sheet was $217 million This
meludes $86 mulhon of tax benefits that, 1if recognized, would affect the effecuve tax rate

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2007 15 $143 rullion This mcludes $38 mullion of tax
benefits that, 1f recognized subsequent to December 31, 2008, will affect the effective tax rate If recognized before January 1, 2009, these benefits wall, as a result of
fresh start accounting, result in an adjustment to goodwill

We accrue interest related to unrecogmized tax benefits in interest expense and penalites m operating expense As of January 1, 2007, we had accrued $65 mulhion
for the payment of mterest and $5 million for the payment of penalties At December 31, 2007, we have accrued $54 rmllion for the payment of mnterest and $8 million
for the payment of penalttes The inpact related to mterest and penalties on our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the eight months ended December 31, 2007
and the four months ended April 30, 2007 was not material

We are currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service for the 2005 and 2006 tax years

It 1s reasonably possible that duning 2008 the settlement of bankruptcy claims wili result 1n significant changes to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits on the
Conschidated Balance Sheet We cannot presently estimate the range of the reasonably possible outcomes
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The following table summanzes the changes to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the four months ended Apnil 30, 2007 and the eight months ended
December 31, 2007

1

[£:] ) 2007
Unrecognized tax benefits at Januarv 1, 2007 (Predecessor) 5 217
Balance at Apnl 30, 2007 (Predecessor) 217
Discharge upon emergence from bankruptey (17}
Balance at May 1, 2007 (Successor) 200
Gross mcreases—tax posttions in pror pertod 25
Gross decreases—tax positions i prior period 21)
Gross mereases—tax positions in current period 48
Settlements {109}
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2007 (Successor) $ 143
Valuation Aliowance

SFAS 109 requires us to periodically assess whether 1t 1s more Iikely than not that we will generate sufficient taxable mcome to realize our deferred income tax
assets In making this determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence and make certam assumptions We consider, among other things, our
deferred tax habilites, the overall busmess environment, our histoncal earmungs and losses, our ndustry’s hustorically cychical penods of eamings and losses and

potentral, current and future tax plannmg strategies We cannot presently determine when we will be able to generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred
tax assets

Upon emergence from bankrupicy, we recorded a valuation allowance of $4 8 billion on our Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheet Prior to January 1, 2009,
any reduction mn the valuation allowance on our Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheet, as a result of the recognition of deferred tax assets, will be adjusted through
goodwill, followed by other indefimte-hved intangrble assets untrl the net carrymng costs of these assets 15 zero Begmning January 1, 2009, pursuant to SFAS 141R, any
reduction m this valuation allowance will be reflected through the income tax provision

QOur income tax {provision) benefit for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended April 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005 consisted of

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Maonths Year Ended
Ended Ended December 31

December 31, April 30, *
{1n millions) 2007 2007 2006 2005
Current tax benefit {provision) s — 3 — $ 17 $ (%)
Deferred tax (provision) benefit (exclusive of the other components listed below)

{211) (505) 2,364 1,464

Decrease (increase) m valuation allowance — 509 {1,.616) (1,414)
Income tax (provision) benefit 3 21D 5 4 $ 765 $ 41
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The following table presents the principal reasons for the difference between the effective tax rate and the U S federal statutory income tax rate for the eight
months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended April 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months Year Ended December 34,
Ended Ended
December 31, Apri 30,
2007 2007 2006 2005
US federal staltory income tax rate 350% 350% (350)% (350)%
State taxes, net of federal income tax effect 37 36 25) 33)
{Decrease) increase n vatuation allowance™ — {39 3) 232 366
Other, net 15 04 33 06
Effective ncorne tax rate 40 2% {0 3% (11 0)% {1 1)%

(1} For the four months ended Aprtl 30 2007 the decrease 1n the valuation allowance reflects fresh stant adjustments

For additional mformation about our accounting policy for income taxes, see Note 2
Note 10 Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor qualified defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans, healthcare plans, and disability and survivorship plans for eligible employees and
retirees, and thewr eligible famuly members We regularly evaluate ways to better manage our employee benefits and control costs We reserve the nght to modify or
termunate our benefit plans as to all particrpants and beneficianes at any tume, except as restncted by the Internal Revenue Code the Empleyee Retirement Income
Secunty Act {"ERISA™) and our collective bargaming agreements Any changes to the plans or assumptions used to estimate future benefits could have a sigmificant
effect on the amount of the reported obligation and future annual expense

Duning 2006, mn connection with our bankruptcy proceedings, we restructured our retiree benefit programs as follows

Termination of Pilot Plan and Corresponding Non-Qualified Plans Effectuve September 2, 2006, we termnated the Pilot Plan 1n a distress termmation, and also
ternunated the comresponding non-qualified pension plans for pilots As a result of these termnations, we recorded settlement gams of $1 3 billion n reorganization
items, net The PBGC received a $2 2 billion allowed general, unsecured claim and retired pilots received $810¢ million mn total claims (comprised of an $801 mlhon
allowed general, unsecured claim and $9 milhon admmistrative claim), n our Chapter 11 case due to the termimation of the Pilot Plan and the non-qualified plans,
respectively The total of these two claims was recorded n reorganization 1tems, net with a corresponding offset in hiabilities subject to compromise

Postreurement Healthcare Plans We amended our postretirement healtheare plan for prlots (1) to merease healthcare premmms for pilots who retire afier
June 1, 2006 and their survivors prior to age 65 and (2) to provide that pilots who retire after June 1, 2006 are not ¢higible for subsidized post age 65 healthcare,
although they may purchase such coverage at full cost

We eliminated post age 65 coverage for ail non-pilot retrees and increased current retirees’ (both pilot and non-pilot) share of healthcare costs We agreed to
provide a limited subsidy for certain retirees that can be applied to alternative coverage to be made available through the retiree commuttee appownted pursuant to
Section 1114 of the Bankruptcy Code Retired pilots may also apply their subsidy to the Delta Pilots Medical Plan rather than to the alternative coverage Current pilot
and non-pilot retirees recerved a $539 mallion allowed general, unsecured claim, which was recorded mn reorganization items, net with a corresponding offset m
habihities subject to compromise These amendments of our postretirement plans reduce participant benefits and are accounted for as 2 negative plan amendment,
reducing the accumulated plan benefit obhigation (*APBQ’ } for these plans by $859 mtllion
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Disability and Survivorship Plans We amended the disability and survivorship plan for priots (“Pilot D&S Plan } to replace survivor benefits and basic hife
nsurance coverage with limited term hfe msurance for pilots who retre on or afier January 1, 2008 This amendment reduced the APBO for the Pilot D&S Plan by 565
mullion We had previously amended the disability and survivorship plan for non-pilots to provide that survivor benefits will not be pard for such employees who ether
dse while in active employment after July 1, 2010 or retre after such date

Western Pilot Plan We agreed to terminate m a standard termination the Western Atrlines, Inc Pilots Defined Benefit Pension Plan, which 1s a separate frozen
qualified defined benefit plan for certain pilots formerly employed by Western Awrlines

During 2007, 1n connection with our bankruptcy proceedings, we restructured our retiree benefit programs as follows

Non-Pilot Pension Plans Effecuve Apnl 1, 2007, we elected the alternative funding schedule under Section 402{a)(1) of the Pension Protection Act of 2006
with respect to the Non-Pilot Plan We also rejected mn bankruptcy our non-quahified pension plans for non-pilot employees As a result, no further benefits will be pad
from these non-qualified plans

Claims associated with changes made i the Chapter 11 reorganization and obligations related to our defined benefit plans, other postretirement benefit plans,
and certain postemployment benefits were classified as liabilines subject to comprotmise as of December 31, 2006, as these obligations were impacted by our Chapter
11 proceedmgs For additional mformaucn, see “Liabilities Subject to Compromise™ m Note |

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement and Postemployment Benefit Plans

Defined Berefit Pension Plan We spensor the Non-Pilot Plan, which provides a returement benefit based on a combumation of a final average earmngs formula
and a cash balance formula, subject to the terms of that plan Effective December 31, 2005, future pay and service accruals under the Non-Pilot Plan were frozen We
estimate that the funding requirements under our Non-Pilet Plan will be approximately $100 milhon m 2008

Postrenrement Healthcare Plans We sponsor healthcare plans that provide benefits to substantially all Delta retirees and their eligible dependents who are under
age 65 Benefits under these plans are funded from our current assets and are subject to co-payments, deductibles and other limats as described in the plans As
explamed above, (1) non-pilot employees are not eligible for company provided post-retirement healthcare coverage after age 65, except for a limited subsidy for
certain retirees, and (2) pilots who retire after June 1, 2006 are not eligible for subsidized post-age 65 healtheare coverage although they may purchase such coverage at
full cost and certain pilots who reured on or before June 1, 2006 are ehgible for a hmited subsidy

Postemployment Plans We provide certain other welfare benefits to ehigible former or inactive employees after employment but before retirement, primanly as
part of the chsability and survivorship plans These disability and survivership plans provide benefits to substantially all Delia employees as a result of a participant’s
death or disamlity As discussed above, survivor benefits have been replaced with imuted term hife insurance coverage for pilots retiring on or after January 1, 2008
Additionally, survivor benefits will not be paid for non-pilot employees who erther die while in active employment after July 1, 2010 or retrre after such date

SFAS I58 On December 31, 2006, we adopted the recogmtion and disclosure provisions of SFAS No 158 “Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and QOther Postretirement Plans, an amendment of SFAS Nos 87, 88, 106, 132(R)” (“SFAS 158”) SFAS 1358 required that we recognize the funded status of our
defined
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benefit pension plans, other postretirement plans, and certamn of our postemployment plans on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006 Because the
requirement to measure the funded status of a plan as of the Company’s year-end was not effective for the year ended December 31, 2006, we continued to measure our
benefit plans with a September 30 measurement date As of Apnl 30, 2007, we adopted the provision requirmg year-end measurement, which elimmated our early
measurement date The impact of the elimination of our early measurement date 1s reflected w the table below

Obligations (measured at December 31, 2007, Aprnit 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006} were

Pension Benefits Other Postretrement Benefits Other Postemployment Benefits
Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor
Eight Four Eight Four Eight Four
Months Months Months Months Months Months
Ended Ended Year Ended Ended Ended Year Ended Ended Ended Year Ended
December 31, Apnl 30, December 31, December 31, Apri 30, December 31, December 31, April 30, December 31,
{w mulhons) 2007 2007 2006 2007 2007 2006 2007 2007 2006
Benefit obhgation at
begmning of penod
3 7,627 % 7 555 $ 12893 % 1,147 § 1 161 3 1793 § 2080 S 2238 3 2,271
Service cost — — 34 8 4 17 21 3 45
Interest cost 296 145 712 42 21 97 22 41 125
Actuarial (gain} loss (207) 151 M) 178) 30 289 (7% (159) (10)

Benefits pad including
lump sums and

amuites (339) (203} (844) (93) (57) (214 (89) (78) {128) ‘
Parucipant contnbutions

Settlement gamn on
termnation — {40) (5,169) — — — —_ . —
Ehmnation of early
measurement date 109 — _ an — — 39 —_
Plan amendments — — — — — (855) — — {55)
Benefit obhigation at end
of penod s 7,383 § 7627  § 7555 8§ 965 § 1147 L1601 § 2028 2089 § 2,238
Fair value of plan assets
at begmning of perio
d

5 4888 3§ 4590 § 6521 $ 182 § 1,781 3 1863

Actual gain on plan

assels 260 533 642 61 203 133
Employer contnbubens

67 58 5 — — —
Benefits paid, including
lump sams and
annurties (333 (293) (344) (126) (155) {215)
Transfer of Pilot Plan
assets to PRGC _ — (1.734) = — —
Fair value of plan assets
at end of period
5 4882 § 4888 § 4,590 5 1764 S 1,829 § 1781
Funded status at end of
penod } {2501 § 278 S (2965) § (965) $ (1147} 8 (1 161) § (26d) 260y $ (457)

At each penod-end presented above, our accumulated benefit obhgation for our pension plan 1s equal to the benefit oblsgations shown above

The dechine 1 our postretirement obligation inchudes an actuarial gam related o an assumption change for pilot retirerment age The change m our pilot
retirement assumption resulted from Congress” passage of a law to mcrease the mandatory retirement date for U S commercial arrhne pilots from 60 to 65, effective
immediately Since we project that some palots will now work past age 60, this assurmption results in a decrease in our postretirement benefit obligation relating to
postretirement healthcare benefits provided between ages 60 and 65
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In 2006, the $5 2 billion decrease m the penston benefit obhgation and $1 7 billion decrease in the far value of plan assets relate to the termmation of the Prlot
Plan and the related non-qualified pilot plans The $859 mullion decrease in other postretirement benefit obligation and the $65 million decrease m other
postemployment benefit obhigation are related to plan amendments resultmg from changes made to those plans dunng our bankrupicy proceedngs

Amounts recognized on our Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of 2and funded status {measured at December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2006)

Pension Benefi Other Postretirement Benefits Other Postemployment Benefits
Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

(tn malhions) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Noncurrent assets S — $ — ) — S — s 100 5 —
Current habilities — 3) 97 (108) — —
Noncurrent habiltties (2,501) (2,962) {868) (1.010) (364) (493)
Net amount recognized on our

Consohdated Balance Sheets {2,501) {2,965) (965) {1,116) (264) {493)
Contributions, net between

measurement date and year end _ — _ {45) — 36
Funded Status 5 {2,501) $ (2,965) b (965) b {1,161) $ {264) 5 (457)

At December 31, 2006, both the current and noncurrent porttons of our pension and other postretrement and postemployment benefit obligations were included
m habilities subject to compromise on our Consolidated Balance Sheets

Amounts recognized m accumulated other comprehensive mcome (loss) consist of

Pension Benefits Other Postretre ment Benefits Other Pestemployment Benefits
Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor
Year Ended D 31, Year Fnded December 31, Year Ended December 31,
{mn mlhons) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Net gain (loss) $ 185 $  (1,583) s 178 $ (645) b3 32 s (287)
Prior service (cost) credit — (6} — 1,311 — 63
Recogmzed in accumuiated other
comprehensive ncome (loss), pretax
S 185 $  (1,586) $ 178 S 666 3 32 b (224)

We estimate approximately $6 mullion of net actuaral gamn will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income, pre-tax mnto net periodic cost
(benefit) in 2008 related to our other postretrement benefit plans
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Net peniodic (benefit) cost for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended Apn! 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and

2005 mcluded the followmg components

Pension Benefits

Successor Predecessor
Eight Vionths Four Months Year Ended December 31
Ended Ended
December 31, April 30,
(i mulhons) 2007 007 2006 2005
Service cost b — — $ 34 $ 155
Interest cost 296 145 712 715
Expected retumn on plan assets {281} (129) (520) (598)
Amortization of prior service cost —_ — 1 3
Recognized net actuanal loss — 19 226 179
Amortization of net transition obligation — — — 6
Settlement (gain) charge, net — (30) (1,282) 388
Curtailment loss — _ — 434
Revaluation of hability —_ (143) — —
Net pertodic (benefit) cost $ 15 (138) s (829) S 1282
Other Postretirement Benefits
Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months Year Ended Dece mber 31,
Ended Ended
December 31, Apnl 30,
(i mulhons} 2007 200 2006 2005
Service cost 3 ] 5 4 $ 17 3 17
Interest cost 42 21 97 114
Amortization of prior service benefit — 3N (44) (41)
Recogmzed net actuanal loss — 8 8 13
Revaluation of hability —_— 45 — —
Net periodic cost $ 50 $ 51 $ 78 $ 103
(Other Pastemploy ment Benefits
Successor Predecessor
Erght Months Four Months Year Ended December 31,
Ended Ended
December 31, April 30,
(o mellbions) 2007 1007 2006 2008
Service cost $ 21 Y 8 $ 45 s 64
Interest cost 82 41 125 136
Expected return on plan assets (104) (51) (163) (165)
Amortization of prior service benefit — 2) 2) —
Recognized net actuanial loss - 5 g 20
Revaluation of lababity —_ (273) — _
Net peniodic (benefit) cost 3 (1) $ (272) $ 14 b 35

During 2007, as a result of the adoption of fresh start reportmg upon emergence from bankrupicy, we completed a revaluation of the pension, postretirement, and

postemployment habilitres, resultmg 1n a net reorgantzation gamn of $367 million We also recorded 1n teorganmization ttems, net, a settlement gam of $3¢ mulhon related

to the rejection of our non-qualified plans
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Durmg 2006, we recorded i reorganization tems, net, a settlement gam of $1 3 billion related to the termmation of the Pilot Plan and the corresponding non-
qualified plans

Durmg 2005, we recorded settlement charges totaling $388 million on our Consolrdated Statement of Operations These charges primarily related to the Prlot
Plan and resulted from lump sum distnbutions to pilots who retred We also recorded a net curtailment loss of $434 million on our Consohidated Statement of
Operattons The $434 mllion net curtailment loss consists of (1) a $13 mullion curtailment gamn recorded wn the December 2005 quarter related to the freeze of benefit
accruals effective December 31, 2005 for the Non-Pilot Plan and (2) a curtailment loss of $447 mullion related to the impact of the reduction of non-piiot jobs
announced mn November 2004 and the freeze of service aceruals under the Pilot Plan effective December 31, 2004

Assumptions

We used the followmg actuanal assumptions to determune our benefit obligations at December 31, 2007, Apnil 3G, 2007 and September 30, 2006 and our net
periodic {benefit) cost for the periods presented

Successor Predecessor
Detember 31 April 30, September 30,
Benefit Obhigations™ 2007 2007 2006
Weighted average discount rate 608% 596% 588%
Rate of tncrease m future compensation levels 048% 048% 036%
Assuimed healthcare cost trend rate® 8 50% 3 50% 8 50%
Successor Predecessor
Erght Months Year Ended
Ended Four Vonths December 31,
December 31, Ended Apnil 30,

Net Penodic Benefit Cost™ 2007 2007 2006 2005
Weighted average discount rate—pension benefit 601% 599% 567% 581%
Werghted average discount rate-—other postretirernent benefit

563% 563% 565% 6 10%
Werghted average discount rate—other postemployment benefit

6 00% 563% 572% 6 10%
Rate of mcrease (decrease) in future compensation levels 0 48% 036% 072% -1 28%
Weighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

897% 896% 8 87% 9 00%
Assumed healtheare cost wend rate™ 8 50% 8 50% 9 50% 9 50%

“ Qur 2007 and 2006 benefit obligations are measured usmg the RP 2000 combined healthy mortality table projected to 2010 and 2006, respectively
® The assumed healtheare cost mend rate at Decernber 31 2007 18 d o decline gradually to 5 00% by 2014 and remain level thereafier
' Our2097 2006 and 2005 assumptions reflect vanous remeasurements of certain portrons of our obligatons and represent the weighted average of the assumptions used for cach measurement date

The expected long-term rate of return on our plan assets was based on plan-specific investment studtes using historical market return and volatility data with
forward looking estimates based on existing financial market condrons and forecasts Modest excess return expectatrons versus some market indices were mcorporated
into the return projections based on the actively managed structure of our mvestment program and its record of achieving such returns hustornically
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Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effect on the amounts reported for the other postretrement benefit plans A 1% change 1n the healthcare cost trend
rate used in measunng the APBO for these plans at December 31, 2007, would have the following effects

1% 1%
(i mullions) increase Decrease
Increase {decrease} m wia! service and mterest cost $ 23 s (4)
Increase {decrease) m the APBO 3 (40)
Pension Plan Assets
The weighted-average asset allocation for our pension plans at December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2006 1s as follows
Successor Predecessor
2007 2006

US equity secunties 35% 34%
Non-U § equity secunties 15% 14%
High quahty bonds 20% 18%
Convertible and high yield bonds 8% 8%
Pitvate equity 15% 17%
Real estate 7% 9%
Total 100% 100%

The investment strategy for pension plan assets 1s to utihze a diversified mix of global public and private equity portfolios, public and pnvate fixed income
portfolios, and private real estate and natural resource investments to earn a long-term mvestment return that meets or exceeds a 9% annuahzed return target The
overall asset mix of the portfolio 15 more heavily weighted m equity-like mvestments, meluding portions of the bond portfolio, which consist of convertible and high
yield secunities Active management strategies are utihzed throughout the program 1n an effort to realize investment returns i excess of market mdices Also option
and currency overlay strategies are used n an effort to generate modest amounts of additional income A bond duration extension program utikzing fixed income
denvatives 15 employed in1 an effort to better align the market value movements of'a portion of the pension plan assets to the related pension plan habilities

Target investment allocations for the pension pian assets are as follows

US equty securtties 27—41%

Non-U S equuty securies 12—18%

High quabty bonds 15—21%

Converttble and hugh yteld bonds 5—11%

Pnivate equity 15%

Real estate 10%
Benefit Payments

Benefit payments 1 the table below are based on the same assumptions used to measure the related benefit obligations and are paid from both funded benefit
plan trusis and current assets Actual benefit payments may vary sigmificantly from these estimates Benefits eamned under our pension plans and certamn
posiemployment benefit plans are expected te be paid from funded benefit plan trusts, while our other postretrement benefits are funded from current assets
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The followmg table summanzes, as of December 31, 2007, the benefit payments that are scheduled to be paid 1n the following years ending December 31

Other Other

Pension Postretirernent Postemployment

fin mallions) Benefits Benefitn Benefit
2008 5 448 $ 100 $ 134
2009 467 10 139
2010 459 96 144
2011 455 94 149
2012 451 8& 155
2013-2017 2,314 314 856
Total S 4594 b 791 $ 1,577

Orther Plans

We also sponsor defined benefit pension plans for eligible Delta employees in certain foreign countries These plans did not have a material impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements n any period presented

Defined Contribunion Pension Plans
Delta Family-Care Savings Plan { Savings Plan”)

Ehgible employees may contribute a portion of their covered pay to the Savings Plan on a pre-tax or post tax basis Upon our emergence from bankruptey, we
revised our employer contributions to the Savings Plan for our non-prlot employees Prior to our emergence, we generally matched 50% of non-pilot employee
contributions with a maximum employer contribution of 2% of a participant’s covered pay After our emergence, we make an automatic contribution of 2% of covered
pay for all eligible non-ptlot employees In additon, we match 100% of non-ptlot employee contributions with a maximum employer contribution of 5% of a
participant's covered pay

In 2007, 2006 and 2003, we provided all ehigible Delta pilots with an employer contribution to the Savings Plan of 2% of thewr covered pay Effective January 1
2008, we wransferred all pilot participant accounts to a newly implemented Pilots Savings Plan and future pilot emplovee contributtons will be made to that plan We
also continue to make an employer contribution of 2% of each pilot’s covered pay to the newly implemented plan

During the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we recognized
expense of $12 milhon, $77 million, $44 million and $56 mllion, respecuvely, for contributions to the Savings Plan or payments made directly to participants who have
exceeded certain hmits imposed on contributions te defined contribution plans under the Intemnal Revenue Code

Pilot Defined Contribution Plan

We established a defined contribution plan for Delta pilots effective January 1, 2005 that included contribuuons from zero to 19%, depending on the pilot’s age
and service at January 1, 2005 Effective with the termmation of the Pilot Plan on September 2, 2006, the Pilot Defined Contnbution Plan was amended to previde for
an annual contnibution of 9% of covered pay for all ehigible pilots During the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended Apnl 30 2007 and the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, we recogmized expense of $24 million, $51 mullion, $71 mulhon and $83 million, tespectively, for contmbutions to this plan
or payments made directly to participants who have exceeded certamn limits imposed on contributions to defined contribution plans under the Internal Revenue Code
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Profit Sharing Program

Our broad based employee profit sharing program provides that, for each year in which we have an annual pre-tax profit, as defined, we will pay at least 15% of
that profit to employees f the annual pre-tax profit 1s greater than $1 5 billion, we will pay 20% of the amount that exceeds $1 5 bilhon

Note 11 Sale of ASA

On September 7, 2005, we sold ASA, our wholly owned subsidiary, to SkyWest for a purchase price of $425 mullion In conjunction with this transaction, we
amended our contract camer agreements with ASA and SkyWest Airlines, a wholly owned subsidiary of SkyWest, under which those regional arrhnes serve as
Contract Cammers The sale of ASA resulted n an immatenal gain that 1s being amortized over the hife of our contract carrier agreement with ASA For addinonal
formation on our contract carner agreements with ASA and SkyWest Awrlines, see Note 8

After the sale of ASA to SkyWest, the revenues and expenses related to our contract camer agreement with ASA are reported as regional affihates passenger
revenue and contract carmer arrangements, respectively, in our Consolidated Statements of Operattons Prior to the sale, expenses related 10 ASA were reported n the
applicable expense hine item in our Consolidated Statements of Operations

Note 12 Equity and Equity-Based Compensation

Equuty

Comimon Stock On the Eftective Date, all common swock tssued by the Predecessor was cancelled In conncetion with our emergence from bankruptey, we
began 1ssuing shares of new common stock, par value $0 0001 per share, pursuant to the Plan of Reorganization The new cemmon stock 1s subject to the terms of our
Amended and Restated Ceruficate of Incorporation (the “New Ceruficate™}, which supersedes the Certificate of Incorporation i effect prior to the Effective Date

The New Certificate authonzes us to 1ssue a total of 2 0 ballion shares of capital stock, of which 1 5 billion may be shares of common stock and 500 mullton may
be shares of preferred stock The Plan of Reorgamization contemplates the 1ssuance of 400 rulhon shares of common stock, consistng of 386 mulhion shares to holders
of allowed general, unsecured clarms and up to 14 mulhion shares under the compensation program for our non-contract, non-management employees (“the Non-contract
Program™} described below The Plan of Reorganizatien also contemplates the 1ssuance of common stock under the compensation program for management employees
(the “Management Program” ) described below For additional information regarding the distnbution of new common stock under the Plan of Reorganization, see Note
1

Preferred Stock The New Certficate permits us to tssue preferred stock 1n one or more senes [t authonizes the Board of Dhrectors (1) to fix the descnipuions,
powers {including votmg powers), preferences, nghts, qualficauons lumtations and restrictions with respect to any senes of preferred stock and (2) to specify the
number of shares of any series of preferred stock As of December 31, 2007, no preferred stock was issued and outstanding

Treasury Stock In connection with the 1ssuance of common stock to employees under the Plan of Reorganization we withheld the portion of shares necessary to
cover the employees™ portion of required tax withholdmgs, as well as for awards under the 2007 Plan, which 15 described below These shares are valued at cost, which
equals the market price of the comimon stock on the date of 1ssuance At December 31 2007, there were 7,238 973 shares of common stock held m treasury ata
weighted average cost of $20 52 per share Substantially all of these shares were withheld to cover the employees’ portion of required tax withholdings
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Equuty-Based Compensation
Successor

Upon emergence from Chapter 11, we adopted with Bankruptcy Court approval new compensation programs the Non-contract Program and the Management
Program The Non-contract Program included the grant of unrestnicted common stock to our approximately 39,000 non-contract, non-management employees The
Management Program covers our approximzately 1,200 officers, director level employees and management personnel Under the Management Program, officers
recewved restncted stock, stock options and performance shares, director level employees received restricted stock and stock options, and management personnel

recerved restnicted stock All of these awards were made under the Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Performance Compensation Plan (the “2007 Plan °} described below

The following table shows the total compensanon cost related to the 2007 Plan dunng the eight months ended December 31, 2007

Compensation
{in milhons) Cost
Restrcted Stock $ 90
Stock options 11
Performance shares &
Total $ 109

As of December 31, 2007, approximately $117 nullion of total unrecognized costs related to unvested shares and options are expecled to be recognized over the
remawmnng weighted-average perniod of 1 5 years Approximately $69 mrlhon 1s expected to be recogmized 1 2008

Up to 30 mulhon shares of comumnon stock are available for issuance under the 2007 Plan  Shares of comnmon stock 1ssued under the 2007 Plan may be made
available from authonzed but unissued common stock or common stock we acquure [f any shares of our common stock are covered by an award under the 2007 Plan
that 1s cancelled, forferted or otherwise terminates without delivery of shares {including shares surrendered or withheld for payment of the exercise price of an award or
taxes related to an award}, then such shares will again be available for 1ssuance under the 2007 Plan

The followng table shows the equity transactions under the 2007 Plan durmg the eight months ended December 31, 2007

Shares
(000)
Authonzed under the 2007 Plan 30,000
Awarded® (27.583)
Forfeited 99
Returned to Treasury 6,221
Available for Future Grants 8,737

M Awards mclude unrestneted common stock, resmeted stock, stock options and performance shares

Stock Grants Under the Plan of Reorganization, approximately 14 million shares of common stock were 1ssued as a part of the Non-contract Program
Employees may hold or sell these shares without restriction
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Restricted Stock We granted approximately eight million shares of restricted stock to ehigible employees under the Management Program Restricted stock 15
common stock that may not be sold or otherwise transferred for a penod of time (the “Restriction™), and that 1s subject te forfeiture m certam curcumstances untl the
Restnction lapses The Restnction will generally lapse in three equal installments six, 18 and 30 months after the date of grant, subject to the employee’s conunued
employment on that date The Restriction on the third mnstallment of the restricted stock will mstead lapse 18 months after the Effective Date 1f, during the period
beginning 51x months and ending 18 months after the Effective Date, the aggregate market value of our outstanding common stock 1s at least $14 0 billien for 10
consecutive trading days The far value of the restnicted stock awards 1s based on the closmg prnice of the common stock on the date of grant We expect substanually
all unvested restricted stock awards at December 31, 2007 to vest

The following table summanzes restnicted stock activity for the eight months ended December 31, 2007

Weighted

Average
Shares Grant Date
{000) Falr Value
Granted 7,876 $ 2020
Vested {2,589) 2036
Forfeited (92) 2041
Unvested at December 31, 2007 5,195 S 2011

Stock Options We granted options to purchase approximately four mihon shares of common stock to chgible employees under the Management Program
These options (1) have an exercise price equal to the closimng price of the common stock on the grant date, (2) generally become exercisable n three equal installments
on the first, second, and third anniversary of the Effective Date, subject to the employee's continued employment and (3) expire on the tenth anniversary of the
Effectuve Date

The fawr value of stock options are determuned at the grant date using a Black-Scholes mode! which requires us to make several assumptions The risk-free rate
15 based on the U S Treasury yield n effect for the expected term of the options at the time of grant The dividend yield on our common stock 15 assumed to be zero
since we do net pay dividends and have no current plans to do so Due to the ympact of our bankruptcy on our stock price and employees, our historical volatility data
and employee stock option exercise patterns were not constdered in determining the volatlity and expected life assumptions The volatility assumptrons were based on
{1) historical volatilities of the stock of comparable airlines whose shares are traded using daily stock price returns equivalent to the expected term of the options and
{2} implied volatility The expected hfe of an option was determined based on a simplified assumption that the option wtll be exercised evenly from the time it becomes
exercisable to expiration, as allowed by Staff Accounting Bulletin No 107, “Share Based Payments ™

The weighted average fasr value of options granted duning the eight months ended December 31, 2007 was $10 82 and determmned based on the following
weighted average assumptions

Rusk-free nterest rate 364%%
Average expected hfe of stock options (n years) 60

Weighted average expected volaulty 56%
Expected volatihity of commeon stock 55-60%
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The followmng table summanzes stock option activity for the eight months ended December 31, 2007

Weighted
Veeighted Average Aggregate
Average Renmaining Intninsic
Shares Exercese Contractual Vatue (10
{000) Price Life (tn years) mullions)
Cutstanding at the begmnning of the period - S —
Granted 3955 1887
Exercised _— —
Forfeited {$) 18 84
Outstanding at the end of the penod 3946 s 18 87 86 § —
Expected to vest 3452 $ 18 87 91 p —_
Exercisable at the end of the period 244 $ 18 84 17 $ —

Performance Shares We granted to ehgibie officers under the Management Program performance shares with an aggregate target payout opportumty covermg
approximately one millton shares of common stock These awards are long-term mncentives payable n common stock and are generally contmgent upon our achieving
certain financial goals for the year ended December 31, 2007, the two years ending December 31, 2008 and the three years ending December 31, 2009, and the
occurrence of a contemporaneous payout under the broad-based employee Profit Sharmg Program

Predecessor
We did not grant any stock options during the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 or the year ended December 31, 2006 The estimated fair values of stock

options granted during the year ended December 31, 2005 were derived usmg a Black-Scholes model The followmg table includes the assumptions used in estmatng
fair values and the resulting weighted average fair value of stock options granted in the penods presented

Year Ended

December 31,
Assumption 2005
Rusk-free interest rate 38%
Average expected hfe of stock optrons (in years) 30
Expected volatility of commeon stock 73 6%
Weighted average farr value of a stock option granted $ 2

The followmg table reflects, for the year ended December 31, 2003, the pro forma impact to net loss and basic and diluted loss per share had we accounted for
our stock-based compensation plans under the fair value method in accordance with SFAS 123, as amended

Year Ended
Decembrer 31
{1 mulhons except per share data) 2005
Net loss
As reported 5 (3.8i8)
Stock option compensation expense deterrmaed under the far value method (108)
As adjusted for the farr value method under SFAS 123R s (3.926)
Basic and diluted loss per share
As reported s (23 75)
As adjusied for the farr value method under SFAS 123R % (24 42)
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We concluded that all of our stock options would be cancelled as part of our emergence from Chapter 11 Accordingly, in March 2006 we filed with the
Bankruptcy Court 2 motion to reject our then outstandmng stock options to avoid the administrative and other costs associated with these awards The Bankruptey Court
granted our motion, which resulted in substantally all of our stock options bemng rejected effective March 31,2006 For the year ended December 31, 2006, we
recorded in our Consohidated Statement of Cperations (1) $8 mullion of compensation expense 1n conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 123R, which 1s recorded n
salartes and related costs and (2) $55 million of compensation expense associated with the rejection of stock options, which 1s classified m reorganization tems, net and
represents the unamortized farr value of previously granted stock options when we rejected these stock options As of Apnil 30, 2007, we did not have any stock options
of the Predecessor outstanding

The followmg table summanzes all stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005
Welghted Weighted
Average Average
Shzres Exercise Shares Exercise
{000) Price (000) Price
Cutstanding at the beginning of the period 92,401 s 1576 105,933 $ 14 87
Granted — — £.939 451
Forferted — — (15471) g 26
Rejected (92 086) 1576 — —
Outstanding at the end of the perniod 3150 s 15 76 w2 401 $ i576
Exercisable at the end of the pertod 315 $ 1576 53,944 $ 2220

" Onthe Effecuve Date all common stock 1ssued by the Predecessor was cancelled

ESOP Preferred Stock

In December 2005, we amended the Savings Plan to give eligible participants the opportunity fo receive an m-service distnbution of the ESOP Preferred Stock
and common stock i therr ESOP accounts i the Savings Plan Under this amendment, ehgible participants could make an election between December 19, 2005 and
January 18, 2006 to receive such an m-service distnbution Upon 1ts distribution, the ESOP Preferred Stock was automatically converted i accordance with its terms
mto shares of common stock Subsequent to January 18, 2006, the trustee of the Savings Plan converted all the remaming shares of ESOP Preferred Stock into common
stock

Durmng 2006, all shares of ESOP Preferred Stock, which were not allocated to the accounts of partrcipants i the Savings Plan, were allocated to participants m
that plan All outstanding shares of ESOP Preferred Stock were then converted, 1 accordance with their terms, into approximately eight milhon shares of common
stock from treasury at cost The allocation and converston of the ESOP Preferred Stock resulted in a $367 nullion decrease from treasury stock at cost and a
corresponding $144 million decrease in additional paid-in capital Unpaid dividends on the ESQP Preferred Stock accrued without interest, untal pard, at a rate of $4 32
per share per year At December 31, 2006, accumulated but unpaid dividends on the ESOP Preferred Stock totaled $52 mullion and are recorded 1 liabulmes subject to
compromise on our Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Note 13 Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive ncome (loss) prumanly mcludes (1) our reported net mcome (loss}), (2) changes m our unrecognized pension, postretirement, and
postemployment benefit habilines, {3} changes in our deferred tax asset valuation allowance related to our unrecognized penston, postretirement, and postemployment

habilities and (4) changes 1 the effecuve portion of our open fuel hedge contracts, which qualify for hedge accounting

The followmg table shows the components of accumulated other comprehensive mcome (loss) for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months
ended Apni 30, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Additional
Minimum Unrecognized Fuel Marketable
Pension Pension Derivative Equtty Valuanen
{in mlhons) Luability Luabiltty Instruments Securities Allowance Total
Balance at January 1, 2005 (Predecessor) $ {2,329) $ — $ — $ — $ (29) 3 (2,358)
Additional mmimum pension habihity
adjustments (365) — — — — (365)
Unreabzed gan — — — 1 —_ i
Tax effect 141 — — — (141) —
Net of tax (224) — — ! (141) (364)
Balance at December 31, 2005 (Predecessor)
(2,553) — — | (170) {2,722}
Termmation of Pilot Plan 2,264 _ —_ — — 2,264
Addittlonal mmmmum pension Liabihity
adjustments 257 — _ _ — 257
Unreahzed (loss) gan — — (93) i — (92)
Realized ioss — — 70 — _ 70
Tax effect (958) — — — 238 (718}
Net of tax 1563 — (23) 1 239 1.780
Adoption of SFAS 158 990 (727) — — 16] 424
Balance at December 31 2006 (Predecessor)
— (727) 23) 2 230 (518)
Pension adjustment — 6 — — — [
Unreahzed gain — — 70 . — 70
Realized gam — — (1) — — (1)
Balance at Aprnit 30, 2007 (Predecessor) — {721) 46 2 230 (443)
Elimmation of Predecessor other
comprehensive loss — 721 (46) ) (230) 443
Pension adjustment — 408 — — - 408
Unrealized gain — — 73 — — 73
Realized gam —_ _ (46) — — (46)
Tax effect — {155) an — 166 —
Net of tax — 253 16 — 166 435
Balance at December 31, 2007 (Successor)
$ — $ 253 3 16 ) — 5 166 3 435

For additional information related to our fuel hedge contracts and our additional mmmimum pension liabality, see Notes 4 and 10, respectively
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Note 14 Geographic Information

SFAS No 131 “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information " requires us to disclose certamn information about our operating
segments Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise with separate financial information which are evaluated reguiarly by the chief operating
decision maker and are used 1o resource allocation and performance assessments

We are managed as a single business urt that provides air transportation for passengers and cargo This allows us to benefit from an integrated revenue pricing
and route network that mchides Mamlme, Comair and our contract carners The fhght equiptnent of the carriers 1s combined o formn one fleet, which 1s deployed
through a smgle route schedulng system When makmg resource allocation decisions, our chief operating decision maker evaluates flight profitability data, which
considers awcraft type and route economtcs, but gives no weight to the financial impact of the resource allocation decision on an mndrvidual carmer basis Our objective
m making resource allocation decistons ts to optimize our consolidated financial results

Onperating revenue 15 assigned to a specific geographic region based on the ongn, flight path and destination of each flight segment Qur operating revenue by
geographic region for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended April 30 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are
summanzed 1 the following table

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended
Eight Ylonths Four Vonths December 31,
Ended Ended

December 31, April 30,
{in mulhons} 2007 2007 2006 2005
North Amenca $ 9,380 3 4314 $ 13204 $ 12918
Atlantic 2,884 947 3,058 2,554
Latin Amerca 923 478 1,102 851
Pacific 171 57 168 157

Total b 13 358 S 5,796 $ 17,532 $ 16,480

Our tangible assets consist pnimanly of fight equipment, which 15 mobile across geographic markets Accordmgly assets are not allocated to specific geographic
regions

Note 15 Restructuring
Restructuring, Asset Writedowns, Pension Sertlements and Related Items, Net
2006

In 2006, we recorded a $13 mullion charge in restructunng, asset writedowns, pension settlements and related rtems net on our Consolidated Statement of
QOperations, primarntly due to the following

. Workforce Reduction A $29 mullion charge related to our decision to reduce staffing by approximately 7,000 to 9,000 jobs by December 2007, which
has been substantally completed This charge was partially offset by a $21 million reduction 1n accruals associated with prior year workforce
reduction programs

2005

In 2005, we recorded an $888 nullion charge 1n restructuring, asset writedowns, penston settlements and related items, net on our Consohdated Statement of
Operations, as follows

- Pension Curtailment Charge A $447 mulhion curtailment charge related to our Pilot Plan and Non-Pilot Plan This charge related to the impact on the
Non-Pilot Plan of the planned reductron of 6,000 to 7 000 jobs announced 1n November 2004 and the freeze of service accruals under the Pilot Plan
effective December 31,2004 (see Note 10)
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. Pension Settlements $388 milhion n settlement charges related to the Pilot Pian due to a significant merease m pilot retirements and lump sum
distnbutions from plan assets (see Note 10)

* Workforce Reduction A $46 million charge related to our decision to reduce staffing by approximately 7,000 to 9,000 jobs by December 2007 This
charge was partially offset by a net $3 milhon reduction in accruals associated with prior year workforce reduction programs

. Asset Charges A $10 mllion charge related to the removal from service of six B-737-200 aircraft prior to therr lease expiration dates

Note 16 Earnings (Loss) per Share

We calculate basic earnings (loss) per share by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common shareowners by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding In accordance with SFAS No 128 “Eamings per Share ™ shares 1ssuable upon the satisfaction of certam condrtions pursuant to a contingent stock
agreement, such as those conternplated by the Plan of Reorganization, are constdered outstanding common shares and included m the computation of basic eamings per
share Accordingly, 386 milhan shares contemplated by the Plan of Reorganization to be distributed to holders of allowed general, unsecured claims are included in the
calculation of basic earnings per share for the eight months ended December 31, 2007 For addiional information regarding these shares, see Notes | and 12

Diluted earnings (loss) per share include the dilutive effects of stock options and restricted stock To the extent stock optrons and restncted stock are ant-
dilutive, they are excluded from the calculation of diluted ezmings (loss) per share

The followmg table shows our computation of basw and diluted earmes (loss) per share for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended
Apnl 30,2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Successor Predecessor
Eight Four Year Ended
Months Months December 31,
Ended Ended
December 31, Apnl 30,
{m mulhons, except per share data) 2007 2007 2006 005
Basic
Net income {loss) $ 314 $ 1298 $  (6200) $ (3319
Drividends on allocated Senes B ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock — — (2) _(18)
Net mcome (loss) attnbutable to common shareowners s 314 $ 1,298 $  (6.205) s (3.830)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 394 1 197 3 196 5 161 5
Basic earnmgs (loss) per share $ 080 $ 658 § (3158 S (2379
Duluted
Net mcome {loss) attnbutable to common shareowners s 314 S 1,298 ) (6.205) $  (3.836)
Gam recognized on the forgiveness of convertible debt — (216) — —
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareowners assuming conversion s 314 S 1,082 $ (6.205) S (3.836)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 394 1 197 3 1965 1615
Diluuve effects of
Restricted shares 11 — — —
8 0% Convertible Senior Notes — 125 —_ —_
2 /8% Convertible Sentor Notes — 239 — —
Weighted average shares outstanding, as adjusted 3952 2337 1965 161 5
Dilutive earntngs (loss) per share hY 076 S 463 S (31 58} S (2375)
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For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we excluded from our loss per share calculations all common stock equivalents because therr effect on
earnings per share was anti-dilutive These common stock equivalents mclude {1) stock eptrons and our ESOP Preferred Stock through the dates of their cancellation
and conversion, respectively (for additronal infermatron, see Notes 2 and 12), and (2) shares of commen stock 1ssuable upon converston of our 8 0% Convertible Sentor
Notes due 2023 and our 2 */ § % Convertble Senior Notes due 2024, respecuvely (collectively, the “Convertible Sentor Notes™ These comumon stock equivalents
totaled 36 4 mulhion and 143 2 mlhion shares for the year ended December 31 2006 and 2005, respectively

Upen emergence from bankruptey, we discharged our liabilines subject to compromuse, which inchuded the Convertible Sentor Notes As a result, we recogmzed
a gamn of $216 milhien for the four months ended Apni 30, 2007 In connection with this discharge, 36 4 mulhion shares of common stock were assumed 1ssued for
purposes of calculating diluted earmings per share For addiional information regarding the discharge of our Lizbilities subject 10 compromise, see Note 1

For the eight months ended December 31, 2007, we excluded from our earnmgs per share calculauons options to purchase approximately three milhon shares of
common stock as therr effect was anti-ditetive

Note 17 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The following table shows our vatluztion and qualifytng accounts for the eight months ended December 31, 2007, the four months ended Apnl 30, 2007 and the
years ended 2006 and 2005, and the associated activity for the years then ended

Allowance for

Obsolescence of

Expendable
Restructuring Uneollect:ble Pares & Deferred
and Other Accounts Supplies Tax

{in milltons) Charges™ Recewvable ™ Inventory Assets
Balance at Janvary | 2005 (Predecessor) $ 80 $ 38 3 184 $  2400m
Additional costs and expenses 57 18 26 1,746
Payments and deductions (53) (15) (%) (192)
Balance at December 31 2005 (Predecessor) g4 41 201 3,954w
Addittonal costs and expenses 32 16 12 1,749
Payments and deductions (11 (36) {52) (1534)
Balance at December 31, 2006 (Predecessor) 5 21 151 5,169
Additional costs and expenses 1 5 13 1,092
Payments and deductions {2) (5) (43) {1.20D)
Balance at April 30, 2007 (Predecessor) 4 21 131 5,060
Valuation adjustment — — {131) (230)
Addional costs and expenses — 15 11 669
Payments and deductions (1) (10) — (656)
Balance at December 31, 2007 (Successor) $ 3 $ 26 S 11 $§ 4843w

™ For additronal information related to leased awrcraft and restructuning and other charges see Note 7

The payments and deductions related to the allowance for uncollectible accounts receavable represent the write-ofF of accounts considered to be uncollectible, less recoveries
529 mulbon of this amount 1s recorded as a debit 1n accumulated other comprehensive loss on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at January | 2005 (see Note 13)

1
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*' $170 mulhon of thrs amount 1s recorded as a debit 1n accumulated other comprehensive loss on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31 2005 (see Note 13)

® $230 mullion of this amount 15 recorded as a credit 1n accumulated other comprehensive loss on our Consobidated Balance Sheet at December 31 2006 and our Fresh Start Consobdated Balanee Sheet
at Apnl 3{, 2007 (see Notes | and 13}

$166 mrlion of this amount 1s recorded as a credit 1n accumulated other comprehensive income on our Consohdated Balance Sheet at December 31 2007 (see Note 13) This balance reflects 2 $230
million wnte-off recorded upon the adoption of fresh start reporting {0 eliminate the Predecessor s accumnulated other comprehensive loss

")

Note 18 Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table summanzes our unaudited results of operations for the 2007 and 2006 periods presented below

2007 Predecessor Successor
Three Months One Month Two Months Three Months Ended
Ended Ended Ended

(1n mulhons, except per share data) March 31 April 30 June 30 September 30 December 31
Operating revenue 5 4241 $ 1,555 s 3,448 b 5227 $ 4,683
Operating mncome (loss) 155 145 345 453 2)
Reorgamzation 1tems, net (124) 1,339 — — —
Net (loss) income (130) 1,428 164 220 (70)
Basic (loss) carnmgs per share (0 66) 724 042 056 (0 18)
Diluted (loss) eamngs per share (0 66) 519 042 056 (0 18)
2006 Predecessor

Three Months Ended
(1in millions _except per share data} March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Operating revenue $ 3,794 $ 47141 $ 4,751 b 4,246
Operating (loss) mcome (485) 369 168 6
Reorganization 1tems, net (1,403) (2,380} 938 (2,521)
Net (loss) ncome {2,069) (2,205) 52 (1,981)
Bastc (loss) earnmgs per share {10 68) (11 18) 026 (10 04)
Diluted (loss) earmings per share {10 68) (11 18) 022 (10 04)

Prior to our emergence from bankmptcy and in connection with our bankruptcy proceedings, our earmings were mnpacted by reorganization tems, net, as shown
above For addittonal information about the components of recrganization items, net for the four months ended April 30, 2007 and the year ended December 31, 2006,
see Note 1

Durmng the March 2006 quarter, we recorded Accounting Adjustments that resulted 1n a net non-cash charge approxamating $3 10 mulhion For additional
mformation about these adjustments, see Note 2

The quarterly earmings (loss) per share amounts will not necessarily add to the earmings (loss) per share computed for the year due to the method used n
calculating per share data
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EXHIBIT 10 14
SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

1 Agreement 1, Joseph C Kolshak, the undersigned and ndividual named on the signature page hereto, wish to accept the benefits being offered by Delta Awr
Lmes, Inc {** Delta ) under the Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Officer and Director Severance Plan, (the * Plan ") Int agreeing to participate m the Plan, [ acknowledge 1
have carefully reviewed the provisions of the Plan, as well as this Separation Agreement and General Release (“ Agreement ™) 1 believe both the Agreement and the
Plan are 1n my best mterest and | acknowledge entering mto this Agreement voluntartly and wrthout coercion All parties acknowledge that had [ not separated from
Delta, my employment would have been terminated, and I had knowledge of that fact [ further acknowledge and agree that my retirement date with Delta shall be
January 1, 2008 1also agree to resign from any posiuons with any Delta subsidiary or affiliate as of December 31, 2007

2 Severance Benefits In exchange for my voluntanly executimg and returning this Agreement to Delta, and 1 recognition of my termunation of employment
satisfymng all ehgibility cnitena set forth m the Plan, Delta will provide me with the benefits as described 1n the Plan (a) subject to the required withholding and
payment of all applicable federal, state and local taxes, (b) except as provided in Section 3 below, with no tax reimbursement by Delta related to any travel privileges or
any other benefits provided under the Plan, and (¢) i lieu of any Career Transinon Services provided under the Plan, Delta agrees to pay the actual reasonable attorney
fees I incurred to negotiate and prepare this Agreement, but which payment shall not exceed $5000 00 m total In additon to the benefits under the Plan, for a penod of
onte year from my separation, Delta will also continue to provide me with the same level of residential secunty services as provided immediately before my separation
Section 7 below notwithstanding, Delta shall also allow me to retain the laptop computer and “Blackberry” device I currently have, (together “the electrontc hardware™)
but | agree that upon my separation, 1 shall present the electromic hardware to Delta so that Delta may remove all Delta software, information and programs there from
Delta shall have no obligation to mamtam the electronic hardware after my separation, nor to pay any monthly operating fees nor retmburse me for such fees |
acknowledge and agree that Delta wall have no obligauon to provide me with any benefits in connection with my employment relanionship with Delta, or the
termination of that relationship, except as described 1n the Plan and this Agreement (other than retwement, death or equity-based benefits m accordance with the
respective terms of any retirement, death or equity-based benefits plan in which [ participated during my employment with Delta) [ specifically acknowledge that as
provided in the Pian, payment of certamn of my Severance Benefits may be subject to delayed payment pursuant to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as determined by Delta

3 Addinonal Flight Privileges In addition to the non revenue space available travel privileges otherwise available to me as a retiree of Delta, but in lieu of the
travel privileges provided under the Plan, for a penod of ten years from my retirement date Delta well aliow me, my spouse, dependent children and other “PPR
members to be ehigible for the same non revenue travel benefits as those provided to active executive officers (and their spouse, dependent children and other “PPR”
members) as modified from tume to time, except that a) any so called “gross up” allowance will not exceed the amount provided under the program as of my retirement
date and there shall be no carryover from year to year of the “gross up” allowance, or no year to year carryover of any other “allowance’” type benefit which may be
mplemented durmg such ten year penod, b) such travel must be on the Deita system, and shall not include reciprocal benefits that may be provided on other arrlines
{except for certain Delta Connectron fhghts), and ¢} any beokngs for anyone other than my PPR members must occur by February 29, 2008 Provided however, during
the six month peniod followmg my retirement date, any taxable flight privileges for wiich I am ehgible shall be limited 1n vzlue to $15,500 1 acknowledge and agree
that ] may not exchange the Additional Flight Privileges for any other benefit or for a payment 1n cash or kind I acknowledge that all my flight privileges, both the non
revenue space available retiree travel privileges and the Additional Flight Prnivileges granted under this Agreement are subject to Delta’s umlateral night to modify,
amend, suspend or termmate any and all travel privileges at any time (including, but not hmuted to, changes required by Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code) as
stated 1n ats standard pohicies applicable to all non revenue travel, but Delta acknowledges that 1t will not exercise such nghts with respect to me solely as an individual
{as opposed, for example, 10 changes applicable to active executive officers as a group with respect to




the Additional Flight Privileges, or retirees with respect to space available retiree travel privileges) unless it reasonably determines m good faith that 1 have matenally
violated any of my obligations under this Agreement, or any travel policy of Delia, or engaged 1 personal musconduct of the nature that would reasonably justify
suspension or termnation of my fhght privileges

4 General Waiver and Release In exchange for the benefits which Delta 1s providng under this Agreement and the Plan, I hereby agree as follows

a Except for the nghts and obligattons provided by or ansing under the Plan, this Agreement, the Delta Pilots Defined Contnibution Plan {or any other pohcy,
plan or program pertamnmg to retirees of Delta), the Delta Family-Care Savings Plan, the Delta Awr Lines, Inc 2007 Performance Compensation Plan, or any nght 1
may have to mdemmfication by Delta, [ hereby release, acqurt, withdraw, retract and forever discharge any and all claims, or causes of action which I now have or
may have hereafler, directly or indirectly, personally or n a representative capacity, agamnst Delta, including its predecessors and successors, and 1ts subsidianes and
affiliates and all of each entity’s respective admimistrators, fiduciaries, parents, subsidianes, plans, affibates, officers, directors, shareholders, representatives, agents,
employees, and all persons acting through or m connection with Delta and the Arr Lines Pilots Association, (*ALPA”) 1ts officers, agents, employees, counsel and
representatives (each a “ Released Party ") by reason of any matter, conduct, claim, event, act, omission, cause or thing whatsoever, from the beginning of time to, and
mcluding, the date of execution of this Agreement This general release includes, but 1s not imited to, all claims, manner of actions, and causes of action which anse
under the Railway Labor Act, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, The Age Discrimination m Employment Act of 1367, as amended, The
Americans with Disabilities Act, The Rehabilitaion Act of 1973, as amended, The Family & Medical Leave Act, The Worker Adjustment and Retrammg Notification
Act, 42 US C §§ 1981 through 1988, the Employee Returement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, any other federal, state or local statute or ordinance
respecting discrimmatory hiring or employment practices ot civil rights laws based on protected class status, common law claims of intentional or neghgent infliction
of emotional distress, defamation, neghgent hinmg, breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and farr dealing, promissory estoppel, neghigence, or
wrongful termmnation of employment, and all other claums of any type or nature, including any claim m contract or tort, and includng any claim for attomeys’ fees |
agree that the general release also mcludes, but s not imited to, all claims, manner of actions, and causes of action arsmg from any allocation of the ALPA Claim or
the ALPA Notes (both as defined and described in LOA 7 between ALPA and Delta) I understand and mtend that this General Release shall discharge all claims
agamnst the Released Parties to the extent permutted by law, but shall not discharge claims ansing out of any events which may occur after the date of execution of this
Agreement

b Except as necessary to enforce the terms of this Agreement, 1 agree that neither 1, nor anyone acting on my behalf will sue any Released Party based on any
claim released under this Agreement In the event that I sue, or anyone acting on my behalf sues, any Released Party based on any claim released under this
Agreement, [ will hold each Released Party harmless from any claum asserted mn such lawsunt and will accept no payment or other benefit as a resuli of such lawsuit or
any settlement thereof

5 No Adrussions This Agreement 1s not to be construed 1 any way as an adnussion by any of the Released Parties that they have violated any federal, state, or
local law, erdinance, regulation, or policy

6 ADEA Wawer 1understand that there may be numerous, vahable nghts under federal and state law, including rights under the Age Discrinunatton 1n
Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 29 U S C § 621, erseq , which | am waiving by executing this Agreement In connection with this, [ hereby certify that

a This Agreement and the Plan are written 1n a manner that 1s understandable to me,
b Iamreceiving valuable consideration under this Agreement to which [ would not otherwise be entitled,

¢ Thave been advised in writing to consult with an attorney prior to executung this Agreement,




d Tunderstand that this Agreement 15 a general release of Delta and the other Released Parties from any past or existing claim or potentizl claim including any
clarm or potential claim relating to my employment relationship with Delta, and termmation of that relationship,

¢ [have been given a period of twenty-one (21) days in whech to consider whether o sign this Agreement and to consult with an attorney, accountant, tax
advisor, spouse, or any other person | have either used this full twenty-one (21) day pened to consider this Agreement, or have voluntanly chosen to execute this
Agreement before the end of that period,

f 1understand I have seven (7) calendar days after signing this Agreement to revoke this Agreement (the “Revocation Pertod”’} To revoke this Agreement, [
must noufy Delta of the intent to revoke through a signed statement delivered to Rob Kight, Delta Air Lines, Inc , ATG Department 948, 1030 Delta Blvd , Atlanta,
Georgia 30354-6001, or to such other person and address as Delta may designate m wnting, on or before the last day of the Revecation Period | acknowledge that this
Agreement will not take effect until the day after the Revocation Pertod has expired, provided that I have not exercised my revocation nght If I revoke this
Agreement, 1t shall inmediately be void and of no further force or effect and I will not recerve the Severance Benefits referred to in Section 2 of this Agreement,
otherwise, this Agreement will be fully effective and enforceable as of the day after the Revocanon Period

7 Return of Property 1agree that all property belonging to Delta, includmg records, files, memoranda, reports, personnel mformation (includmg benefi files,
training records, customer lists, operating procedure manuals, safety manuals financial statements, price hsts and the Jike), relatmg to the business of Delta, which !
have come i contact with i the course of my employment (herewafter * Delta’s Materals ™) shall, as between the parties hereto remam the sole property of Delta [
hereby warrant that 1 have returned all ongmals and copies of Delta’s Matertals to Delta

8 Cooperanion 1 agree that { shall, to the extent requested m writing and reasonable under the circumstances, cooperate with and serve i any capacity requested
by Delta n any pending or future iigation m which Delta has an nterest, and regarding which I, by virtue of my employment with Delta, have knowledge or
information relevant to the htigation Delta shall reimburse me for reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses that | meur in connection wrth such cooperation

9 Trade Secrets [ hereby acknowledge that during the term of my employment with Deita, [ had access to and acquired knowledge of secret, confidental and
proprietary informatton regarding, Delta and 1ts busmess that fits within the definion of “trade secrets™ under the law of the State of Georgia, including, without
hmitation, mformation regarding Delta’s present and future operations, 1ts financial operations, marketing plans and strategies, alhance agreements and relationships, its
compensation and incentive programs for employees, and the busmess methods used by Delta and its employees, and other mformation which derives economic value,
actual or potential, from not bemg generally hnown to, and not bemg readily ascertanable by proper means by, oiher persons who can obtan economae value from its
disclosure or use, and 1s the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to mawntamn its secrecy (each, a * Trade Secret™) 1 hereby agree that, for so
long as such information remams a Trade Secret as defined by Georgia law, § will hold n a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of Delta and shall not directly or indirectly
make use of, on my own behalf or on behalf of others, any Trade Secret, or transmit, reveal or disclose any Trade Secret to any person, concern or entity Nothmg m
this Agreement 1s intended, or shall be construed, to limit the protections of any applicable law protecting trade secrets

10 Confidential or Proprectary Information 1 further agree that [ willhold 1 a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of Delta, and, dunng the two year pertod
beginning on the date Ts1gn this Agreement (the “ Effective Date ™}, shall not directly or mdirectly use or disclose, any Confidential or Proprietary Information, as
defined heremafier, that | may have acquired (whether or net developed or compiled by me and whether or not [ was authorized to have access to such Confidential or
Proprietary Information) duning the term of, i the course of, or as a result of my employment by Delta Subject to the provisions set forth below, the term
Confidenual or Proprietary Information” as used in thus Agreement means the following secret, confidenual and proprietary information of Delta not otherwise
mcluded 1n the defimuon of Trade Secret all marketing, alhance, advertsmg and sales plans and strategies, all pricing mformation, all financial, advertismg and
product development plans




and strategies, all compensaton and mcentive programs for employees, all alhance agreements, plans and processes, all plans, strategies, and agreements related to the
sale of assets, all third party provider agreements, relationships, and strategies, zll business methods and processes used by Delta and 1ts employees, all personally
wentfiable mformation regarding Delta employees, contractors and applicants, and all hists of actual or potential customers or suppliers maintamed by Delta The term
“Confidential and Proprietary Information™ does not nclude mformauon that has become generally available to the public by the act of one who has the nght to disclose
such mformation Nothing in this Agreement 1s mtended, or shall be construed to lemat the protections of any applicable law protecung confidential or propretary
mformation

{1 Employee Non-Solicitation Agreement During the one-year penod following the Effective Date, 1 will not directly or indrrectly (on my own behalf or on
behalf of any other person, company, partnership, corporation or other entity), employ or solicit for employment any individual who 15 a managernent or professional
employce of Delta for employment with any entity or person other than Delta or its subsidianes or solicit, encourage or mnduce any such person to termunate therr
employment with Delta and rts subsidiarres The restnicuions set forth in this Section shall be linited to those Company management or professional employees who
(1) were employed by Delta during my employment m a supervisory or admmnistrative job, and (11} with whom [ had material professional contact during my
employment with Delta

12 Non-Compenntion Agreement | acknowledge that Delta competes in a worldwide passenger air travel market, and Delta’s business plan 1s increasingly
mnternational m scope Such business plan continues to focus on mternauonal air travel as a critical component, but will also continue to provide pnmanly domestic ar
travel service | acknowledge that the arhines listed below are particular competitors to Delta in the domestic or mternational market, and employment with any of the
listed carmers would create more harm to Delta relative to my pessible employment or consulting with other air passenger carners or air cargo carriers | agree that the
restnctions placed on me under this paragraph will not prevent from earnmg a hivelthood, given the large number of worldwide and domestic air carriers not included in
the list below Dunng the one-year penod followmng the Effective Date, 1 will not on my own behalf or on behalf of any person, firm partnership, association,
corporatton or business organization, entity or enterpnise, provide the same or substantrally similar services, as an employee, consultant, partner, or m any other
capacity, to any of the following entities, which [ hereby acknowledge are all competitors of Delta AMR Corporation, American Airlines, Inc , , Contmental Arlines,
Inc , Southwest Airlines Co , UAL Corporatton, United Awr Lines, Inc , US Awways, Inc , Jet Blue Arways, Inc , AurTran Auways, Inc , , Virgin America or Northwest
Aurlmes, Inc (individually and collectively, the * Competiter ”) This restriction shall only apply to the extent that 1 may not provide services to the Competitor
(a) while woerking within a fifty (50) mule radius of the city limuts of Atlanta, Georgra, or (b} while working out of or within a fifty mule radrus of the corporate
headquarters of the Cotmpetitor Provided further, this paragraph shall not apply to any employment with any Competitor as a lne pilot only, and for which I provide no
management services

13 Arburanon 1 hercby agree that except as expressly set forth below, all disputes and any claims ansing out of or under or relating to this Agreement, including
without limitation any dispute or controversy as to the vahdity, interpretation, construction, applicatton, performance, breach or enforcement of this Agreement or any
of its terins, shall be submitted for, and settled by, mandatory, final and binding arbitration m accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules then prevailing of the
American Arbriratton Associztion Unless an altermative locale 1s otherwise agreed to i writing by the parties to this Agreement, the arbitration shall be conducted
the City of Wilmimngton, Delaware The arbitrator will apply Delaware law to the merits of any dispute or claim, without reference to rules of conflict of law  Any award
rendered by the arbitrator shall provide the full remedrtes available to the parties under the applicable law and shall be final and binding on each of the parties hereto and
their heirs, executors administrators successors and assigns and judgment may be entered thereon 1n any court having junsdiwction 1 hereby consent te the personal
Jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located 1n the State of Delaware for any action or proceeding ansing from or relating to any arbitration under this Agreement
The prevailing party mn any such arbitratton shall be enntled to an award by the arbitrator of all reasonable attorneys” fees and expenses incurred 1n connection with the
arbitration However, Delta will pay all fees associated with the Amencan Arbitration Association and the arbitrator  All parties must mnitial here for this Section 12 w
be effective

/sl Jes Joseph C Kolshak
s/ Rix Robert Kight, Vice-President, Compensation and Benefits, Delta Ar Lines, Inc




V4 Injunctive Rehef in Aud af Arbiiranon Forum Selection | hereby acknowledge and agree that the provisions contaned i Sections, 9, 10 11,and 12 of this
Agreement are reasonably necessary to protect the legiimate busmess mierests of Delta, and that any breach of any of these provisions will result in immediate and
mreparable imjury to Delta for which monetary damages will not be an adequate remedy 1 further acknowledge that if any such provision is breached or threatened to be
breached, Delta will be entitled to seek a temporary restramning order, prelimmary injunction or other equutable rehief 1 aid of arbitration 1n any court of competent
Junisdiction without the necessity of posting a bond, restraining me from continumg o commit any violation of the covenants, and | hereby mrevocably consent to the
Jjunsdictron of the state and federal courts of the State of Delaware, with venue 11 Wilmington, which shall have jurisdiction to hear and determune any claim for a
temporary restrammg order, prelimmary myunction or other equitable rehef brought against me by Delta in aid of arbitration

15 Consequences of Breach Furthermore, | acknowledge that, 1 partial constderation for the payments and benefits described 1n the Plan and this Agreement,
Delta 15 requinng that I agree to and comply with the terms of Sections 9 through 12 and [ hereby agree that without hmuting any of the foregoing, should 1 matenally
violate any of the terms of Sections 9 through 12 hereof 1 (a) will not be entitled to and shall not receive any further benefits under the Plan and thts Agreement, and
(b) shall repay to Delta all cash compensaton | have received under this Agreement

16 Tolling 1 further agree that 1n the event the enforceability of any of the restnctions as set forth in Secuons 10, L1, or 12 of this Agreement are challenged and
I am net prehmnarily or otherwise enjomed from breachmng such restncuon(s) pendig a final determinauon of the issues, then, 1f an arbitrator finds that the challenged
restriction(s) 15 enforceable, the tme period set forth 0 such Section(s) shall be deemed tolled upon the filing of the arbitration or action seeking mjuncuve or other
equitable relief m aid of arbiration, whichever 1s first m time, until the dispute 1s finally resolved and all penods of appeal have expired

17 Goverming Law Unless governed by federal law, this Agreement shall be governed by and censtrued mn accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware,
without regard to principles of conflicts of laws of that State

18 Warver of Jury Tral TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, [ HERERY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, AND
INTENTIONALLY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY MATTER ARISING OUT OF, UNDER, IN
CONNECTION WITH, OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT THIS INCLUDES, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY DISPUTE
CONCERNING ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENT (WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN), OR ACTION OF
DELTA OR ME, OR ANY EXERCISE BY DELTA OR ME OF OUR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY WAY
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT 1 FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR DELTA TO ISSUE
AND ACCEPT THIS AGREEMENT

19 No Statements 1 agree that | will not make any oral or written statement to the news media, 1n any public forum, or to any buswmess competitive with Delta,
concerning any actions or mactions by Delta, or any of its present or former subsidianes or affiliates or any of its present or former officers, directors or employees,
relative to Delta’s compliance with any state, federal or local law or rule | further agree that 1 will not make any oral or wniten statement or take any other action which
disparages or criticizes Delta, or any of 1ts present or former subsidianes or affiliates or any of s present or former officers, directors or employees, mcluding, but not
ltrmuted to any such statement which damages Delia’s good reputation or imparrs its normal operations | further agree that 1will not inttiate or solicit claims aganst
Delta, or otherwise directly or mdirectly encourage ot support any claim that has been or in the future 15 asserted by a third party agatnst Delta Delta agrees that it wall
not make any oral or wnitten statement or take any other acton which disparages or criticizes me, or encourage or authorize any third party to do so

20 Valdity, Severabidity In the event that one or more of the provisions contamned 1n this Agreement shall for any reason be held invald, 1llegal, or
unenforceable m any respect, such holding shall not affect any other




provisions i this Agreement, but this Agreement shall be construed as 1f such mvald, 1llegal, or unenforceable provisions had never been containted heremnn The

mvahidity, illegahty or unenforceability of any provision or provisions of this Agreement will not affect the validity or enforceabtlity of any other provision of this
Agreement, which will remam in full force and effect

21 Enrnre Agreement This Agreement sets forth the entire Agreement between me and Dela and supersedes any other written or oral agreement. No

representations, statements or nducements have been made to me concerning this Apreement other than the representauons and statements contamed and memonahzed
m this Agreement




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Delta has executed this Agreement on the 29th day of November, 2007, and Joseph C Kolshak has executed this Agreement on the
date indicated below

s/ Josern C KOLSHAK
Name Joseph C Kolshak
Date 11-27-2087

/s RoBerT L _KiGHT
Robert L. Kight
Vice President—Compensation and Benefits Delta Air Lines, [ne




EXHIBIT 121

Successor i Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months Year Ended December 31,
Ended 7 Eunded
December 31, Aprtl 30,
(in millions) 2007 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Earmings (loss)
Eamings (loss) before mcome taxes S 525 $ 1294 §  (6968) $ (3.859) S (3.992) S (1,189
Add (deduct)
Fixed charges from below 432 285 970 1,274 1,126 1,056
Income from equity investee — —_ — — —_ (14)
Distributed mcome of equity mvestees — — — — — 44
Eamings (loss) as adjusted ) 957 $ 1579 8§  (5998) $ (2585} § (2.866) S {(103)
Fixed Charges
Interest expense, inchiding capitahzed amounts and
amortization of debt costs 398 265 878 1,041 834 769
Preferred stock dividends — — 2 18 19 17
Portron of rental expense representative of the mterest factor
34 20 90 215 273 270
$ 432 M) 285 3% 970 % 1274 § 1,126  § 1056
Rano of Eamings to Fixed Charges 222 554 (6 18) {203) (2 55) {0 10)




SUBSIDIARIES OF DELTA AIR LINES, INC

SNAME OF SUBSIDIARY

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2007

JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION OR
ORGANIZATION

EXHIBIT 211

Aero Assurance Ltd

ASA Holdings, Inc

Comair Holdings, LLC

Comair, Inc

Comair Services, Inc

Crown Rooms, inc

DAL Global Services, LLC

DAL Moscow, Inc

Delta ArrEhte Business Jets, Inc

Delta A1r Lines, Inc and Pan Amenican World Airrways, Inc —
Unterstutzungskasse GMBH

Delta Arr Lines Dublin Limited

Delta Air Lines Private Limited

Delta Benefits Management, Inc

Delta Connection Academy, Inc

Deha Loyalty Management Services, LLC

Delta Technology LLC

Epsilon Trading, LLC

Kappa Capital Management, Inc

New Sky, Lid

Vermont
Georgla
Delaware
Chio
Kentucky
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Kentucky
Germany

Ireland
India
Delaware
Flonda
Delaware
Georgra
Delaware
Delaware
Bermuda

None of Delta s subsidianes do business under any names other than therr corporate names, with the following exceptions

. Delta Technology, LLC conducts business as Delta Air Lines Technology. LLC in the following states Alaska, Anzona, Oklahema and Virgima

. Comarir, Inc conducts business as Comair South, Inc 1n the followng states Flerrda and Alabama




EXHIBIT 23 1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We congent to the incorporation by reference 1n the Registratton Statement (Form 5-8 No 333-142424) pertainung to the Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Performance
Compensation Plan of our reports dated February 13, 2008, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Delta Arr Lines, Inc and the effectiveness of
mternal control over financial reporung of Delta Arwr Lines, Inc included m this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2007
/s/ Emst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 13, 2008




EXHIBIT 23 2
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the mcorporatton by reference in Registration Staternent No 333-142424 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 27, 2006, relating to the
consohdated financial staternents of Delta A1r Lines, Inc and subsidianes for the year ended December 31, 2005 {which report expresses an unqualified opinion on the
Company's consolidated financial statements and includes explanatory paragraphs relating to the Company’s reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Umited States
Bankruptcy Code and the Company s ability to continue as a gowng concern) appearing n this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Delta Aur Lines, Inc for the year ended
December 3§, 2007

/s! Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 13, 2008




EXHIBIT 31 1

I, Richard Anderson, certufy that
I I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Delta Arr Lines, Inc { Deha™) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007,

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit to state a matental fact necessary to make the statements
made, 1n light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the penod covered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information inclided m this report, fairly present m all matenal respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of Delta as of, and for, the periods presented i this report,

4 Deha s other cerufying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and mamntaining disclosture controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and §15d-15(e)) for Delta and have

{a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
matenal information relating to Delta, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 15 made known to us by others withmn those entities, particularly duning the pertod m
which this report 1s being prepared,

(b} Designed such internal control over financial reporuing, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 10 be designed under our supervision o
provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles,

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Delta’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the pertod covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

(d) Disclosed i thas report any change m Delta’s mternal control over financial reporting that occurred during Delta’s most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or 1s reasonably likely to matenally affect, Delta’s intemal control over [irancial reporting, and

5 Dela’s other cerufying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatton of interna! control over financial reporting, to Delta’s anditors and
the Audit Commuttee of Delta’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions)

{a} All significant deficiencres and material weaknesses i the design or operation of internal contro! over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect Delta’s ability to record, process, summarize and repor financial information, and

{b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that mvolves management or other employees who have a significant role m Delta’s internal control over financial
reporting

February 15, 2008 /s/ RICHARD ANDERSON
Richard Anderson
Churef Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 312
I, Edward H Bastian, certfy that
| 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Delta Arr Lines, Inc (“Deita”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007,

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenial fact or omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the statements
made, 1n light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the pertod covered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial mformation included n this report, fairly present m all material respects the financial
condrtion, results of operations and cash flows of Delta as of and for, the periods presented m this report

4 Deha’s other cerifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and mamntammg disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) for Delta and have

{a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
matertal informaton relatng to Delta, including its consolidated subsidianies, 1s made known to us by others within those entities, particularly durmng the period
which this report 1s bemng prepared,

(b) Designed such mternal control over financial reporting, or caused such mtemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regardmg the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financ:al statements for external purposes m accordance with
generally accepted accountmg principles,

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Delta's disclosure controls and procedures and presented m this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

{(d) Dusclosed m this report any change m Delta’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred duning Delta’s most recent fiscal quarter that has
matenally affected, or 1s reasonably likely to matenally affect, Delta’s miernal contrel over financial reporung, and

5 Delta’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of mternal control over finanuial 1eporting, to Delta’s audstors and
the Audit Commuttee of Delta’s Board of Directors {or persons performmng the equivalent functions)

{a) All stgnificant defictencies and material weaknesses m the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect Delta’s ability to record, process, summanze and report financial mformation, and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that nvelves management or other employees who have a significant role m Delta’s internal control over financial
reporting

February 135, 2008 /s/ Eowaro H Basman

Edward H Bastian
President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

February 15, 2008

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N'W
Washington, D C 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen

The cerufications set forth below are hereby submitted to the Securihes and Exchange Commussion pursuant to, and solely for the purpose of complying with,
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Unsted States Code m connection with the filtng on the date hereof with the Secunues and Exchange Commussion of the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Delta At Lines, Inc (“Delta”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 {the “Report™)

Each of the undersigned, the Chief Execuuive Officer and the Prestdent and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of Delta, hereby certifies that, as of the end of
the period covered by the Report

| such Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, and

2 the information contamed in the Report fairly presents, m all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Delta

/s/ RICHARD ANDERSON
Richard Anderson
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Epwarp H Bastian
Edward H Bastian
President and Chief Financial Officer
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